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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Wang Yucan (Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer) V@
Ma Jun (Deputy Chairman of the Board) ©“

Non

-executive Directors

Li Yi Feng ©

Chen

Wei

Independent Non-executive Directors
Hsu Wai Man Helen

Chau

Shing Yim David

Xu Jinghong

AUDIT COMMITTEE
Hsu Wai Man Helen (Chairlady)

Chau

Shing Yim David

Xu Jinghong

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Hsu Wai Man Helen (Chairlady)
Wang Yucan ©
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Shing Yim David

Xu Jinghong

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Wang Yucan (Chairman) ©
Hsu Wai Man Helen

Chau

Shing Yim David

Xu Jinghong

Notes:

(1)

@

With effect from 27 April 2017, Mr. Xin Songtao has resigned as Executive
Director, Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer.

With effect from 27 April 2017, Dr. Wang Yucan has been appointed as
Executive Director, Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer.

With effect from 27 April 2017, Mr. Ma Jun has been appointed as Deputy
Chairman of the Board.

With effect from 9 September 2016, Mr. Ma Jun has been re-designated from
the position of Non-executive Director to Executive Director.

With effect from 9 September 2016, Mr. Li Yi Feng has been re-designated from
the position of Executive Director to Non-executive Director.

With effect from 27 April 2017, Mr. Xin Songtao has resigned as a member of
remuneration committee and the Chairman of the nomination committee, Dr.
Wang Yucan has been appointed as a member of remuneration committee and
the Chairman of the nomination committee.
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COMPANY SECRETARY
Cheung Ting Kin

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Wang Yucan
Cheung Ting Kin

AUDITORS
SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited

LEGAL ADVISERS

As to Bermuda Law
Appleby

As to Hong Kong Law
lu, Lai & Li Solicitors & Notaries

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER
OFFICE

Estera Management (Bermuda) Limited
Canon’s Court

22 Victoria Street

Hamilton HM12

Bermuda

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Secretaries Limited
Level 22, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen’s Road East
Hong Kong

Notes:

(7)  With effect from 27 April 2017, Dr. Wang Yucan has been appointed in
replacement of Mr. Xin Songtao as an authorized representative of the Company.

4

—E-LFFH WHATESEERAA 03

DNEAME
T

RENAX
IEHO
e B

3
EXFM(BR) BHMEHARAR

EEER
BERELE
Appleby

5t & B LD
PEREEENAT

TEROBFERRE

Estera Management (Bermuda) Limited
Canon’s Court

22 Victoria Street

Hamilton HM12

Bermuda

EEROBFETIE

PEMEFIB AR A A
BB

EfFKER183%

E Mg 221

B &L :

(7)) ISBRBICEZEEEENBLEEREETAE
RAREREX BT —+tFOA-++HE
R



€ L
Richly Field China Development Limited

04

Annual Report 2017

Corporate Information
nalail

REGISTERED OFFICE

Canon’s Court
22 Victoria Street
Hamilton HM12
Bermuda
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Suite 506, ICBC Tower
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The Bank of East Asia, Limited

China Construction Bank Corporation
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Industrial and Commercial Bank of China
Bank of China
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DEVELOPMENT AND INVESTMENT PROPERTIES -
PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT
s NTH NTH
BRRREYF-TZEYH
Gross
Floor Area
Attributable  Site Area (included  Expected
Number Item Name Location Type of Property  Portion Interest ~ (Total Site Area) underground)  Completion Date Lease Term
(sqm)
HEER BEER A
F¥  EBER WENE nEER 2B EkER (24ELER) (B#T) RHEE HEHR
(FAx)
1 Changsha Outlets Changsha, Wangcheng Commercial Commercial Portion 100% 483.65 mu 386,923 Medium-term
RORE District, Tengfei Village, ~ % BEE (322,435.9 sq. m) b
Magiaohe Village,
Dongma 483.658!
RYEHERRR (322,435.9F 7 3K)
BRAH RELE
11 Commercial North Portion 84,782 Main part completed
BELER FEIRRT
12 Commercial South Portion 302,141 June 2018
AEEE —Z-\FRA
2 Changsha Outlets Changsha, Wangcheng Residential, Residential Portion 100% 1,104.18 mu 1,031,625 N/A
RORE District, Tengfei Village, Commercial ~ I%E (736,117.1 5q. m) TER
Magjiaohe Village, e BE
Dongma 1,104,188
ROZHERAN (736,117.1F5K)
BRIN REAE
241 Residential Phase 1 100,161 Completed and delivered
T8 BRIF¥Zf
22 Residential Phase 2 385,425  Completed and delivered
TE-H BERI¥Ef
2.3 Residential Phase 3 302,316 March 2018
FE=H —Z2-\fF=AR
2.4 Residential Phase 4 108,960  September 2018
FEm “Z-\FNA
25 Residential Phase 5 134,763 September 2019
TE0nH —E2-NFNA
3 Huailai Wineries Zhangjiakuo,Huailai County,  Industrial Whole Portion 50% 156.06 mu 104,038  June 2018 Medium-term
BREL Sangyuan Town, (small private %88 (104,038 sq. m) —E-N\EXA T
Zhangguanying Village, wine estate) 156068
Xinxiang Ling I (MERAER) (104,038 75 3K)
Village Northwest
EROTEREREE
REENFBANAL
4 Qinhuangdao Qinhuangdao Municipality, ~ Residential, Whole Portion 100% 1,077 mu 500,899  December 2018 Medium-term
ZEBER Beidaihe New District, Commercial %8 (717,955 sq. m) “E-N\EtzZA  HH
Changli County, e BE 1,077#
Central Golden Coast (717,955% 5 K)

RERTUHEBINEERS
eyl ]

y
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of Richly Field China
Development Limited (the “Company”) is pleased to present the audited
consolidated results of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2017 (the “Year”).

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in outlets commercial operation and
development and operation of featured commercial properties (such as
tourism property, senior care property and wine chateaus), development
of high-end residential properties as well as property management.

During the Year, the Group recorded revenue from sales of properties
of HK$25,566,000, mainly attributable to delivery of Phase 1 and 2 of
residential properties and the gross rental income and management fee
income of HK$25,564,000 and $9,466,000, respectively, of its Factory
QOutlet Center and Outlets Town located in Changsha, Hunan Province,
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) (the “Changsha Outlets
Project”).

As for financing aspect, the Group entered into a revolving loan facility
agreement with JeShing Real Estate Group Company Limited* (£ &
HEWEEBARAT), a related party of the Group, in relation to an
unsecured loan facility in the total principal amount of RMB400,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$450,560,000) for a term of three years at
an interest rate of 5% per annum (the “Other Loan 1”), RMB208,871,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$235,272,000) had been utilised as at
31 March 2017. During the Year, the Group entered into a renewal loan
agreement with related parties, JeShing Real Estate Group Company
Limited, IR E —ZETREEBR QA and TEHE MM BAR AR in
relation to a loan facility in the total principal amount of RMB301,800,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$339,948,000) for a term of one year at
an interest rate of 6.6% per annum which was secured by the pledge of
certain of the Group’s assets (the “Other Loan 2”), had been utilised as
at 31 March 2017. During the year, the Group entered a loan agreement
with an independent financial institution, A B ZEFIE EEERMHBR A

A E 92 A in relation to a loan facility in the total principal amount
of RMB300,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$337,920,000) for
a term of 3 years at an interest rate range of 8.5%-9.5% per annum
which was secured by the pledge of certain of the Group’s assets (the
“Other Loan 3”), had been utilised as at 31 March 2017. During the
year, the Group entered a loan agreement with a related party, 7 R &
BREERREMBEEEE AR QA in relation to a loan facility in the
total principal amount of RMB300,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$337,920,000) for a term of 3 years at an interest rate range of 10%-
11% per annum which was secured by the pledge of certain of the
Group’s assets (the “Other Loan 4”), had been utilised as at 31 March
2017. These helped the Group to replenish cash flow.
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The Changsha Outlets Project (the “Changsha Outlets Project”) is a
commercial and residential property project developed by Hunan Richly
Field Outlets Real Estate Limited (‘Hunan Richly Field”), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company. Outlets Town, the residential project, officially
went on sale after its sales permit was obtained in November 2014.
During the Year, the Company stepped up its marketing efforts by lining
up the existing resources of the Changsha Outlets Project to carry out a
series of effective promotion activities including the Outlets Light Festival
and the Outlets Tent Festival, so as to make the best of the elaborately
designed livable environment in Outlets Town. Furthermore, the Company
explored new ways of cooperation with the commercial tenants at the
commercial property in a bid to boost sales of both commercial and
residential space. Attributable to such effective promotion activities
coupled with the strong support from the “destocking” housing policy at
the national and local level, 483 bungalows and middle-height buildings
of Phase 2 of the residential project have been sold out and gradually
delivered, thus making Outlets Town a community with increasingly
matured living conditions. In addition, Phase 2 of the residential project
was rated as high-quality structural engineering in Changsha, and
Blocks No. 2, 7 and 12 in the northern commercial district the property
ownership certificates were obtained by the Company during the Year. By
building such a full-featured community and offering high-quality property
management services, the Company has enhanced its reputation
as a high-end property developer. During the Year, the management
conducted detailed analysis and survey on the development trends of
the real estate market in Changsha. Considering the actual conditions
of the Changsha Outlets Project, the Company still intends to focus on
developing bungalows and middle-height buildings as new offerings in
the next stage, in order to satisfy the demands for housing improvements
from customers with growing environmental and health awareness.
Meanwhile, the Company was actively negotiating with the local
government on building up educational facilities inside the Changsha
Qutlets Project, so as to meet educational needs of the property owners
and thus enhance the overall strength and competitiveness of the
Changsha Outlets Project.

RO RBHRGER ((RAPRERHER])
AR R 2B BN RS A E R R AT
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BERZITHES M2BEREMTFHE
MEITEBEF I BRENANKT EE -
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Moreover, the block-type commercial complex of the Changsha Outlets
Project, with an area of approximately 90,000 square meters, officially
opened for business during the National Day Golden Week in 2014, and
since then its sales kept hitting record highs and saw double-digit growth
over the same period last year. During the Year, the Group continued to
focus on investment attraction, marketing and publicity, in an effort to
extend the brand influence of Globe Outlets while boosting sales. With
respect to investment attraction, the Company endeavored to introduce
more brands that cater for local consumers’ demands with the most
preferential commercial terms through effective market research and
consumer behavior analysis of the target customers of the Group. During
the Year, the Company leveraged its increasingly sophisticated business
atmosphere to successfully sign up a bunch of merchants representing
a wide range of brands, such as women’s wear, business men’s wear,
casual wear, outdoor and footwear brands, so as to enrich the product
mix. In particular, the introduction of experience and retail stores for
children was prioritized. With respect to marketing, combining hot topics
with interesting innovations, the Company drew on the open area of the
Changsha Outlets Project to organize a string of promotion activities such
as Olympic Games Never Stop, Cool Summer, Second Anniversary of
Business Opening, European Cup, Trunk Flea Market and Kite Flying,
which cemented interpersonal ties among customers and offered the
joyous consumer experience. Meanwhile, the Company vigorously
integrated the existing marketing resources to drive up the overall sales
of Outlets Town, Globe Outlets and Latitude. The Company is committed
to developing the Changsha Outlets Project into a truly comprehensive
shopping park in Hunan integrating shopping, recreation, entertainment
and catering services, in a drive to enhance the overall brand awareness
and reputation of Globe Outlets.
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Qinhuangdao Outlets Real Estate Company Limited has become an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group since its acquisition of
King Future Limited. Located in the core area of International Healthy
City, Beidaihe New District, Qinhuangdao, the Qinhuangdao Outlets
Project is positioned to become a large coastal shopping and tourism
resort complex with outlets commerce as the major operation integrated
with high-end hot spring resort hotels, health preservation and elderly
care, cultural activities, entertainment and recreational resorts. During
the Year, the conceptual design for the planned Qinhuangdao Outlets
Project was reviewed and approved by the local government, and the
relevant government approval will be granted during the year. Accordingly,
construction of this project is expected to start in the second half of
2017. Pre-construction basic works such as access to water supply,
electricity and roads as well as land levelling have been completed. A
detailed supervisory plan and a detailed construction plan for Phase
1 have won recognition from the competent authorities of Beidaihe
New District, and are in the process of being further perfected before
submitted for approval. Pre-construction procedures such as obtaining
official replies on the water and soil conservation proposal and the
environmental impact report have been completed. Phase 1 of the
project with a planned area of 116,000 square meters will commence
construction immediately upon approval of the aforesaid plans.

In terms of development strategies, the Group gives top priority to how to
highlight its uniqueness and stand out from numerous competitors amid
the growing popularity of online shopping and the rise of surrounding
commercial complexes. As a commercial real estate operator, the Group
has made foresighted arrangements in its business blueprint to minimize
the adverse impacts of online shopping and peer competition on its
performance. Instead of heavily relying on fashion retail like traditional
commercial real estate operators, the Group puts more emphasis on
experience consumption such as recreation, entertainment, interaction
and catering services to provide services different from online shopping in
the Changsha Globe Outlets Shopping Park operated by it. Specifically,
the Group introduced various specialty services such as famous home
furnishing brands, a five-star cinema, a large children’s indoor and
outdoor park, a high-end indoor trampoline center originating in Australia
and fine cuisines, attracting an average of 30,000 consumers each
weekday and 50,000 each weekend day to patronize the shopping
park for recreation or otherwise. Meanwhile, by virtue of the convenient
transportation facilities around the project and the comfortable shopping
environment created by the European-style buildings as well as the
considerate and quality customer services, the Group managed to attract
a large number of merchants and loyal customers, which enabled the
Group to gain valuable experience for its future developments such as the
Qinhuangdao Outlets Project.
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During the Year, the projects managed by our associated companies also
achieved certain progress.

The master plan, demonstration area design plan, chateau design plan
and environmental impact assessment of the characteristic villa residential
and winery project in Huailai of Hebei have been completed. The project
is developed by Huailai Dayi Winery Company Limited, a 50%-owned
associated company of the Company. In the demonstration area, access
to roads, electricity and water supply has been in place and certain
works regarding landscaping, planting and slope wall reconditioning have
been completed. In addition, bidding for a parcel of construction land of
approximately 480 mu to be listed for sale is under preparation.

Globe Outlet Town (Jilin) Limited, a 42%-owned associated company of
the Company, conducted careful and detailed market research for its Jilin
Project and found out that the local commercial complexes are heavily
homogeneous in the context of the overall weak economic environment
in Northeast China. As such, in order to seek differentiation, the Company
plans to develop the Jilin project in Shuangyang District, Changchun, Jilin
Province into an integrated project (“Jilin Project”) combining a theme
park and a cultural tourism town under the theme of cultural tourism
and the objective of building a livable place with elderly care. The Jilin
Project has a piece of land with an area of 443 mu for commercial and
residential use in Shuangyang District, Changchun, which was acquired
in early 2016. In respect of the Jilin Project, the Company has obtained
official written reply on the soil and water conservation proposal, the
environmental impact report and the project authorization as well as
official comments on the energy conservation assessment report. At
present, preliminary works of the Jilin Project such as surrounding road
construction and grid and pipeline relocation are underway, with the
fencing works and some land leveling works having been completed.
Meanwhile, the Company is actively communicating with the local
government and the design institution on hammering out the conceptual
design plan of the project. Once the plan is approved by the government,
the Company will start property construction as soon as possible.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

During the Year, the Group recorded a total revenue of HK$61,491,000
as compared to HK$95,867,000 for the year ended 31 March 2016 (the
“Corresponding Year”). As set out in the financial statements, the revenue
of the Year was mainly attributable to the sales of the properties of the
Changsha Outlets Project in the amount of HK$25,566,000 compared to
HK$73,138,000 for the Corresponding Year. Sales of the fashion wears
and accessories also recorded revenue in the amount of HK$895,000 for
the Year compared to HK$3,750,000 for the Corresponding Year. Gross
rental income of approximately HK$25,564,000 for the Year compared to
HK$16,346,000 for the Corresponding Year, from the leasing of the outlet
plaza of the Changsha Outlets Project. Management fee income received
of approximately HK$9,466,000 for the Year compared to HK$2,633,000
for the Corresponding Year.

The loss attributable to equity holders amounted to HK$343,575,000 as
compared to HK$340,209,000 in the Corresponding Year. The loss per
share for the Year was HK2.69 cents as compared to HK3.05 cents for
the Corresponding Year.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

The Group did not have any significant investments during the Year.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

The Group did not have any material acquisitions and disposals of
subsidiaries and associated companies during the Year.
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE

During the Year, Sino Dynamics Investments Limited, a company
indirectly wholly-owned by Mr. Du Wei who is a substantial shareholder
of the Company, subscribed an aggregate of 1,300,000,000 shares
at HK$0.10 per subscription share and thus the issued share capital
of the Company enlarged from 11,886,619,070 ordinary shares to
13,186,619,070 ordinary shares.

As at 31 March 2017, the audited net liabilities attributable to owners
of the Company amounted to HK$130,585,000 (net assets as at 31
March 2016: HK$24,913,000), representing a decrease of 624% as
compared with the same as of 31 March 2016. With the total number
of 13,186,619,070 ordinary shares in issue as of 31 March 2017, the
audited net liabilities value per share was HK0.99 cents (net assets value
per share as at 31 March 2016: HK0.21 cents).

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group mainly finances its business operations with its internal
resources and loan facilities from banks and financial institutions.

As at 31 March 2017, the Group had cash and bank balances of
HK$25,560,000 (2016: HK$42,016,000). The Group’s current ratio
(measured as total current assets to total current liabilities) was 0.72
times (2016: 0.48 times). The increase in the current ratio was mainly due
to the decrease in interest-bearing bank and other borrowings.

As at 31 March 2017, the secured and unsecured interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings and convertible notes payable of the
Group amounted to HK$901,120,000 (2016: HK$1,297,330,000) and
HK$23,429,000 (2016: HK$24,962,000) and HK$110,863,000 (2016:
HK$132,710,000), respectively. Gearing ratios are not presented as the
Group had capital deficiency as at 31 March 2017.
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PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 March 2017, property interest held by the Group with net
carrying amount of HK$1,404,129,000 (2016: HK$1,151,988,000) were
pledged to PRC banks and other financial institution for the Group'’s
borrowings. In addition, as at 31 March 2017 and 2016, a bank loan was
secured by the Group’s entire equity interest in IR H BIFHETE X R
RAE].

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURES

As the Group’s bank and other borrowings, bank and cash balances,
trade receivables, trade payables, accruals, other payables and amounts
due to related parties were mainly denominated in RMB, the Group had
not experienced significant exposure to foreign currency fluctuation.

COMMITMENTS

As at 31 March 2017, the Group had capital commitments contracted,
but not provided for in respect of property development expenditures of
HK$7,796,000 (31 March 2016: HK$482,925,000).
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EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 March 2017, the Group employed a total of 177 employees
(excluding Directors), as compared to 206 employees (excluding
Directors) as at 31 March 2016. The Group remunerates its employees
based on their performance, working experience and prevailing market
parameters. Employee benefits include medical insurance coverage,
provident fund and share options.

PROSPECT AND OUTLOOK

In 2016, the annual turnover of the domestic real estate market hit a
record high. In the first three quarters, the market picked up rapidly as
driven by the gradually eased policies and the strong rigid demands.
Led by the destocking campaign, various favourable policies such as
reductions in down payment, deed tax and reserve requirement ratio
were introduced throughout the country, propelling the housing market
to soar. From October, the central and local governments adopted
a range of tightening policies over the housing market, in order to
control overheating property prices and stabilize the market for healthy
development.

In the first quarter of 2017, the government regulatory authorities
launched, in a wide range, restrictive policies on property purchases and
grant of mortgage loans and continued to strengthen oriented market
regulation. Despite the tightening of real estate policies, it is clear that the
goal of such policies is not to pull down property prices but to curb the
soaring of such prices. The Chinese government’s work report released
in 2017 called for speeding up the construction and improvement of the
fundamental system and long-term mechanism underlying a stable and
sound real estate market, in order to promote smooth operation of the
market.
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Given the relatively low urbanization rate in China at present, the
population in cities and towns will continue to grow, thus generating
ongoing strong demands in the real estate market. In the city where the
Group’s Changsha project is located, the urbanization rate remains low,
and the local government is planning to increase the urbanization rate
to 89% by 2025, which in turn guarantees demands for the long-term
development of the real estate market. As overall housing demands will
remain robust for a long time, market demands in large cities and small
and medium-sized cities are by no means a zero-sum game. In the
long run, housing demands in China’s first- and second-tier cities will
go unabated, which means that real estate will still function as a pillar
industry of China in the next 15 to 20 years.

Currently, the Group derives its operating income mainly from the
Changsha Outlets Project which is situated in the promising core area
of Xiangjiang New District, Hunan. Xiangjiang New District, being the
first national new district in central China, is positioned to serve as an
important engine for economic and social development in Hunan and the
middle reaches of the Yangtze River, a vital contributor to the Yangtze
River Economic Belt and a national pilot zone for building a resource-
saving and eco-friendly society. Seizing great opportunities from the
growing new district, the Company will develop the Changsha Outlets
Project into a truly international and eco-friendly Globe Outlets shopping
park integrating shopping, recreation, entertainment, tourism and
vacationing by vigorously developing specialty commercial services and
focusing on customer experience to seek differentiated development.
Since it opened for business on 1 October 2014, business has been
booming as sales kept rising. As of now, more than 180 merchants
representing nearly 200 brands have become commercial tenants of
Globe Outlets. The business formats there mainly include discount stores
of globally famous brands, domestic first- and second-grade men’s
and women’s clothing stores, cosmetics boutiques, sports and leisure
businesses, children’s amusement parks, IMAX cinemas and special
restaurants.
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As discussed above, the Group focuses on introducing businesses
based on experience consumption. In particular, the Beijing and
Changsha Latitude Trampoline Centers have opened for business. They
are large indoor fashionable sports parks introduced from Australia,
built upon Melbourne’s successful operation and management model
and systematically optimized according to the sports habits of Chinese
people. In March 2017, Latitude Trampoline Center debuted in Changsha
with a total area of nearly 5,000 square meters, which scaled up the
income streams and diversified commercial features of the Changsha
Outlets Project. Meanwhile, the Latitude centers in Jianning Road of
Nanjing and Honggiao District of Shanghai are under construction and
expected to open for business in June 2017 and at the end of this
year, respectively. Moreover, site selection and business negotiations for
additional Latitude centers in Beijing, Hangzhou and Nanjing are also
underway. The novel sport offered by Latitude, which is well-received
in the market and brings ever-growing sales revenue, is expected to
diversify the Group’s income sources and improve its cash flow.
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Furthermore, the Group will pay close attention to market updates to
understand the dynamic consumer needs of local markets. Accordingly,
the Group will continue to refine the development focus of residential
products, the investment attraction strategy of the commercial segment
and the Phase Il planning for the Changsha Outlets Project, as well as the
design plans of the Qinhuangdao and Changchun projects, with a view
to flexibly and effectively use our capital to achieve capital optimization.
In the future, the Group will continue to explore financing channels and
actively seek financing in Hong Kong’s capital market. Thanks to the
increasingly diversified product mix available for sale, the Group expects
to enjoy solid financial support for its sustained development.

Additionally, the Group also keeps a close eye on the emerging industries
in mainland China, such as elderly care, medical, sports fitness, e-sports,
game & animation and virtual reality sectors. Looking forward, the Group
will continue to opportunistically acquire any promising projects, actively
adjust its business portfolio and broaden its income sources to maximize
the returns for shareholders.

* For identification purpose only
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The Directors present their annual report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2017.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities
and other particulars of the subsidiaries are set out in note 1.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2017 is
set out in the sections of Management Discussion and Analysis on pages
6 to 10.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on page 84.

There will not be a payment of a final dividend for the Year (31 March
2016: Nil).

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the authorised and issued share capital of the Company are set
out in note 33.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the Year are set out on pages 87, 88 and 187, respectively.

The Company had no distributable reserve as at 31 March 2017 (2016:
Nil).
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the investment properties of the Group during
the Year are set out in note 15.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the Year are set out in note 14.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentage of revenue attributable to the Group’s five largest
customers was not more than 20% of the Group’s total revenue for the
Year.

The percentage of purchases cost for the Year attributable to the Group’s
major suppliers are as follows:

18%
60%

- the largest supplier
- five largest suppliers combined

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholders of the
Company (the “Shareholders”) (which to the knowledge of the Directors
owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had an interest in
the major suppliers or customers noted above.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years is set out on page 188. This summary does
not form part of the consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this
annual report are as follows:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS:

Xin Songtao (Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer)!
(resigned on 27 April 2017)

Wang Yucan (Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer)?

Ma Jun (Deputy Chairman of the Boara)?

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS:

Li Yi Feng
Chen Wei

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS:

Hsu Wai Man Helen
Chau Shing Yim David
Xu Jinghong

Pursuant to Bye-Law 99 of the Bye-Laws of the Company, Mr. Ma
Jun, Ms. Hsu Wai Man Helen and Mr. Chau Shing Yim David will retire
as directors of the Company by rotation and, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting
(“AGM”) of the Company.

Pursuant to Bye-Law 102(B), Dr. Wang Yucan will retire by rotation at the
forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible, will be offering
herself for re-election.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM has a
service contract with the Company which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

Note:

1 Mr. Xin Songtao resigned as Executive Director, Chairman of the Board and Chief
Executive Officer with effect from 27 April 2017.

2 Dr. Wang Yucan was appointed as Executive Director, Chairman of the Board
and Chief Executive Officer with effect from 27 April 2017.

3 Mr. Ma Jun has been appointed as Deputy Chairman of the Board with effect
from 27 April 2017.
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The Company has received annual confirmation of independence
from each of the independent non-executive directors pursuant to the
requirement of Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the
“Listing Rules”). The Company considers all independent non-executive
directors to be independent.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

The biographical details of the Directors of the Group are set out in the
“Biographical Details of Directors” section on pages 64 to 68.

UPDATE ON DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION UNDER
RULE 13.51B(1) OF THE LISTING RULES

Upon specific enquiry by the Company and confirmations from the
Directors, the changes in the information of the Directors required to be
disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules subsequent to
the date of the Company’s 2016/2017 interim report are set out below:

Dr. Wang Yucan has been appointed as an Executive Director, the
Chairman of the Board of Director, Chief Executive Officer of the
Company, an authorized representative of the Company under the Listing
Rules, member of the remuneration committee and Chairman of the
nomination committee with effect from 27 April 2017.

Mr. Ma Jun has been appointed as Deputy Chairman of the Board with
effect from 27 April 2017. Mr. Ma Jun has been appointed as a director
of Nanjing Jeshing International Home Funishing Management Co. Ltd.*
(MReRBEBRREMSEEEEBMRAT)and Latitude Investment
management Consultancy (Shanghai) Co. Ltd..

Mr. Chau Shing Yim Daivd is the member of Hospital Governing
Committee of Pamela Youde Nethersole Eastern Hospital on 1 April
2017. He was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director of
Asia Grocery Distribution Limited (Stock Code: 8413) on 27 March 2017.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2017, none of the Directors, the Chief Executive of the
Company and their associates, had any interests or short positions in any
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571, Laws of Hong Kong) (“SFO”)) which
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
or short positions which they were taken or deemed to have taken under
such provisions of the SFO) or, as recorded in the register maintained by
the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or otherwise notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transaction by Directors of Listed Companies.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2017, the interests and short positions of persons (other
than Directors or Chief Executive of the Company) in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

LONG POSITIONS

Under otherwise specified, the shareholding percentages disclosed
below are calculated based on the total of 13,186,619,070 shares of the
Company in issue as at 31 March 2017.
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Ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each of the Company

Number of issued
ordinary shares

Approximate
percentage of the

and underlying
shares held/

issued share
capital of the

Name of shareholder Capacity interested Company
»¥E/%®E
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BRREEEB 54 HERGHA BHABE DL

Fine Bliss Limited (Note 1) Beneficial owner 2,340,000,000 17.74%

=HBARAT (M) BEREAA

Complete Power International Limited (Note 1)  Interest of controlled corporation 2,340,000,000 17.74%
2HEBRER AT (K1) EHEE R R

Good Moral Enterprises Limited (Note 1) Interest of controlled corporation 2,340,000,000 17.74%
FEAEARDE (M) A E

Stimulate High Investment Limited (Note 2) Beneficial owner 1,777,580,267 13.48%

IREFREAR A (H5E2) BEREEA (Note 4)

(KtzEa)

Wang Hua (Note 1 and 3) Interest of controlled corporation 2,340,000,000 17.74%

T (MF1K%3) B R 1,777,580,267 13.48%

Galaxy Sharp Investment Holdings Limited Interest of controlled corporation 2,600,000,000 19.72%

(Note 4)

IR EZERAR A (H5E4) T EEERS

Sino Dynamics Investments Limited (Note 4) Beneficial owner 2,600,000,000 19.72%

Sino Dynamics Investments Limited (P{5E4)  EZ#HEA A
Du Wei (Note 4) Interest of controlled corporation 2,600,000,000 19.72%

12 (Pi3E4)
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Notes:

1) Fine Bliss Limited is the registered holder of 2,340,000,000 shares of the
Company. Mr. Wang Hua owns the entire issued share capital of Complete
Power International Limited, and Complete Power International Limited owns the
entire issued share capital of Good Moral Enterprises Limited, and Good Moral
Enterprises Limited owns the entire issued share capital of Fine Bliss Limited.
Accordingly, each of Mr. Wang Hua, Complete Power International Limited and
Good Moral Enterprises Limited is deemed to be interested in the 2,340,000,000
shares directly held by Fine Bliss Limited under the SFO.

2) Upon completion of the open offer, Stimulate High Investment Limited is deemed
to be interested in 1,777,580,267 shares under the SFO.

3) Upon completion of the open offer, Stimulate High Investment Limited is
whollyowned by Mr. Wang Hua. Accordingly, Mr. Wang Hua is deemed to be
interested in 1,777,580,267 shares under the SFO.

4) Sino Dynamics Investments Limited is the registered holder of 2,600,000,000
shares of the Company. The entire issued share capital of Sino Dynamics
Investments Limited is directly owned by Galaxy Sharp Investment Holdings
Limited. Mr. Du Wei owns the entire issued share capital of Galaxy Sharp
Investment Holdings Limited. Accordingly, each of Galaxy Sharp Investment
Holdings Limited and Mr. Du Wei is deemed to be interested in the
2,600,000,000 shares directly held by Sino Dynamics Investments Limited under
the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2017, no person (other than
the directors of the Company) had an interest or short position in the
shares or underlying shares of the Company were recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

To the best knowledge of the Board, at no time during the Year were
rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or
debentures of the Company granted to any Directors or their respective
spouse or minor children, or were any such rights exercised by them, or
was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to
enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

GEE

1) Z=IEARRAF ALK F2,340,000,0000% B (5
ZEEBBA - TELEBEFEEZHEEERA
RIZEHBEEITRA 2 HEBRBRARHE
EEBLEBRARZEWEHTRA M
FEMCEERAAAEEENRBRAGZE
EHEBHITRA - E it - RIBFES K HE GG
FHEEL 2 HEBRBERAFIREREEAR
DEISHEBRENERARMEEZEFTEN
2,340,000,000 % f% 10 #F B fE 5 o

2) ERAREER BEFEHFLIBEKRE RE
BB BR A AR BK,777,580,267 1% & 15
B

3) ERAHEER IREIEBRAG BRI E
EEZERE AL RIBZEFRBEEM
T 5 A8 A IR1,777,580,267 B A% 19 7R
Ao

4) Sino Dynamics Investments Limited & Z< A &)
2,600,000,0000% i 17 2 & &2 ¥ B A ° Sino
Dynamics Investments Limited ~ % &2 21 TA%
NEBRIEEERER AR EREER &
EEBEBRRREERERAT 22MHEEH
TIRA A IRIBF S KRG KR 8lE%
BRI A R A B R AT E 5 A & A8 AR Sino
Dynamics Investments Limitedf B &A1)
2,600,000,000% f& 17 15 #E 5 1 2 ©
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE AND CONNECTED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

Having made all reasonable enquiries and based on the available
books and records, the Board is not aware of any material interest in
any contract of significance to the business of the Group to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

As at the date of this report, none of the Directors, the Shareholders
and their respective associates had any interest in a business which
competes or is likely to compete with the business of the Group and any
other conflicts of interest which any such person has or may have with
the Group.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions during the Year are set out in note
38.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

The Board is not aware of any contract during the Year entered into with
the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part
of the business of the Company.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Details of the retirement benefit schemes are set out in note 2.3.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SHARES

During the Year, the Company and any of its subsidiaries did not
purchase, sell or redeem any of the Company’s listed shares.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Bye-Laws or the laws of Bermuda, being the jurisdiction in which the
Company was incorporated, which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a pro rata basis to the existing Shareholders.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained a
sufficient public float as required under the Listing Rules during the Year
and up to the date of this report.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The Group’s significant events regarding the steps taken by the
directors of the Company to improve the Group’s liquidity and solvency
position after the reporting period were disclosed in note 2.1, “Basis of
preparation”.

AUDITORS

Crowe Horwath (HK) CPA Limited has resigned as auditors of the
Company with effect from 30 March 2017, and SHINEWING (HK) CPA
LIMITED was appointed as auditor of the Company with effect from 18
April 2017 to fill the causal vacancy.

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the Year
have been audited by SHINEWING (HK) CPA LIMITED, Certified Public
Accountants. A resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM to re-
appoint SHINEWING (HK) CPA LIMITED as auditors of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Wang Yucan
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 June 2017
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance in the best interest of the shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”). The Company has been making an effort to enhance the
corporate governance standard of the Company by reference to the code
provisions and recommended best practices set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the
Rules Governing the Listing Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”). During the
Year, the Company has applied and complied with all the code provisions
set out in the CG Code except for the deviation from code provision
A2.1.

Code provision A.2.1 provides that the roles of chairman and chief
executive should be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual. The division of responsibilities between the chairman and chief
executive should be clearly established and set out in writing.

During the Year, Dr. Wang Yucan has been appointed as the Chairman
of the Board of Director and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company
and Mr. Ma Jun has been appointed as the Deputy Chairman on 27 April
2017. The Board believes that at the Group’s development stage, this
structure helps to make planning and execution more efficient. The Board
will review this situation periodically and will consider steps to separate
dual roles of chairman and chief executive as and when appropriate.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Composition

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises of seven Directors
including two Executive Directors, two Non-executive Directors, and three
Independent Non-executive Directors.

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the Company
and oversees the Company’s businesses, investment and strategic
decisions and performance. In addition, the Board has delegated various
responsibilities to the board committees. Further details of these board
committees are set out in this annual report.
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Board Diversity Policy

The Company adopted a board diversity policy (the “Policy”) which sets
out the approach to achieve and maintain diversity on the Board in order
to enhance the effectiveness of the Board.

Pursuant to the Policy, the Company seeks to achieve Board diversity
through the consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and education background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The Board will review
such objectives from time to time to ensure their appropriateness and the
progress made towards achieving those objectives. The Company wil
also take into consideration its own specific needs from time to time in
determining the optimum composition of the Board.

Executive Directors:

Xin Songtao (Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer)!
(resigned on 27 April 2017)

Wang Yucan (Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer)?

Ma Jun (Deputy Chairman of the Boara)?

Non-executive Directors:

Li Yi Feng
Chen Wei

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Hsu Wai Man Helen
Chau Shing Yim David
Xu Jinghong

The Board members have no financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationships with each other. The biographical information of the
Directors is set out on page 64 to page 68.

Notes:
1 Mr. Xin Songtao resigned as Executive Director, Chairman of the Board of

Director and Chief Executive Officer with effect from 27 April 2017.

2 Dr. Wang Yucan was appointed as Executive Director, Chairman of the Board of
Director and Chief Executive Officer with effect from 27 April 2017.

3 Mr. Ma Jun has been appointed as Deputy Chairman of the Board with effect
from 27 April 2017.
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Chairman

The Chairman of the Company takes the lead in formulating the overall
strategies and policies of the Company in order to ensure effective
performance by the Board of its functions, including compliance with
good corporate governance practices and encourages and facilitates
active contribution of directors in Board activities. The chairman also
ensures that all directors are properly briefed on issues arising at Board
meetings and have received adequate, complete and reliable information
in a timely manner with the assistance of the company secretary.

Executive Directors

The Executive Directors are responsible for running the Company and
executing the strategies adopted by the Board. They lead the Company’s
management team in accordance with the directions set by the Board
and are responsible for ensuring that proper internal control system is
in place and the Company’s business conforms to applicable laws and
regulations.

Non-executive Directors and Independent
Non-executive Directors

The Non-executive Directors and the Independent Non-executive
Directors serve the important function of ensuring and monitoring an
effective corporate governance framework. Their participation provides
adequate checks and balances to safeguard the interests of the
Company and its Shareholders as a whole. The Board currently consists
of three Independent Non-executive Directors and two of them have
relevant professional qualification or accounting or relating financial
management expertise. The Company has received annual confirmation
of independence from each of the Independent Non-executive Directors
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. On this basis, the Board
is of the view that all the Independent Non-executive Directors are
independent in accordance with the Listing Rules. The Independent
Non-executive Directors will provide independent opinion and share their
knowledge and experience with other members of the Board.

—- 4
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The Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Li Yi Feng and Mr. Chen 3E#i1TE = ( Eﬂ?ﬁféf‘ﬁi&ﬁﬁf?ﬁi)ﬁ
Wei was re-designated for a fixed term of three years commencing FIEFAT 2B ETHA=ZF AT — X
from 9 September 2016 and a was renewed for a fixed term of three F AL A NBERBEKESH 2 BATTH A=
years commencing from 17 December 2016 respectively. Each of the F H-ZE— X FE+-_A++HBHHH - &5
Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Hsu Wai Man Helen, M 3E#17E£ % (4S84t BAKLEE
Mr. Chau Shing Yim David and Mr. Xu Jinghong, was appointed for a NMHFEBLA)EETEFH BETHAE=F

fixed term of three years commencing from 21 November 2016, 11 S AT —<"F+—HA=-+—H =

February 2017 and 30 March 2017 respectively. —tF-_A+—BERZZE—+tF=ZRA=+
H 5 o

Board Meetings and General Meetings EESERERRRAE

During the Year, the Directors’ attendance at the Board meetings and MAFE EEZHEFEEETSeZLKEKX

general meetings is set out as follows: g2 HEERINTIAT

Number of meetings attended/held

HEBITERHAE
Board Annual General
Name Meetings* Meetings*
#®H EsgEg® BRRBFERG
Executive Directors:
HITES
Xin Songtao (Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer) 13/13 11
(resigned on 27 April 2017)

BB (EFSFEFTHAN) (R_T—tFNA -+ HET)
Wang Yucan (Chairman of the Board of Director and Chief Executive Officer) - -
TER(EFSF/FHTHAEZ)
Ma Jun (Deputy Chairman of the Board of Director) - -
SR (EF2HF/E)
Non-executive Directors:
FHITES:
Li Yi Feng 12/13 01
2§
Chen Wei 13/13 0N
PR 187
Independent Non-executive Directors:
BYFHITES:
Hsu Wai Man Helen 13/13 1/1
HEH
Chau Shing Yim David 13/13 11
BN
Xu Jinghong 13/13 0/1
* The denominator represents the number of Board meetings, annual general  * DEEREE-T—+tF=A=+—HIHK

meeting or, as the case may be, special general meetings, held during the tenure FEZEEFTHRRTCEFTEEE KRR

of each Director in the financial year ended 31 March 2017. BERgH (RBRME)RERF 7(@2%(

E
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All minutes of Board meetings and general meetings are kept by the
company secretary and are open for inspection at reasonable time on
reasonable notice by any Director. Every Director is entitled to have
access to Board papers and related materials and access to the advice
and services of the company secretary. In addition, the Company
enables the Directors, in discharge of their duties, to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances.

TRAINING FOR DIRECTORS

Every newly appointed Director is provided with induction and information
to ensure that he/she has a proper understanding of the Company’s
operations and business as well as his/her responsibilities under the
relevant status, laws, rules and regulations.

The continuous professional development is provided to all Directors at
the Company’s expense to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills to assist them in discharging their duties. This is to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

During the Year, a record of the training attended/received by each of the
Directors, is set out as follows:

—|- 4
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FEEESSHRMAASEMHEHE D
ARBRE UREBBANABHRET
THEAESEN - EESHARENE
FEXHRAMEN LA BRA AR E
ZRBRBG U REANERT &
ARBHEFERTBEE BB EE
R

EE 27

ARARAEFEESTRHBILEHR A
BMREBUEBRARR ZEERER M
RERBBER E2 RAULKHETZ
BfE-

ARBBBEHMAEERHUFBEZTEET
NBERYEHEMBRZE BBHREE
TRE UBERNEAEFSHFEHABR
M Z B/ -

RAFER SEFZ2HE /BZIEIO
FCERSIIRIATE

Type of training

Name A I B

Executive Directors: HITES:

Xin Songtao (Chairman of the Board and ENE (EEFSFEFTHAES) A&B
Chief Executive Officer) (resigned on 27 April 2017) (R=ZFE—+tFMNA =+t HET)

Wang Yucan (Chairman of the Board and TER(EFSFERTHAEH) A&B
Chief Executive Officer)

Ma Jun (Deputy Chairman of the Board) S (EFEFHEE) A&B

Non-executive Directors: FHITES:

Li Yi Feng £ ¥ A&B

Chen Wei BR &7 A&B

Independent Non-executive Directors: BYKHITES:

Hsu Wai Man Helen mEH A&B

Chau Shing Yim David B A&B

Xu Jinghong FTER A&B

Notes: Pk :

A attending courses/seminars/conferences

B: reading journals/written training materials/updates

A HERIE R gE

B: BT EEEHIAM, EHAH
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an Audit Committee (the “Audit
Committee”) with written terms of reference in compliance with the
Listing Rules and the code provisions under the CG Code. The Audit
Committee is mainly responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial
reporting system and risk management and internal control systems;
making recommendations to the Board in the appointment and removal
of the external auditors and to approve the remuneration and terms of
engagement of the external auditors, and any questions of resignation or
dismissal of such auditors; and reviewing the interim and annual reports
and accounts of the Company.

During the Year, the Audit Committee of the Company comprised all
Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Hsu Wai Man Helen,
Mr. Chau Shing Yim David and Mr. Xu Jinghong. Ms. Hsu Wai Man Helen
is the Chairlady of the Audit Committee.

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the six months
ended on 30 September 2016 and the Year have been reviewed by the
Audit Committee, who is of the opinion that such statements comply
with the applicable accounting standards, the Listing Rules and legal
requirements, and that adequate disclosures have been made.

During the Year, the members’ attendance of the meetings of the Audit
Committee is set out as follows:

EREES

ARAERILBELZZBE ([BREF
g YBTETRAREGEERTAZ
STAEXAEmE A G EREEE - FX
ZESTERAEEBARAIZHMBHARR
FREREELABEZRS REER
RR/NEZEE HEZTRBIMNEZEE 2
B B AE B - A Ko B 5% A% BORM B A K AR R
ERzENHBERESSRHEERES
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A

RAFERN KARAREZZEEHEES
VIFRTESAN RS8R FAXK
RERFEBELE HREFLLIRERZR
SR

ERZEBECENARRBE-_T—~F
NAZ+TALEREARKNFENGE T B
BR UYRASEERRTAER LR
ERRANERRE SO EERIRE -

RAFERN BEREREEXNBEHFLRES
EERMLFERINRIAT

Number of meetings HE BT

of the Audit Committee EREE®

Name attended/held %% gEYE
Hsu Wai Man Helen (Chairladly) 3/3 HBREH(EE) 3/3
Chau Shing Yim David 2/3 K 2/3
Xu Jinghong 2/3 FHES 2/3

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a Remuneration Committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”) with written terms of reference in compliance
with the Listing Rules and the code provisions under the CG Code.
The Remuneration Committee is mainly responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s remuneration policy
for directors and senior management, and overseeing the remuneration
packages of the Executive Directors and senior management.

FWEES
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g YEBTETRARERERTAZ
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The Remuneration Committee of the Company comprises one Executive
Director, namely Dr. Wang Yucan, and three Independent Non-executive
Directors, namely Ms. Hsu Wai Man Helen, Mr. Chau Shing Yim David
and Mr. Xu Jinghong. Ms. Hsu Wai Man Helen is the Chairlady of the
Remuneration Committee.

The work performed by the Remuneration Committee during the Year
includes reviewing the policy for the remuneration of Executive Directors,
assessing the performance of Executive Directors and approving the
terms of Executive Directors’ service contracts.

During the Year, the members’ attendance of the meetings of the
Remuneration Committee is set out as follows:

Number of meetings

-I- 4
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ARrRFMZEERE 2R TEETE
BETR=Z2BIUFATEZTRERK
T BAEAREERFFEBRLEE -HREHLL
REMEZEEER-

FWNZBERAFEAMETZIIERRE
BEHATESZHFMER FERATES
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RAFEN FHZEEeXKBEHLFZES
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of the Remuneration HE BT

Committee FMEES

Name attended/held # & =1 G

Hsu Wai Man Helen (Chairiadly) 33 W®REB(FE) 3/3
Xin Songtao BERE(RZE—tF

(resigned on 27 April 2017) 3/3 MAZ+tRHET) 3/3
Wang Yucan FER(RZE—tF

(appointed on 27 April 2017) - MAZ++RHEEE) -

Chau Shing Yim David 3/3  FEEK 3/3

Xu Jinghong 3/3 FER 3/3

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a Nomination Committee (the “Nomination
Committee”) with written terms of reference in compliance with the Listing
Rules and the code provisions under the CG Code. The Nomination
Committee is mainly responsible for reviewing the structure, size and
composition (including the skills, knowledge and experience) of the
Board, making recommendations on any proposed changes to the
Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy, identifying
individuals suitably qualified to become member of the Board and making
recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated
for directorships, assessing the independence of Independent non-
Executive Directors, and making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of directors and succession planning for
directors.
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The Nomination Committee of the Company comprises one Executive
Director, namely Dr. Wang Yucan, and three Independent Non-executive
Directors, namely Ms. Hsu Wai Man Helen, Mr. Chau Shing Yim David
and Mr. Xu Jinghong. Dr. Wang Yucan is the Chairman of the Nomination
Committee.

The work performed by the Nomination Committee during the Year
includes reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board and
assessing the independence of all Independent Non-executive Directors,
selecting and recommending the re-designation of Mr. Ma Jun as
Executive Director and Mr. Li Yi Feng as Non-executive Director during
the Year.

ARAREZZEERE —RRTEETE
BETLR=ZR2BIUFQTEFTRERK
T BAEREEREBLE - TERIBL
RRBHEZBEEXRE-

RAZBENAFEAMET TR
EHNEFTOZRBE AR RAKNURFHG
FTBEBLFATEST BN RAFE
NEENEBFSEALTEFATRATESTR
FRELERERFNTES -

During the Year, the members’ attendance of the meetings of the MRAFERN IEZZEeKELFZES
Nomination Committee is set out as follows: FENEREEINTOT
Number of meetings
of the Nomination HE BT
Committee REZEE®
Name attended/held # % eEYHE
Xin Songtao ERE (RZE—1F
(resigned on 27 April 2017) 3/3 WA=+t HEE) 3/3
Wang Yucan (Chairman) FER(FE)(RZE—LF
(appointed on 27 April 2017) - MA-+tHAEZT) -
Hsu Wai Man Helen 3/3  1REH 3/3
Chau Shing Yim David 3/3  FEFEK 3/3
Xu Jinhong 3/3 FER 3/3

REMUNERATION DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

Details of the directors’ remuneration and the five highest-paid individuals
in the Group are set out in notes 9 and 10 respectively.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

During the Year, the remuneration in respect of audit and non-audit
services provided by the Company’s auditors are set out as follows:

EEHFMFEE
EEFHEAEB AR HTMA LR
BRI EH R 910 °

Z AN 2

RAFER  BARRAZBEERZ R
FOERBRBEBZME R T

Services rendered Fee paid/payable RS e/ EBNER

HK$'000 FHET
Audit services 980 RS 980
Non-audit services 86 IEZERT 86

The non-audit services provided by the Company’s auditors was
the independent review of the interim results of the Group as at 30
September 2016 during the Year.

ARBZBENAFERERHE 2 FXBRS
RBUBHNASER _T-R"EFALA=1
HzhizxsE-
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DIRECTOR’S SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing
Rules (the “Model Code”) as the code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors.

Having made specific enquiries to all Directors, all Directors confirmed
that they had complied with the required standards set out in the Model
Code throughout the Year.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance duties
set out in the code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code including:

° develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the board;

° review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

° review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

° develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance
manual (if any) applicable to employees and Directors; and

° review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

DIRECTORS RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the Group’s
financial statements for each financial period and to ensure that the
financial statements are in accordance with statutory requirements
and applicable accounting standards and for such internal control as
the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that are free from material restatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

The statement of the auditors of the Company regarding their
responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements is set out in the
Independent Auditors’ Report on pages 81 to 83.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
Philosophy of Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board considers that sound risk management and internal control
systems can improve the operational effectiveness and efficiency of the
Group and help safeguard the assets of the Group and the investments
of the Shareholders.

Risk Management and Internal Responsibility

The Board is well aware of its responsibility to maintain high standards
of risk management and internal control systems and to review the
effectiveness of such systems during the process of implementation.
The systems are intended to provide a reasonable but not absolute
assurance regarding operational effectiveness and efficiency, reliability of
financial reports and compliance with laws and regulations, with the aim
of managing rather than eliminating risks associated with failure to meet
business objectives.

The Board is fully responsible for assessing and determining the nature
and extent of the risks to which the Company is wiling to assume
in achieving its strategic objectives and establishing and maintaining
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control systems.

Risk Management and Internal Control Structures of
the Group

The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the management,
establishing risk assessment criteria, and supervising the design,
implementation and monitoring of risk management and internal control
systems. Under the authority of the Board, the Audit Committee may
seek external legal, financial or other independent professional advice at
the expense of the Company if necessary (subject to prior discussion with
the Board on the relevant expenses).

The Company has developed and adopted a number of risk management
procedures and guidelines with well-defined terms of reference, which are
implemented through its major business procedures and office functions,
including administration and management, human resources, material
procurement, contract execution, project establishment, tendering and
bidding, project management, sales and leasing, financial reporting and
information technology.

REEEERAER
EREEERABEZER
EEERARZMHARTERNBEL R
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The Company set up its internal audit function in 2014. Established
under the Audit Committee and being independent from other functional
departments, the audit department assists the Board in performing its
regulatory role in the internal control and risk management functions
of the Group, reviewing and assessing the overall effectiveness of the
internal control and risk management systems. The audit department
has equipped with professional auditors for conducting internal audits
in accordance with the annual work plan, including regular or ad hoc
internal audits and special audits, as well as audits and assessment on
the operation and management, financial position and enforcement of
internal control of the Company and its subsidiaries.

Major Features of the Risk Management and Internal
Control Systems

The Company has set up risk management and internal control
systems to ensure that internal rules and systems are strictly enforced,;
recruitment, remuneration and assessment systems are fair, impartial and
transparent; the Company operates in compliance with relevant laws,
rules and regulations; construction projects are carried out in conformity
to the relevant systems of the Company regarding project establishment,
tender awards, contract execution, procurement, construction,
acceptance inspection and settlement, etc.; shop management systems
for commercial projects are stringent with no loopholes; assets are not
misappropriated and embezzled; accounting records for providing reliable
financial information for business purposes or public use are properly
kept; access to and use of internal information without proper authority
are strictly prohibited; and reasonable assurance is provided against
major misrepresentations, losses or fraudulent activities.

To safeguard the legitimate rights and interests of the Shareholders, the
Company handles and publishes insider information in accordance with
its insider information disclosure system to ensure that such information is
kept highly confidential prior to disclosure and issued in an effective and
consistent manner. The Board shall immediately convene a meeting to
discuss the relevant matter and, if necessary, seek advice from external
independent professional institutions.
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The internal audit department of the Company and the audit department
of the holding group have conducted an annual review on the risk
management and internal control systems of the Company for the year
ended 31 March 2017. The scope of the review has been formulated and
approved by the Audit Committee, covering business operations, financial
reporting, and compliance with regulations and systems. Results of the
review and the areas for improvement have been reported to the Board
and the Audit Committee, with emphasis on staff performance appraisal,
standardization and execution of systems, enhancement of tendering
and bidding processes, financial budget management, project budget
management, as well as project and marketing contract management.

Procedures for Identifying, Assessing and Managing
Significant Risks

An introduction to the procedures used by the Company for identifying,
assessing and managing significant risks is given below:

Risk Identification and Assessment

° The internal audit department conducts regular annual audits or ad
hoc special audits to perform systematic analysis on the processes,
systems and significant events of the Company to identify possible
risks in the business process. The legal department performs
professional analysis on the proposed terms of contracts to identify
terms that may place the Company in a disadvantageous position,
with the aim of avoiding any potential risks.

° The identified risks are assessed based on the assessment
criteria set up by the management to determine the risk response
approach.

Risk Response

o The risk management strategies and internal control procedures are
determined based on the category of the risks identified. For major
risks, the internal audit department shall prepare a summary and
report directly to the Audit Committee, and put forward solutions for
resolving the risks for the consideration of the Board.

Risk Monitoring and Reporting

° The relevant risks are continuously and regularly monitored to
ensure that they are under control through appropriate internal
control procedures. If any significant changes arise, the risk
management policies and internal control procedures will be
amended, and the results of risk monitoring will be reported
regularly to the management and the Audit Committee of the
Board.

RAANMBEFDBA EREREENE
AHMMACEARRBE_T-LtE=A
=t+—BLFENERREEIE KA LSS
BETEFRERN MEHSBENBAERZ
EeflELBEHN ARREXRHESE UK
BE RAUGEARSZ - RECAEFE
LRECZESREENARLTICEZE
B EXHEGEETITEMER HIENRBL
ERTh BEERERE UHEIE
B IRBEERE IREAZHESGRAERE

o

&

RARER  FEREEEXABRNE
FF

ARFARER FEREEEAARM
BEENMT

o, B 58k T % =Y Ak

e ANBAFFIARTHFEATED
BEREF HBRRSEARENERE
RERETRGME BB EBB
AP HROER EBAPIY
BREARGIETERDN  FHIA
g ARBRATHERMER

VA #5388 A ] 7 2 LB o

. BETEERVMFGEEE FEED
900 BB U LR
i

a2, ez e 4

o RERARGHENETERREERE
NRAREZEERF - #FHEANRR A
NEEAHFIERAERBEEERE
BEg UYRHERRBBASE HES
EEE-

B B B 5% 1% BB ¥R

. HAYTHERAWRR RBEY
B PO EE IR IR AR B IR R A T B
E-ERBEBAAEARE (£
ARERRARNBERRF LM
EEEREFERIZEETNER
BRERMNER-



Corporate Governance Report

EREIGHRS

Effectiveness of Control

For the year ended 31 March 2017, the management has reported to
the Audit Committee and the Board on the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems based on the above internal
audit report. The Audit Committee is of the view that that there are no
significant deficiencies in internal control. The Group will follow up all the
recommendations of the internal audit department as appropriate and
ensure that they are implemented in due course. As a result, the Board
considers that the risk management and internal control systems are
effective and adequate.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”) is
an employee of the Company and has day-to-day knowledge of the
Company’s affairs. During the Year, the Company Secretary has taken no
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

During the Year, the Company has proactively enhanced its corporate
transparency and communications with its Shareholders and the
investment community through its mandatory interim and annual reports
announcements.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The AGM provides a useful forum for the Shareholders to exchange
views with the Board. The chairman as well as chairlady/chairman of the
Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee
of the Company are pleased to answer the enquires raised by the
Shareholders’ questions. Separate resolutions are proposed at general
meetings on each substantially separate issue, including the election of
individual directors. All the announcements and circulars are published
on the Company’s website (www.richlyfieldchina.com) and on the Stock
Exchange’s website (www.hkexnews.hk).

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There were no changes made to the Company’s constitutional
documents during the year ended 31 March 2017.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Way in Which Shareholders of the Company
Can Convene a Special General Meeting of the
Shareholders (“SGM”)

Pursuant to the Company’s Bye-Laws and Bermuda laws, the Directors
shall, on the requisition of Shareholder(s) who, at the date of the deposit
of the requisition, holds not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital
of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company, proceed duly to convene an SGM of the Company.

The requisition must state the purposes of the SGM and must be signed
by the requisitionists and deposited to the Board or the Company
Secretary at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong at
Suite 506, ICBC Tower, 3 Garden Road, Central, Hong Kong, and may
consist of several documents in like form each signed by one or more
requisitionists.

The request of intention to propose a resolution will be verified by the
Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong (the “Branch Share
Registrar”). Upon confirmation from the Branch Share Registrar, the
Company Secretary will present to the Board for their approval on the
inclusion of the proposed resolution in the SGM.

If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of the deposit of the
requisition proceed duly to convene an SGM, the requisitionists, or any
of them representing more than one half of the total voting rights of all of
them, may convene an SGM themselves, but any meeting so convened
shall not be held after the expiration of three months from the aforesaid
date of the deposit of requisition.

The Procedures for Sending Enquiries to the Board

The enquiries must be in writing with the detailed contact information of
the requisitionists and deposited to the Board or the Company Secretary
at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong at Suite 5086,
ICBC Tower, 3 Garden Road, Central, Hong Kong. The Company wil
endeavour to respond to requisitionists’ enquires in a timely manner.
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The Procedures for Making Proposals at
Shareholders’ Meetings

If a Shareholder wishes to put forward proposals at the AGM/SGM
which is to be held, such Shareholder should submit a written notice of
the proposal with his/her detailed contact information to the Company
Secretary at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong
at Suite 506, ICBC Tower, 3 Garden Road, Central, Hong Kong. The
request of intention to propose a resolution will be verified by the Branch
Share Registrar. Upon confirmation from the Branch Share Registrar, the
Company Secretary will present to the Board for their approval on the
inclusion of the proposed resolution in the AGM/SGM.

The notice period to be given to all Shareholders for consideration of the
proposal raised by the Shareholders concerned at the AGM/SGM varies
according to the nature of the proposal, which is as follows:

° At least 14 clear days’ notice (the notice period must include 10
business days and excludes the date of the notice and the date
of the meeting) in writing if the proposal constitutes an ordinary
resolution of the Company.

° At least 21 clear days’ notice (the notice period must include 20
business days and excludes the date of the notice and the date
of the meeting) in writing if the proposal constitutes a special
resolution of the Company in the SGM or an ordinary resolution of
the Company in the AGM.

The Procedures that Shareholders Can Use to
Propose a Person for Election as a Director

Other than a retiring director, any person who is not recommended by
the Board shall not be eligible to be elected as a director at any general
meeting, unless notice in writing of the intention to propose that person
for election as a director and notice in writing by that person of his/her
willingness to be elected (including that person’s biographical details
as required by Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules) have been lodged to
the Company Secretary at the Company’s principal place of business in
Hong Kong at Suite 506, ICBC Tower, 3 Garden Road, Central, Hong
Kong at least 7 days before the date of the general meeting. As required
by the provisions of the Company’s Bye-Laws, the period for lodging
notices will commence no earlier than the day after the despatch of the
notice of the general meeting appointed for such election and end no
later than 7 days prior to the date of such general meeting. If the notice
is received less than 10 clear business days prior to the date of such
general meeting, the Company will need to consider adjourning such
general meeting in order to allow the Shareholders to have 14 days’
notice (the notice period must include 10 clear business days) of the
proposal.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

Richly Field China Development Limited (‘Richly Field”, together with
its subsidiaries, collectively “the Group”) is principally engaged in
outlets commercial operation, development and operation of featured
commercial properties and development of high-end residential
properties. In pursuit of being a diversified property developer defining
quality of life, we are committed to developing quality properties
complemented with excellent property management services.

This is our second Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the
“ESG Report” or the “Report”), covering the period from 1 April 2016
to 31 March 2017 (the “Reporting Period”), with an aim to outline
our approaches, commitments and strategies to the sustainability
development. Unless otherwise stated, this report focuses mainly on
the sustainability performance and initiatives of our operating Changsha
Outlets Project (the “Changsha Projects”) in Changsha, Hunan Province,
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), which comprises both
commercial and residential properties. The Report has been prepared in
accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Environmental, Social
and Governance Reporting Guide set out in Appendix 27 to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules”).

We welcome any feedbacks and opinions with regard to this report
and our sustainability performance. Please send us your comments to
esg@richlyfield.com.

KEY PROJECT OVERVIEW

Located in Changsha, Hunan Province in the PRC, Changsha Outlets
Project is an integrated commercial and residential property project
consisting of (i) Outlets Town and (i) Globe Outlets Center.

Qutlets Town is a low density living place built with high-end Spanish-
style bungalows while Globe Outlets Center is a shopping mall with over
160 stores offering more than 200 brands, including international fashion
stores, restaurants, five-star cinema, amusement park and household
furniture showroom, making it the largest diversified shopping center in
the local area.
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OUR APPROACH TO SUSTAINABILITY

Our corporate culture “pursuing quality with versatility”, a driving principle
that underpins our approach to sustainability, best describes our
commitment to being a responsible corporate citizen as we continuously
seek ways to better serve our stakeholders. We opine that sustainable
development not only encapsulates our environmental performance
but is also rooted in our core business practices and our relationship
with our shareholders, employees, users and suppliers. To achieve
sustainable growth, we are dedicated to integrating environmental, social
and governance considerations into the way we operate our businesses
with an aim to be a positive force to our environment and the wider
community. Details of our management approach in environmental and
social aspects can be found in the corresponding sections of this Report.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

Understanding the views of our stakeholders lays a solid foundation to
our long-term business success and continuous social responsibility
commitment. We listen to a broad spectrum of stakeholders in order
to provide them with the opportunity to express their views on our
sustainability performance and future strategies. To reinforce mutual trust
and respect, we are committed to maintaining ongoing engagement, both
formally and informally, with stakeholders to enable us to better shape
our business strategies to respond to their needs and expectations,
anticipate risks and strengthen key relationships. We have identified
employees, customers (including residents, commercial building tenants
and end customers of our Globe Outlets Center), shareholders and
investors, business partners, governments, NGOs and community as
our key stakeholder groups. The information collected throughout the
stakeholder engagement process serves as an essential underlying basis
for formulation of our sustainable development strategy as well as the
structure of this Report.
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WORKPLACE QUALITY

Our employees are intrinsic to our success. We spare no effort to create
a pleasant working environment to unleash their full potential. To embrace
the “people-orientation” corporate culture, our people share a common
aspiration to be the very best. We are committed to respecting human
rights across our business. As at 31 March 2017, we had a total of
184 employees* of which there were 109 and 75 male and female staff
members respectively. 100% of our staff was employed on full-time
basis. The vast majority of over 90% of total employees was stationed in
mainland China.
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Talent Acquisition and Retention

We aim to use our recruitment process to identify and attract the best
qualified candidates at all levels. Annual recruitment plan is formulated
and positions are filled up according to the “Internal first, External later”
principle to provide internal transfer opportunities for exiting staff. We also
recruit external candidates by company website, recruitment website,
talent market, newspaper and media, head hunter and staff referral.
We strive to maintain the highest level of fairness and transparency
throughout recruitment and promotion process and only assess potential
candidates and existing employees based on their educational level, job
experience, communication skills and personal quality.

Remuneration and Benefits

We earnestly implement comprehensive transparent human resources
policies to foster a workplace where our people can be recognized and
rewarded. For our staff in China, we abide by the Labor Law of the PRC
for welfare protection by contributing to five social insurances (Pension,
Medical Insurance, Unemployment Insurance, Maternity Insurance, and
Occupational Injury Insurance) and a housing fund ( F & —% ) . Besides,
we offer a wide array of fridge benefits such as share options, festival
bonus, marriage bonus, birthday gift, maternity bonus, condolence
money, sickness allowance and annual body check.

Equal Opportunities and Diversity

Our strength lies in diversity. We strive to create a pleasant and
harmonious workplace for our people by protecting them from bias,
discrimination and harassment. All potential candidates and current
employees are treated fairly regardless of their nationality, sex, marital
status, race, religion, belief, age, disability, background, personality and
work style. Promotion is based on performance of the employees. We
require our staff to conform to our anti-discrimination practices outlined in
our Employee Code of Conduct.
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Upholding Employee Rights

In accordance with applicable labor laws including Labour Contract
Law in the PRC, our employee handbook sets out the standard working
hours, paid leaves, rest periods, and dismissal policy to safeguard the
rights of our people which has been regularly reviewed. We adopt a
zero tolerance approach to unethical labor practices including but not
limited to forced labor and child labor. New employees are required to
provide their identity cards to avoid the use of child labor. We adopt a
standard working hour of 8 hours a day for five days in a week. We do
not encourage overtime work and employees should not work over 40
hours in a week. In case of necessary overtime, employees are required
to submit the Overtime Work Application Form and only if the application
is approved shall the staff work overtime. Overtime work is compensated
by leaves to be arranged within 3 months.

Occupational Health and Safety

The physical and psychological well-being of our people is our legal
and moral responsibility. We ensure our Occupational Health and Safety
Policy satisfies the multitude of needs at our business in compliance
with relevant regulations. A comprehensive Occupational Health Program
is introduced to identify occupational health hazards, carry out risk
assessment in work place, implement control measures and organize
seminars and workshops. We provide regular training to equip them
with the necessary knowledge and skills for their operational duties to
ensure all workers strictly follow the measures set out in our Work Safety
Guidelines. With our constant efforts in the improving occupational health
and safety, absence of work-related accidents and causalities cases was
reported in the past 4 years.
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Employee Training and Development

We identify, develop and deploy talented staff to ensure a robust supply
of high-caliber individuals with the knowledge, skills and experience
required. Our training and development strategies are formulated based
on the principles of “economy, practicality, effectiveness and diversity”
catering to the actual needs of employees. A wide array of both online
and offline internal and external training programs for our employees
including new employee orientation, technical skills, and professional
knowledge and management skills have been offered. Besides, we
encourage and support staff to pursue further degrees and other
certificates for qualification upgrade. The learning credit management
scheme has been running throughout the years to promote continual
development and set up role model for others. The best learner awards
would be presented to the most outstanding performers from time to time
for the acknowledgement of their hard work, we ensure the effectiveness
and practicality of our training courses through performance appraisal
and continuous evaluation. During the Reporting Period, a total of
approximately 4,026 training hours was recorded.

Some of the training courses held during the year:

> New Employee Orientation

> Training on company policies and rules

> Financial training for management

> Training on administrative, financial and internal control systems, etc
> Training on the Listing Rules of Hong Kong Stock Exchange
> Safety training

> Fire prevention training

> Production safety and relevant laws and regulations

> Training on emergency issues

> Training on property selling skills

> Store management skill

> Business etiquette and business writing training
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Work-life Balance

We take a proactive approach in organizing staff engaging activities.
Various team building activities offered valuable opportunities for staff to
bond, thereby promoting team spirit and boosting staff morale and loyalty.
During the Reporting Period, 84 staff members participated in Qianlonghu
team building camp to enhance staff cohesion.
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SUSTAINABLE CONSTRUCTION AND OPERATION

To fulfill our mission of environmental protection and conservation, we
have been dedicated to incorporating green elements into every aspect
of our construction and operation. We ensure our constructions and
operations are abide by stringent national regulatory requirements, as
well as the requirements described in the approved Environmental Impact
Assessment (“EIA”) report.

Sustainable Construction

Environmental considerations are integral to our building design and
material selection. We have made reference to national standard
“Design Standard for Energy Efficiency of Public Buildings” when it
comes to building design to minimize energy consumption. We ensure
our buildings in appropriate orientation for good use of daylight with
natural ventilation. We adopt autoclaved aerated concrete (AAC) for
the facade, environmental-friendly polyphenylene sulfide (PPS) plate
exclusive for heat insulation system of exterior wall and aerated blocks
for interior wall. Besides, greening initiatives have been incorporated
into our project design in which greening ratio is expected to exceed
40% after completion. Our project does not contain any glazing to avoid
serious light pollution. To reduce carbon emission, harmless, organic
and environmentally-friendly materials are selected during fitting out.
QOur projects begin with an extensive review of potential sites to locate
our projects in areas with the least conflicts on natural ecosystems
and biodiversity by comprehensive Environmental Impact Assessment.
Changsha Outlets Project abides by the National Industrial Policy and the
urban planning requirements of the Government.

We are obliged to shoulder the responsibility to minimize the impact on
environment and community during the construction of our development
projects. We consult the community through public engagement.
Information about the project would be displayed at the construction site
and on the Internet. We welcome feedback from the public via various
communication channels such as email and hotline to our project team
while the local community representatives were invited for interview and
site visit.
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QOur environmental management system helps to ensure the
environmental performances of our construction project are in compliance
with national requirements. With reference to the Environmental
Protection Law, the “three simultaneities” system has been adopted
where the supplementary measures for control of pollution and
other public nuisances brought by the construction project must be
simultaneous with the main projects in their design, construction and
operation stages. We also make sure the approval of the completion
acceptance of environmental protection facilities and pollutant discharge
permits have been obtained prior to the commencement of the project.

Noise Pollution

Noise is generated from operations of machines and equipment. While
there is no residential area nearby the construction sites, the impact of
noise pollution is minimal. We are obligated to work under the national
permitted working hours. With regular measurement and monitoring of
the noise produced, we are able to control the noise within an acceptable
range of decibel (dB) and hence mitigate the impact to surrounding
citizens.

Air Pollution

To minimize the generation of waste gas and dust in the course of
construction, we require our contractors to ensure the emission from
their work process comply with national standards. We require ourselves
and our contractors to comply with environmental protection laws and
regulations including but not limited to Environmental Protection Law
of the PRC and Atmospheric Pollution Prevention and Control Law of
the PRC. Major pollutants are nitrogen dioxide (NO2), total suspended
particulates (TSP) and dust. Through selection of better building
materials, sprinkling in the air, controlling the maximum velocity of the
vehicles and cleaning the wheels of the vehicles entering and leaving the
construction site, the dust and TSP are reduced to acceptable level under
effective management.

Solid Waste

Solid wastes produced during construction include sand, cement, wood
scrape, broken wood, abandoned cement, waste fiber, broken glass,
metal scrape and ceramic tile. Various measures, especially a recycling
plan pursuant to which we recycled some useful materials for backfill and
road construction, have been implemented. For non-recyclable materials,
we sort properly and send them to specified municipals for further
treatment.
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Sewage Management

In our project, the sewage is discharged from cleaning of vehicles and
equipment as well as wastewater from construction procedures. All
sewage is collected and gone through sedimentation treatment before it
is discharged to municipal wastewater pipe network.

Sustainable Operation

We understand that environmental awareness of our staff is essential
for our sustainable business development. We strive to reduce the use
of resources and Greenhouse gas emissions in our daily operation. We
follow all relevant legal requirements and standards and closely monitor
the environmental performances of the operating project with a data
record system to keep track of: (i) information about the discharge of
pollutants; (i) information about the pollutant treatment facilities, and
their use, operation and management; (i) the pollutant monitoring and
analytical methods; and (iv) information about accidents and related
records. The pollution incident reporting system is also adopted to
report environmental hazards to the ministry of environmental protection
to minimize possible damage to the environment and to ensure timely
identification of the source of the pollution for mediation.

Energy Consumption Management

Energy consumption is one of the major sources of environmental
impacts. This year, we continued our participation in Earth Hour playing
a part in the promotion of sustainability. To conserve energy in our daily
operations, we have been implementing the following measures during
the Reporting Period:

o Implementation of roof greening projects

° Acquisition of high efficiency construction machines

° Implementation of control on the use of lighting and air-conditioning

° Termination of idle lighting, power-consuming facilities (e.g. printers)
and machinery

° Replacing lighting with more efficient tubes

o Make use of natural light
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° Activation of “sleeping mode” or completely switch off when
computers are not in use

° Installation of energy-saving chillers in air-conditioning units

° Provision of hot water by utilizing the residual heat of cooking
facilities

Water Consumption Management

We manage water use across our operation with the aim of achieving
water efficiency. We take initiative to conserve water resources in daily
operations through the following measures:

° Introduction of high efficiency flush fixtures
° Installation of sensor faucets

° Termination of water supply at night and during holiday at office
areas

o Timely maintenance on leaking faucets and pipes

° Recycling of waste water for dust minimization, street washing,
vehicle tires cleaning and plants irrigation

° Regular monitoring on water consumption
° Installation of water conservation reminding labels

Waste Management

We are committed to reducing waste in our daily operation. We provide
appropriate waste and recycling receptacles and facilities and encourage
our tenants, customers and residents to implement waste classification.
We also employ licensed parirs to collect food waste regularly for
decomposition and reuse.
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COMMITMENT TO CUSTOMERS

Richly Field has been following relevant national and industry regulations
to safeguard the information rights of our customers. The Sales
Management Handbook has been established to make sure all our
marketing and information materials comply with the requirements
including but not limited to, Regulatory Measures on the Sale of
Commercial Houses (% o /F #5 & EE#1)%) , The Measures for the
Management of Advance Sale of Urban Commercial Houses (3 T 7 f
EFEEEEHEEL) , Urban Real Estate Administration Law of the People’s
Republic of China (FF#E AR LMBEM H B ES L), Regulations
on the Administration of Exploitation and Operation of Urban Real Estate
(kT 55t 2= FA B A & B 12 ) , Advertisements Law of the People’s
Republic of China (FZE AR HEFBEE %), Anti-Unfair Competition
Law of the People’s Republic of China (Fh#E A R HAMBEI N N IEE 55
&), such that transparent and detailed information of our properties is
given throughout the sales process. We also distribute handbooks listing
detailed fitting and fixtures guidelines to our tenants during the leasing
process. Our business does not involve any labelling.

Customer Data Protection

We spare no effort to protect customer data. The Confidentiality Policy
has outlined our expectation on employees regarding confidentiality
and any leakage of customer data is strictly prohibited. There were no
substantiated complaints regarding breaches of customer privacy or
losses of customer data during the Reporting Period.

Health and Safety

Meanwhile, we protect the health and safety of our customers through a
systematic approach. In particular, we conduct general risk assessment
and regular inspections in all our properties to identify any health and
safety risks to the property users. We also enhance the health and safety
of our customers through provision of first aid boxes and organizing
comprehensive emergency drills.
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Quality Assurance

To be a diversified property developer shaping quality of life, we construct
state-of-the-art buildings, offer superior property management services
and carry out routine maintenance so as to create an integrated and
safe community. As a reliable and conscientious property developer, we
shoulder the responsibility to control and assure our high level of quality
and safety throughout all aspects of our business. By means of collecting
feedbacks and suggestions from tenants and residents, we incorporate
feedbacks into our building quality controls and assurance procedures.
We continue to look for ways to enhance our products and services in
order to create impeccable customer experiences.

Significant quality control and assurance procedures at all stages of the
project:
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OPERATIONAL PRACTICES

We believe best practices in operational management are one of the
successful keys to sustainable development and growth. Our qualities
of integrity, honesty and fairness have also been reflected in our Code
of Business Conduct, our Employee Code of Conduct, our supply chain
management, our environmental protection practices and our product
assurance.

Supply Chain Management

Since our incorporation, we have been dedicated to doing business
with honesty and integrity in stringent compliance with applicable local
laws and regulations. By the same token, we expect our suppliers to
operate in a manner that demonstrates best practices in connection
with environmental and social matters as how we work with them has
a significant impact on the quality of our products and services and
our reputation. Our Supplier Code of Conduct has clearly set out our
expectations on suppliers for environmental, social and ethical standards
including but not limited to treating their employees fairly, maintaining a
safe and healthy workplace, upholding strong business ethics. Suppliers
are required to act according to the code of conduct before entering into
cooperation with us.

Through continuous evaluation, we ensure our suppliers including
contractors understand their duties and responsibilities through
sophisticated planning, management and supervision of all work carried
out by their workers. Appropriate instructions and regular trainings are
provided to the workers. Only qualified, trained, skillful and experienced
workers are allowed to work at the construction sites. With all the
measures fully implemented, we promote a harmless and safe work
environment and mitigate the impacts to the environment.

Anti-Corruption and Bribery Avoidance

The Group maintains a zero-tolerance approach to criminal activities
such as bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering. In an effort to
maintain high standards of integrity and honesty amongst our people, the
Employee Code of Conduct has formulated the standards and guidelines
on anti-corruption and bribery that our employees are expected to
follow. No cases of corruption were recorded during the Reporting
Period. In event of employees acting against our principles and policies,
we have no hesitation to take action after serious investigation by the
committee. We shoulder the responsibility of serving the community with
ethics, compliance and integrity by means of better management and
transparent policies.
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BUILDING FOR OUR COMMUNITY ERBPNLE

Volunteer Opportunities 2 IR%

Our commitment to building integrated communities is reflected in our AR AR EFE N FE T 0 kBT M
strong company-wide volunteer culture. For instance, during the Chong #H IR B R AT ENES -flnE - T
Yang Festival in 2016, our volunteer team visited the Xing Cheng Zhen —NEEBRHHHE RPN ZE T EKEFH
Elderly Home and prepared Chinese traditional dumplings for the elderly. 2 W EHRER T AEZFAEETPHER
The old were delighted to chat with the volunteers while our volunteers BT - ZF A BRI EE TH X -

also had a good time to show care to the elderly by bringing joy and M E THE L A BB XA BXERE
happiness to them. HEFANBE -
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Rif - HH8REGIRS

Charitable Donations
During the Reporting Period, a member of the company unfortunately had
his house destroyed by the devastating flood. To assist him to rebuild his
home, we organized a fundraising project to sponsor his acquisition of
new furniture and living necessities. The project demonstrated loving care
and team spirit of the Group.
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SEHK ESG REPORTING GUIDE INDEX BMIMEBRE HeRERFEIES
=]

Chapter/Disclosure Page
ERE E¥

A. Environmental
A RIE

Aspect Al: Emissions

BEAT K

General Disclosure Sustainable P.49-P.52

— B Construction and $498 F
Operation 528

Information on: AFERESREE

BRBEREBEREHEN MAKRTHAEES EEREEEREVNELES

Hy

S

the policies; and

156 )3

=

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste.

b EFTHBTAGEAZENRBEIZRAGINES -
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Chapter/Disclosure Page

BB EH

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

BHEA2 : ERMEA

General Disclosure Sustainable P.49-P.52

—RRIEER Construction and F49H 2
Operation 528

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and other raw A #5482 3% N & 48

materials.

ERERER (BIER KR EARME) BB -

Note: Resources may be used in production, in storage, transportation, in

buildings, electronic equipment, etc.

HoBERAIARAEE 7 W BT BTRES-

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

BHEAS  RERKXAER

General Disclosure Sustainable P.49-P.52

—BH = Construction and F498 F
Operation 528

Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impact on the environment and AFEESREE

natural resources.

BIEETABRERRRERERERFZENBOR -
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Chapter/Disclosure Page

5/ RE BE®

B. Social

B.Hg

Employment and Labour Practices

BREERETIESR

Aspect B1: Employment
EEB1 : &R

General Disclosure Workplace Quality P.44-P46,
— MR ITERREER P48

FA4E
Information on: 468
EETHEAEE BEREMA TERS BRE FEHe Zol RER 488
VA B B A 155 38 Jo A8 9

o

S

the policies; and

BE: R

=

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment
and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity,
anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.

) BTFHBTAFEATENHEBEZRBRIINEER -

Aspect B2: Health and Safety

BEB2 . BREHEZRE

General Disclosure Occupational Health P.46

—E R and Safety F46H
BREERLZ S

Information on:

FRRHZ2TEREMREREEECBEEREN:

S

the policies; and

B &

=

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer. relating to providing a safe working environment
and protecting employees from occupational hazards.

b EFTEBTAGEAFENRBEIRZRRIINES -
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Chapter/Disclosure Page

5 RE B
Aspect B3: Development and Training
fEEB3 : #EREI
General Disclosure Employee Training P47
— MR and Development $ATH

EEEIIRER
Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging duties
at work. Description of training activities.

BRRITEEETT TERE M MB LR - f iz 7S

Aspect B4: Labour Standards
fEHEB4 : 8 T %A

General Disclosure Upholding Employee P.46
— MR EE Rights F468
HEESER

Information on:

(@  the policies; and
(a HXR: X

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to preventing child and forced labour.

b) BTHBTABEAZENHEBZZRAMNNER-
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Chapter/Disclosure Page

5 BB EH

Operating Practices

&EEN

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

[EmEB5 : ftREHEEE

General Disclosure Operational PEB

— MR Practices Supply 558
Chain Management

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain. =B 15

EIRME SR IRIE Rt g E R IEUR o HrEsEE R

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

[EEB6 : EmEE

General Disclosure Commitment to P'53-P54

—RRIRER Customers $53H 2
HEE O AGE 548

Information on:
BEMREERMNERSNERELZE B BEEILESEARBRIE
Ay

(@  the policies; and

(@ BX: X

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling
and privacy matters relating to products and services provided and
methods of redress.

() BETFTHBTAGERAZENHEBEZRBROINELR -
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Chapter/Disclosure Page

5 RE E¥

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption

EBEB7 : RES

General Disclosure Operational BI55

—RRIE R Practices $55H
Anti-corruption and

Information on: Bribery Avoidance

BRAGT ILBRER - B1R  BRGFF RO B - EEEDI
R &5 K R R

(@  the policies; and

() HXR: X

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant

impact on the issuer relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering.

(o) BFHBITABEAZENHBEERBAONER -

Community

HE

Aspect B8: Community Investment

[EEBS : tEBR &

General Disclosure Building for Our P.56-P.57

— MR R Community F568 =
EREFIHER 57H

Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the
communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities take into
consideration the communities’ interests.

AU E2EREREEMEHERFTENBREAEKZHGER LR
T H)BUR
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BBREEFHIR

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Dr. Wang Yucan (“Dr. Wang”)

Dr. Wang, aged 30, was appointed as an executive Director, the
Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, an
authorized representative of the Company under the Listing Rules,
member of the remuneration committee and chairman of the nomination
committee of the Company on 27 April 2017. Dr. Wang is the daughter
of Mr. Wang Hua, a controlling shareholder of the Company within the
meaning of the Listing Rules.

Dr. Wang obtained her bachelor degree of science majoring in business
computer network from the Birmingham City University in 2008 with first
class of honors, her master degree of science majoring in information
system management from Warwick Business School in 2009, and her
doctoral degree majoring in operation and information management from
Aston Business School in 2014.

Since January 2016, Dr. Wang has been serving as a director of Jeshing
Group, president of the new industry, culture and tourism business
department of Jeshing Group and chairman of the board of directors
of Latitude Investment Management Consultancy (Shanghai) Co., Ltd..
During the period from January 2014 to January 2016, Dr. Wang acted as
the director of the brand and information management center of Jeshing
Group.

Dr. Wang is also a director of Fine Bliss Limited, Complete Power
International Limited, Stimulate High Investment Limited and Good
Moral Enterprises Limited which are the substantial shareholders of the
Company as defined under the Listing Rules. She is also a director of
the subsidiaries of the Company, namely Chuang Yu Holdings Limited,
Globe Outlets City Holdings Limited, Globe Outlets City Limited, Mile Gain
Limited, Million Harmony Holdings Limited, Million Harmony Limited, Pilot
Will Holdings Limited, Pilot Will Limited, Profuse Gain Holdings Limited,
Profus Gain Limited, Quality Depot Limited, Richly Field Hainan Holdings
Limited, King Future Holdings Limited and King Future Limited.

HITESE

FTERBEL ([EEHL))

ITHEL 30 R-_E—+FWMA=-++
HEZTAARARNTES EFTEH -
THBEH KRR LEMHRAUEBET ZKE
RE - ARBFHNEZESKERREEZE
CEF - TEHITAARRERBERER(EER
FWRA) FELEENLZT -

ITEEIR -_ZZNFEBRABHTREIN
BEXEBIERBENSENE LB
TA-—FREBEX - R _FTZTNFEER
BAERENEXELRAGEENSENEL
B thih TR ER T —FEMHETE
HERELRELEENFHE LM

BE-ZE—AF—AZES ITEITETESE
SEES cREETEEMIKSE X
BYFRLEREERER(LE)BRAA
CEER"B-R-_ZE—NF—ARE_Z%
—R"F-AHE TELIEAeREER
fREE B EREALAAE —B -

TBLHRARENRARAR 21BEAR
RERHEREBERAARERBEEAR
RAIZES ZERAREARAETERR
(EERLEMHRR) - ENABARFMER
AIZESE AAMERERAR - BEFRHA
WRBZEITINWIERBR QA - BEFHRA
tRREFNERLA  ERBRRAF 8
BIERBRAT BHARIR  REZR
ERAF BREARAAF BRERARR
ACEBERAERLA mEARAF #HHE
MEBRERAR HRERAERAR LM
RARRQA-



Biographical Details of Directors

EFEEFS

Mr. Ma Jun (“Mr. Ma”)

Mr. Ma, aged 56, was re-designated as an executive Director of the
Company on 9 September 2016 and has been appointed as Deputy
Chairman of the Board on 27 April 2017. Mr. Ma has extensive
experience in large, diversified enterprises in management, corporate
strategic planning and brand marketing roles. Mr. Ma graduated from
Nanjing University with a bachelor’s degree in law, and obtained from
Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business an Executive Master of
Business Administration degree. Mr. Ma is currently a director of Nanjing
Jeshing International Home Furnishing Management Co. Ltd.* (5 R & 8%
HRREMSLEEERHR AR ) and Latitude Investment Management
Consultancy (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.. From January 1980 to October 1984,
Mr. Ma served as an inspector at Jiangsu Import and Export Commodity
Inspection Bureau. Thereafter, until September 2000, Mr. Ma served as a
reporter, deputy director of the editorial office and a deputy director of city
channel at Jiangsu Broadcasting Corporation respectively.

Mr. Ma is also a director of Fine Bliss Limited and Good Moral Enterprises
Limited which are the substantial shareholders of the Company as
defined under the Listing Rules and the persons who have an interest
or short position in the shares and underlying shares of the Company
which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Li Yi Feng (“Mr. Li”)

Mr. Li, aged 54, was re-designated as non-executive Director of the
company on 9 September 2016. He has extensive experience in
construction planning, design, real estate and commercial properties.
Mr. Li obtained his Master’s degree in Architecture from Xi'an Institute
of Metallurgy and Construction Engineering (now renamed as Xi'an
University of Architecture and Technology). In addition, Mr. Li obtained his
certificate of completion from Ontario Real Estate College ( ZZ A& Eith
EEET ) in Canada. Since 1985, Mr. Li has been engaging in architecture
teaching, architecture study and design work. Since 2002, Mr. Li
successively joined Homelife (Canada) and RE/MAX (Canada), offering
consultancy services on residential and commercial property investments.
Mr. Li joined the Company in early 2009 as the chief design officer. Since
2011, Mr. Li has served as the director of Richly Field (Beijing) Investment
Consulting Co., Ltd* (#8H=E®EE (It R)IZREEEFRARF]), is the
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company.
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EFEEFE

Mr. Chen Wei (“Mr. Chen”)

Mr. Chen, aged 44, was appointed as a non-executive Director of
the Company on 17 December 2013. He has extensive experience in
aspects related to project planning and construction management. Mr.
Chen graduated from Jinling Vocational University* (< % B % K 22)
studying in decoration and construction management. Mr. Chen has
been engaging in construction management since 1996 and has been
the chairman of Nanjing First Construction Engineering Group Company
Limited* (B & —E2ETIREE AR A 7)) since 2008.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Ms. Hsu Wai Man Helen (“Ms. Hsu”)

Ms. Hsu, aged 47, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director of the Company on 21 November 2013 and has been the
chairman of the audit and remuneration committees of the Company
since 28 January 2014. She has over 20 years’ experience in accounting.
Ms. Hsu graduated from The Chinese University of Hong Kong with a
bachelor degree in business administration. Ms. Hsu had been working
with Ernst & Young for 18 years and was a partner of Ernst & Young
before she retired from the firm in February 2011.

Ms. Hsu is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a member of the American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.

Ms. Hsu is currently an independent non-executive director of Perfect
Shape Beauty Technology Limited (stock code: 1830), Branding China
Group Limited (stock code: 863) and China Display Optoelectronics
Technology Holdings Limited (stock code: 334).

Ms. Hsu serves as: (a) an independent non-executive director of Titan
Petrochemicals Group Ltd. (stock code: 1192) from December 2015 to
May 2016; (b) an independent non-executive director of China Kingstone
Mining Holdings Limited (stock code: 1380) from July 2015 to December
2015; (c) an independent director of SGOCO Group, Ltd. (stock code:
SGOCQC) from April 2013 to December 2015; (d) an independent non-
executive director of Fujian Nuogi Co., Ltd. (stock code: 1353) from June
2013 to September 2015; and (e) an independent non-executive director
of China Forestry Holdings Co., Ltd. (stock code: 930), which has been
delisted, from July 2011 to June 2015. All the aforesaid companies are
or were listed on the Stock Exchange except that the shares of SGOCO
Group, Ltd. (stock code: SGOC) were listed on the National Association
of Securities Dealers Automated Quotations (“NASDAQ”) Stock Market.
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Mr. Chau Shing Yim David (“Mr. Chau”)

Mr. Chau, aged 53, an independent non-executive Director of the
Company. He has over 20 years of experience in corporate finance,
covering projects ranging from initial public offering transactions and
restructuring of PRC enterprises to cross-border and domestic takeover
transactions. Mr. Chau was formerly a partner of one of the big four
accounting firms in Hong Kong, holding the position as their Head of
Merger and Acquisition and Corporate Advisory. He is a director of the
Hong Kong Securities Institute, a members of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of England and Wales (ICAEW”), and was granted the
Corporate Finance Qualification of ICAEW, and is a member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (‘HKICPA”), and was an ex-
committee member of the Disciplinary Panel of HKICPA. Mr. Chau is the
member of Jinan Municipal Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultation Conference (“CPPCC”) and Hospital Governing Committee
of Pamela Youde Nethersole Eastern Hospital on 1 April 2017.

Mr. Chau is currently an independent non-executive director of Man Wah
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1999), Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing
Limited (Stock Code: 2314), China Evergrande Group (Stock Code:
33833), Evergrande Health Industry Group Limited (Stock Code:
708), Heng Ten Networks Group Limited (Stock Code: 136) and IDG
Energy Investment Group Limited (Stock Code: 650) and Asia Grocery
Distribution Limited (Stock Code: 8413). All the aforesaid companies are
listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

Mr. Chau was also an executive director of China Solar Energy Holdings
Limited (Stock Code: 155) from May 2015 to June 2015, an independent
non-executive director of Up Energy Development Group Limited (Stock
Code: 307) from June 2013 to September 2015, and independent non-
executive director of Varitronix International Limited (Stock Code: 710)
from July 2009 to June 2016. All the aforesaid companies are listed on
the Stock Exchange.
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Mr. Xu Jinghong (“Mr. Xu”)

Mr. Xu, aged 49, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director of the Company on 1 April 2014. He graduated from Tianjin
Polytechnic University (formerly known as Tianjin Institute Of Textile
Science and Technology) with a bachelor’'s degree in mechanical
manufacturing technology and equipment. In addition, Mr. Xu completed
a course of management science and engineering for postgraduate
research students in Nanjing University. Mr. Xu is currently studying
an Executive Master of Business Administration programme at Fudan
University. Mr. Xu had served as the general manager of Nanjing Yuexing
International Home Square Limited* (R R A 2B REESHRAF])
and the general manager of the Furniture Centre at Nanjing Golden Eagle
International Shopping Centre Group Limited* (R & EEEEY EEH
R AFIRIESF L), and the chairman of Nanjing Meitu Furniture Company
Limited* (B REBREABR A F]) . Mr. Xu is currently the vice president
of the association of home decoration of the china federation of industry
and commerce* (2B T B REEMEREE ), the vice chairman of
the Market Committee of China Furniture Association* ( F B{R1E &
#$Z 8%), the honorary president of Guangdong Furniture Chamber Of
Commerce* (EREFREFETLEGER) , the chairman of Xiamen Meitu
Mei Network Technology Company Limited* (B P93 Bl =84 R AR
/2 A)) and the vice president of the Xiyingmen Group* (EZ&FIE® ) .

* For identification purpose only
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Share Option Scheme
RefxiEst 3l

SHARE OPTIONS OF THE COMPANY

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) on 2
November 2009, details of which were disclosed in the Company’s
circular dated 15 October 2009 and are set out in note 34 to the financial
statements. Particulars of the Scheme are set out below:

1. Purpose of the Scheme

The purpose of the Scheme is to recruit and retain high caliber
Eligible Persons (as defined below) that are valuable to the Group
or any entity in which any member of the Group holds an equity
interest (“Invested Entity” or “Invested Entities”), to recognize the
significant contributions of the Eligible Persons to the growth of the
Group by rewarding them with opportunities to obtain ownership
interest in the Company and to give incentives to the eligible
participants to continue in contributing to the long term success
and prosperity of the Group.

2. Eligible Persons

Any employee (whether full time or part time), senior executive
or officer, manager, executive director, non-executive director
(including independent non-executive director) of the Group or
any Invested Entity who, in the sole discretion of the Board, has
contributed or will contribute to the growth and development of the
Group or any Invested Entity.

3. Maximum Number of Shares Available for Issue

The total number of shares in respect of which share options
may be granted under the Scheme and any other share option
schemes of the Company must not in aggregate exceed 10% of
the total number of shares in issue of the Company as at the date
upon which the Scheme takes effect in accordance with its terms
(“Scheme Mandate”).

The Company may seek approval by the Shareholders in general
meeting for refreshing the Scheme Mandate provided that the
total number of shares in respect of which share options may be
granted under the Scheme and any other share option schemes of
the Company under the Scheme Mandate as refreshed must not
exceed 10% of the total number of shares in issue of the Company
as at the date of the Shareholders’ approval.
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The limit on the number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding share options granted and yet to be
exercised under the Scheme and any other share option schemes
of the Company must not exceed 30% of the shares in issue from
time to time. No share options may be granted if such grant will
result in this 30% limit being exceeded.

As at the date of this annual report, no shares of the Company
available for issue under the Scheme.

As at 31 March 2017, no share options were exercisable.

Maximum Entitlement of Each Eligible Person

The total number of shares of the Company issued and to be
issued upon exercise of share options (whether exercised or
outstanding) granted in any 12-month period to:

(i) each Eligible Person must not exceed 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue;

(i) a substantial Shareholder or an independent non-executive
Director of the Company must not exceed 0.1% of the shares
of the Company in issue and not exceed HK$5 million in
aggregate value.

Any further grant of share options in excess of the above limit shall
be subject to the Shareholders’ approval.

Period within Which the Shares Must be Taken
up under an Option

An option must be exercised within ten years from the date on
which it is granted or such shorter period as the Board may specify
at the time of grant.
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Minimum Period, if any, for Which an Option 6. BREZSEEFAHR (MH)
Must be Held

At the time of the grant of an option, the Board must specify the ETHEREN EFgBAETERE
minimum period(s), if any, for which an option must be held before it ATTEAERSEABRSEZERE
can be exercised. 2R ER (mE) -

Period Open for Acceptance of an Option and 7. UEMABREIHRREZERRGE
Amount Payable Upon Acceptance 28

An offer of the grant of an option shall remain open for acceptance REERT BREESRLEKZTHE
for a period of twenty business days from the date of offer and B TEEXBRNATTER TFER
consideration of HK$1.0 must be paid upon acceptance. EMEREZANRETI.OBT-

Basis for Determining the Subscription Price an 8. BRERBEZETEE

Option

The exercise price must be at least the higher of:

(i) the closing price of the shares as stated in daily quotations
sheet on the Stock Exchange on the date of grant;

(i)  the average closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five trading days

immediately preceding the date of grant; and

(i) the nominal value of a share.
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RIBRHARR At 8 2 HIR

9. Remaining Life/Duration of the Scheme 9.

The Scheme has a life of ten years and will expire on 1 November ZEEAABTF UBERZZE—NF
2019 unless otherwise terminated in accordance with the terms of +—A—BEHH BRIEREZTEZ
the Scheme. (& FR A% 1E BB A1

A total of 283,200,000 share option had been granted under the
scheme in 22 December 2009.

4 $£283,200,00017 B8 P& # 2 1B #5 #%
FER—_EENNF+A =+ =-BE

Notes: P 5E -

BEERA TRz BB RTERFRERR
(EE R T ZERBERZIATAME

The share options will be vested and exercisable subject to the attainment of the
Performance Target (as defined below) during the following period in the following
manner:

the first 25% of the share options granted were vested on the date
of results announcement for the year ended 31 March 2011 in which
Performance Target was met and the exercise period for this tranche
is from the date of results announcement for the year ending 31 March
2011 to 21 December 2015;

the second 25% of the share options granted were lapsed on the date
of results announcement for the year ended 31 March 2012 in which
Performance Target was not met;

the third 25% of the share options granted were lapsed on the date
of results announcement for the year ended 31 March 2013 in which
Performance Target was not met;

the final 25% of the share options granted were lapsed on the date
of results announcement for the year ending 31 March 2014 in which
Performance Target was not met;

upon completion of the open offer, the outstanding share options and the
exercise price was adjusted with effect from 11 August 2015; and

For the twelve month ended 31 March 2017 (including as at the
beginning and as at the end of such period), no share options had been
granted, exercised, lapsed or cancelled and there was no share option
granted to eligible period under the scheme which was outstanding.
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10.

Further details of the Scheme are set out in note 34.

The vesting of the share options is subject to the achievement
of the rate of return on equity of the Group of not less than 12%
(“Performance Target”) for each of the financial years ending 31
March 2011, 2012, 2013 and 2014 respectively based on the
reported figures as contained in the annual report of the Group
for the relevant financial year. If the Performance Target is met
in a particular financial year, the share options associated with
that financial year will be vested and can be exercised. If the
Performance Target is not met in a particular financial year, the
share options associated with that financial year will be lapsed
automatically.

Valuation of Share Options

The fair value of each share option granted was estimated on
the date of offer using the Binomial model with the following
assumptions:

Date of offer 22 December 2009

Share price at date of offer HK$0.425
Exercise price HK$0.428
Risk-free interest rate 2.017%

Expected dividend : Nil
Expected volatility 76.46%
Expected life (year) 1.3t04.3

Based on the above assumptions, the computed fair value of each
share option was approximately within the range from HK$0.18 to
HK$0.27. The Black-Scholes option pricing model requires input of
highly subjective assumptions, including the expected stock price
volatility. Any changes in the subjective input assumptions may
materially affect the estimation of the fair value of a share option.

10.
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SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
43/F., Lee Garden One

33 Hysan Avenue

Causeway Bay, Hong Kong

ferkPFa
Shine‘ZOing

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF RICHLY FIELD CHINA DEVELOPMENT
LIMITED
HHYEZERERAA
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands and
continued in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Richly Field
China Development Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) set out on pages 84 to 187, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2017, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March
2017, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (‘HKSASs”") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements
which indicate that the Group incurred a net loss of approximately
HK$343,575,000 during the year ended 31 March 2017 and as of that
date, the Group had net current liabilities and a capital deficiency of
HK$588,398,000 and HK$130,585,000 respectively. These conditions,
along with other matters as set forth in note 2.1, indicate the existence of
a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt about the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in
respect of this matter.

OTHER MATTER

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2016 was audited by another auditor who issued a qualified audit
opinion dated 24 June 2016.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters. In addition to the matter described
in the Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern section, we have
determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters to
be communicated in our report.

—- 4
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IMPAIRMENT OF INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND

PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS

Refer to notes 15 and 16 to the consolidated financial statements and the

accounting policies on pages 116,118 and 119.

The key audit matter
HRELEE

Annual Report 2017

REVMERFAN L HEERZRE
|

2HBEMBRERMTIGRIGUARE
116 ~ 1181198 2 G T B % -

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EENERPNMAEEZEE

We identified the impairment of investment properties and
prepaid land lease payments as a key audit matter due
to the significance of the balances to the consolidated
financial statements as a whole, combined with the
significant judgments associated with determining their
recoverable amounts. As disclosed in notes 15 and 16
to the consolidated financial statements, the Group’s
investment properties and prepaid land lease payments
amounted to HK$557,303,000 and HK$1,090,311,000
represented 17% and 34% of the Group’s total assets,
respectively.
EEBREMEREMN T BEER 2 REMA RERE
RER RESHUERESVBEBRREHRCERN &
R EEE E AT U B & 8R0S PSP [ 2 B8 22 Il - S An4R & Bt
BHREMT15RI6HTHKE S BEEIREMERENT
8 & 3 5 5l /£557,303,0007% 7T K. 1,090,311,0007% 7T -
HER BEEEBEEZ17%N34% -

No impairment loss on investments properties and prepaid
land lease payments were recognised in the consolidated
income statement for the year.
FATERGFARERERREMERBN L HWBEER
BB

Details of the valuation techniques and key inputs used in
the valuations are disclosed in note 15 to the consolidated
financial statements. The valuations are dependent on
certain key inputs that involve the management’s and
independent professional property valuers’ judgments,
including market rent, discount rate, annual income and
market observable transactions of similar properties.
HERMAZEFTRMEEZERABFERNGESMBR
KT IRE - HEIARETEFERAB EFILE
BERBIHEZEDMEMEM  HE BERUME LTS
e MRE - FERARTSABERIS -

Our procedures were designed to challenge the impairment
assessment process. We challenged the appropriateness of
key assumptions used in the valuation by reference to the
rental yield, and internal business plans, together with market
and other externally available information. We have also
reconciled the input data to the supporting evidence.
EERTCEFEEERAENERE TEL2EHEW
m R AR A LA RIS REAMIND RIS E R B R
EFAZIZRREERE TEMHREEZHBAER
&
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ASSESSMENT OF THE NET REALISABLE VALUE
OF PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT AND

— ‘. 4

“E—LEFR WHETERRERLR 77

AEEEZMERBELHEZRT
Y32 v BB FRE

COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALES

Refer to notes 20 and 21 to the consolidated financial statements and the

accounting policies on pages 117 and 118.

The key audit matter
HRELEE

2HGEAUBEREM E20R21 A R E117
M118H 2 @ 5HBUK -

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EENERPMAEEZEE

We identified the assessment of the net realisable values of
properties under development and completed properties
held for sale as a key audit matter due to the significant
judgment involved in determining the net realisable values.
EERAEERZYERFELEZ2RIME AT EEF
BRI AEREZEE RAREEEAFRFERIR
BRHIHF o

As disclosed in notes 20 and 21 to the consolidated
financial statements, the Group’s properties under
development and completed properties held for sale
amounted to HK$934,896,000 and HK$431,547,000,
respectively, as at 31 March 2017.

BN S B HRERM 20 R FTHE R —tF= A
=+—H EBSEERVERFELEZERINESR
7$934,896,00078 7T, 2 431,547,000/ T ©

Write-down to net realisable value of properties under
development and completed properties held for sale of nil
and HK$26,808,000 were recognised in profit or loss for
the year.
BEERMERFELE 2R TYEMBEZRFEST
26,808,000/ 7T, - BN F A B 5 A HER o

The Group'’s properties under development and completed
properties held for sale are carried at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. The net realisable value is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business
less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated
costs necessary to make the sale.
EXEBEERMERFELRE Z R TWERK AR ATEI
FEZBEREAR - AIERFERETERBIER 2 fhEt
SERMARTR TR AR RIHERT 2 hat A -

Our procedures were designed to review the management’s
assessment process of the net realisable values of properties
under development and completed properties held for sales.
EERFCREFEERNEEENTEMERFELE 2
T3 A #E5FE 2 E R -

We assessed the reasonableness of the net realisable values
of the completed properties held for sales by comparing the
unit selling prices used by management to contracted selling
prices or recent market transactions in the same project or
nearby property projects.
BMAmAKEEEMACEBUEBEANEBXFA-EA
MEMERE 2 BOTMBRGETHE FAEHELE 2K
IMEZAIZRFELEAIE

We also challenged the appropriateness of key assumption
used in the valuation by reference to anticipated costs to
completion of properties under development for sale by
comparing the previous budget costs to actual development
costs incurred, and check to construction contracts
committed and other relevant market information showing the
latest cost trend.
EEN2ETRERYEAMEEE 2 RRAKAE R EM A
ZBRREEBRE HERKZABENNEES 2 ERER
FRAHETEL B RAZ B FTAGE 2 SRS A R R AR A8
B HM AT IS E K

We obtained an understanding from management on the
latest development plan and assessed if there is any material
delays and whether the Group had the relevant resources to
complete the project as intended.

EENERE TR ERTEAIRTEEE B EMERLER
F BEEERETKBEEZEBERES DU -
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IMPAIRMENT OF GOODWILL

Refer to note 19 to the consolidated financial statements and the

accounting policies on pages 110 and 111.

The key audit matter
EREKSBE

EERE
Z2HEATERRMEIORFEI10k111
BZEgrHE-

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EENERPNNEBRZEE

As at 31 March 2017, the Group had goodwill amounting
to approximately HK$112,710,000 allocated to a cash
generating unit. The management performed annual
impairment testing on the goodwill of the cash-generating
unit in which such goodwill is allocated. Based on the
impairment assessment made by the directors of the
Company, no provision for impairment assessment is
necessary.

RZZE—tF=A=+—H  EBESXEESEZREEE
B2 EEL/112,710,0008 T - EIREHE S EE 2
ReEFEM AESFETRENR -BE EQ/FE
FEL 2 RER L BASRBER LT REE-

We have identified the impairment of goodwill as a key audit
matter because of the involvement of significant degree of
judgements and estimates made by the management when
performing impairment testing.

EERBHERERS RERERER  RERNETRE
AR S R ERREEL Z EXHE K fhEte

Our procedures were designed to review the management’s
assessment process, including the reasonableness of the
judgements and estimates used by the management in the
calculation of the recoverable amount of the cash generating
unit.

EERTZEFEERNEERZAGERRE  BRESER
eEABN MBS EREEBMA B RATERE
o

We challenged the reasonableness of the management
judgements and estimates used in the evaluations, including
the forecasted selling prices, profit margin, discount rates and
other key assumptions against latest available information,
together with other externally available information and
sensitivity analysis.
EEHRENAAER RHEMINBA BER RBURE ST
BRTEMACEEEHE LTRSS BREANEE
MR BRIR R H A = EREK -
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DEFERRED INCOME AND RELATED CURRENT

TAX PAYABLE

Refer to note 27 to the consolidated financial statements and the

accounting policies on pages from 127 to 129.

The key audit matter
HRELEE

—- 4
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

EENERPNMAEEZEE

As at 31 March 2017, the Group had deferred income
amounting to approximately HK$419,806,000 and related
tax payable of HK$104,952,000.
RZZE—tF=ZA=+—H ' BEEZETCRALDE
419,806,000/ 7T K A8 A & 1~ 11 78 /3 104,952,000/ 7T ©

We have identified the recognition of deferred income and
related tax payable as a key audit matter because of the
significance of the amount involved and the estimation of
tax liabilities involved of significant degree of judgements
over the interpretation of relevant tax rules and practices.
EEREABRCHRAREERNRESRNSBARERZSE
B RARMPeBEEZMRBIBEB A S REIEEH
MIBER N EREE 2 ERH G -

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND

AUDITOR’S REPORT THEREON

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) are responsible for the
other information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the annual report, other than the consolidated financial

statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance

conclusion thereon.

Our procedures were designed to review the management’s
recognition policy in relation to the deferred income and the
basis of recognising the related tax payable.
EERTZEFEERIEEBBMRERA 2 ERBER M
FERR AR R FE (S B B 2 Lk o

We obtained evidence from external parties and specialist to
confirm the nature of the deferred income and substantiate
the basis of recognising the related tax payable. We also
challenged the basis of recognition, amortisation and
classification of the deferred income.
EERINIALTRERNEER  EUBERBELTERA 2 EE
NERAEAEARNNIBE EE - EFNERBELTHAZ
RoBHR R

REMBBRREARBARE U
Iz EH

BERAEFR([EF])AaEHEMER -H
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INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
AUDITOR’S REPORT THEREON (continued)

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS OF THE
COMPANY AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
18 7% B EM IR &S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion, solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with section 90 of the Bermuda Company Act and our agreed terms of
engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the Directors.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

BT % SEh R S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our

REMRBEZGES
EeEE @

R E T PP

s HEZRABBLLERGHERMR
EMHELER LRBEMESHEZ
BE O EEEAFEEFERLBRE
MHEATABEZE  Em A8
4 BEEENFBERERNELERXR
RE - HESRAFEEXRTHRAR
Z BEARNRBEMBERRFBIE
HAMBHRRPOEERE HMHE

opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained BEETR AIBITEENER -F
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or EMERDEREBEEZHAFES HEH

conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going FTESHNEZERFE -AM KRKEIE
concern. HBERAIEES BEEEELFEL
p
=

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,

s HERAYBHRENEBBEITTA
BEBLAR BREEERN Uk

and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the G BBRESRTERBABERI R
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair £IH
presentation.

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial o BEEBEANETRERAERTINTB

information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We

ERERREEENEZRR N
REAMBRRERERL - BEFRA

are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of EEEEZN IR BEERBT &
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. ERAREENERRERAESE
Fo
We communicate with the audit committee regarding, among other &BEZHEXZRZE @ (HP 8K ) EXH
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit 2/ &1 E - BRI Z P R B KB % B R E1TE
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we B ZEHBEBREESEEZZBEP E 7
identify during our audit. B9 A9 FB 12 il B £ A E j( i N

We also provide the audit committee with a statement that we have

ENMEZZBESHELRR

SR E &

complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, E ﬁ @B LM ABEREEZE S WHE
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that K E BB AIER A EBERASF E TS BT

may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.

MM EEERERLEMERT ARBBEL &
HiE (B ) -



Independent Auditor’s Report
187X BB IR &S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with the audit committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh
the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Lau Kai Wong.

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Lau Kai Wong

Practising Certificate Number: PO6623
Hong Kong

30 June 2017
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income

inolamRHEMME MUIHARE

For The Year Ended 31 March 2017
HE-_ZT—+F-A=-+—HLFE

2017 2016
—ZE—+t5F A=
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
BT FERT FHET
REVENUE g 5 61,491 95,867
Cost of sales $HE AR (91,984) (125,666)
Gross loss Ei8 (30,493) (29,799)
Impairment loss on prepaid land lease BN EER 2 REEE
payments 16 - (34,000)
Impairment loss on investment properties &Y% 7 RAEEE 15 — (100,634)
Impairment losses on interests in associates B & N 7 2 #E 2 R EE B 17 (6,637) -
Other income and gain LN & 6 216 1,658
Selling expenses HEMX (15,665) (12,781)
Administrative expenses TR X (121,245) (121,146)
Finance costs MEEH 7 (152,321) (42,566)
Share of results of associates FEAREEE N R EE (17,430) (941)
LOSS BEFORE TAX FRBLATE 18 8 (343,575) (340,209)
Income tax expense FIiSBiAX 11 - -
LOSS FOR THE YEAR FREE (343,575) (340,209)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE Hit2EKA (BAX%)
INCOME/(EXPENSE)
Items that may be reclassified to REEHEAJEEF 7R
profit or loss in subsequent periods: B hEE -
Exchange differences on translation of BREBINEBEEZ
foreign operations fEH ZRR 24,295 (56,397)
Share of other comprehensive il
expense of associates HEi2mEAY (1,547) (3,438)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE FREMZEBA(BIX)
INCOME/(EXPENSE) FOR THE YEAR 22,748 (59,835)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE EXPENSE FAZHBAZHAE
FOR THE YEAR (320,827) (400,044)
LOSS PER SHARE BRES 12
Basic BN HK(2.69) cents  HK(3.05) cents
B4l il
Diluted BE HK(2.69) cents  HK(3.05) cents

gl

Al
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

O UHFIRRER

As at 31 March 2017
RZZE—+F=A=+—H

2017 2016
—E—+HF —E—RF
Notes HK$’000 HK$ 000
B 5 FET FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y BB M 14 32,394 37,790
Investment properties B 15 557,303 618,107
Prepaid land lease payments TN L ER 16 1,062,250 1,161,490
Interests in associates REEE QAR 2w 17 - 25,614
Available-for-sale investment AHEHERE 18 2,724 2,724
Goodwill kS 19 112,710 120,085
1,767,381 1,965,810
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Properties under development EEME 20 934,896 939,848
Completed properties held for sales FIELE 2R TTME 21 431,547 404,729
Inventories FE 22 = -
Trade receivables JE Uk BR 3Rk 23 23,143 13,415
Prepayments, deposits and other TETRIE - e RE A IR
receivables A 24 72,344 150,581
Cash and cash equivalents BehIBELEER 25 25,560 42,016
1,487,490 1,550,589
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBEE
Trade payables FEATBR X 26 238,660 264,176
Receipts in advance, other payables TEUGRIE - Efb B FE &
and accruals fEE & A 27 1,036,065 1,096,182
Amounts due to related parties e FE & 5 7 A 28 392,134 299,550
Interest-bearing bank and other ETERITREMER
borrowings 29 169,861 1,322,292
Convertible notes payable FEA AT R R 30 110,863 132,710
Provision B1i5 31 7,035 8,886
Tax payable FE A I8 121,270 133,326
2,075,888 3,257,122
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES FEBAETEE (588,398) (1,706,533)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS BEERRBAR
CURRENT LIABILITIES 1,178,983 259,277
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBERE
Amounts due to related parties FET B E 5 BIE 28 546,859 225818
Interest-bearing bank and other ETERITREMERK
borrowings 29 754,688 -
Deferred tax liability BELERIEAE 32 8,021 8,546
1,309,568 234,364

Net (liabilities) assets (AR BEEFHE (130,585) 24,913
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
ZEHIRIARE

As at 31 March 2017
RZE—+F=A=+—H

2017 2016

—E—+tF ZE—RF

Notes HK$’000 HK$ 000

Bt 5 FERT FHET

EQUITY =

Issued capital EEITIAR 33 659,331 594,331
Reserves 1 (789,916) (569,418)
(CAPITAL DEFICIENCY) TOTAL EQUITY (EAEAL) R AL (130,585) 24,913

The consolidated financial statements on pages 84 to 187 were
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 30 June
2017 and are signed on its behalf by:

Dr. WANG Yucan
TERFBL
Director

BF

FSAFISTAZ B AV BHREENZZ
—tFARBAZTHEEES R EREET
oW HTINEERREE:

Mr. MA Jun
BEEE
Director

BF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes In Equity
nOiEmEaNE

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE-ZT—tF=A=+—HILFE

Note:

(@

()

The contributed surplus represents the surplus arising on reduction of paid-
up capital during the year ended 31 March 2004.

The reorganisation reserve represents the carrying amount of net liabilities
of subsidiaries, net of expenses, being disposed of under the schemes of
arrangement under section 166 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
(Cap 32 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and section 99 of the Companies Act
1981 of Bermuda (as amended time to time). Both schemes of arrangement
were sanctioned by the High Court of Hong Kong and the Supreme Court
of Bermuda on 27 May 2008 and 13 June 2008, respectively.

The statutory reserve funds represents 10% of the profit after tax of the
Company’s PRC subsidiaries appropriate to the reserve as stipulated by
the relevant laws and regulations for certain subsidiaries in the PRC, until
such reserve reaches 50% of the registered capital and thereafter any further
appropriation is optional.

Other reserve represents (i) the difference between the considerations paid
to obtain additional non-controlling interests and its carrying amount of the
net assets on the date of the acquisition, which the excess of the fair value
of the consideration over the carrying amount of the net assets acquired
has been debited directly to equity; and (i) the deemed contributions from
shareholders that arisen from the difference between the initial fair value and
cash receipts on the loans from related parties.

Pl

-

BABSERE-_TTNF=A=+—HILF
FHIBE S BRAMES 2 B8k

HARBERBEEEQRGD (FEEMIE32
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B ZI0%RERE BEEZRBESEME
AN 250% 1% AR R (AT — 2R

Hib BRSNS B RS 2
REEEEFERUBHMZEREZRE M
REQXFEBEBMWENEE FEREEZE
B DEENMESTHIR RREEEL 2
Rz I N T ERER S WA Z ZRAELMNR
REERTE -



-I- 4

“E-tEFE HEYHEBEARLA 89

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

|||i|'\ - quﬂllgﬁ

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE-ZT—+tF=A=+—HILFE

2017 2016
—ZE—t5F —E-RF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FEx FET
(Restated)
(&%)
OPERATING ACTIVITIES RETR
Loss before tax B 750 AT B 18 (343,575) (340,209)
Adjustments for: NI E=S
Impairment losses on interests in associates REENR 2R 2 BEEIE 6,637 -
Impairment loss on investment properties wREYHE L RBEREE - 100,634
Impairment loss on prepaid land TEfT L E R 2 R EE B
lease payments - 34,000
Impairment loss on other receivables H b B W FRIE 2 R B B 18 4,343 -
Bank interest income RITHI B YA (95) (107)
Other interest income HEaFEHA = (111)
Finance costs mEE A 152,321 42 566
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEWE - BEREE W=
equipment (1) -
Depreciation of property, Y- BB MEETE
plant and equipment 3,200 4,241
Depreciation of investment properties REYEITE 29,530 29,488
Write-down of completed properties held WORISIER & 2k T %
for sales 26,808 -
Reversal of write-down of inventories GFEMRREE (1,639) (2,530)
Amortisation of prepaid land lease payments TE T AE & 5k 2 8 85 28,979 31,363
(Reversal of) provision for compensation HES () #E (1,348) 3,225
Share of results of associates iy N E = 17,430 941
Operating cashflows before movements EEECEPRIICKERERE
in working capital (77,410) (96,499)
Decrease in inventories FEmRD 1,639 6,967
Increase in trade receivables JiE U BR R N (10,851) (6,379)
(Increase) decrease in properties under ERYMERBEREZ
development and completed properties wTYE (38 hn) R
held for sales (14,028) 38,356
Decrease (increase) in prepayments, BT RIE - e R HAb R IR
deposits and other receivables R (35 h0) 65,277 (49,477)
Decrease in trade payables FERTER TR (11,318) (58,022)
Increase in receipts in advance, TEUGIE - b A B K
other payables and accruals FEET B FE N 4,496 143,424
Utilisation of provision for compensation AR ESEE = (148)
CASH USED IN OPERATIONS AND NET REMAREREETH
CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES FTAREFE (42,195) (21,778)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
LZOHRERESE

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE-Z—tF=A=+—HILFE

2017 2016
—E—+tF A=
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FERT FHET
(Restated)
(&%)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEFE
Purchases of items of property, NEWME BELZFEEE
plant and equipment (24) (5670)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE BMEREEZ
plant and equipment FriS A 7 -
Construction costs for investment properties B RN (6,685) (29,717)
Payment for purchase of available-for-sale BEHEERENK
investment - (2,724)
Increase in interests in associates B A B2 REZR I N - (3,945)
Bank interest received B UWERIT A 95 107
Other interest received H b B WF B - 111
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES REZEBFAZRESEE (6,607) (36,738)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES REER
Interest paid 2RFE (234,436) (233,225)
Proceeds from new bank and FTIBIRTT R E M &R P15 5KIE
other borrowings 887,574 22,163
Advance from related parties RAMBEBHZ#R 497,220 379,518
Repayment of convertible note payables EE RN RRERE (31,500) -
Repayment of bank and other borrowings EERIT R AMER (1,214,485) (352,557)
Proceeds from issue of shares BT 2 TS RIE 130,000 246,647
Transaction costs for issue of shares BITRM R P = (6,047)
NET CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES  REZEBELREFHE 34,373 57,499
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND RERASLEERRD FHE
CASH EQUIVALENTS (14,429) (1,017)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year F# 2R & MBS EER 42,016 45,180
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net HRE 7 S e B HE (2,027) (2,147)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRZAESRASEER
AT END OF YEAR, represented BERITHEHR RIS

by bank balances and cash 25,560 42,016
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ine Bl IRZR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2017

HERARERAERERLA
([mtm)) » ()

China
FEARLAE
([wE]) /BN

HE-_ZT—+F=A=+—HILFE
1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. PEIREEEH
Richly Field China Development Limited (the “Company”’) was WHARERER AR ([RAAF])
incorporated in the Cayman lIslands with limited liability and ARHEREEMAINBR AR
continued as an exempted company under the laws of Bermuda WR—ZZEEWF_A+—HAEHMAS
after the change of domicile from the Cayman Islands to Bermuda HERMZEZERER BREAFEEZ
effective on 11 February 2004. The addresses of the registered Bl ERLERME AR - N RAIMFE
office and principal place of business of the Company are Canon’s Mt EEm R FZEEHWE DR A
Court, 22 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM12, Bermuda and Suite 5086, Canon’s Court, 22 Victoria Street,
ICBC Tower, 3 Garden Road, Central, Hong Kong, respectively. Hamilton HM12, Bermuda & &
RIEE B3 F B TR 17 AN E506
The Company’s principal activity is investment holding. The KARMEIZEBRIEEZER M B
principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out below: REIMEZEBIHINNT
Information about subsidiaries MEARER
Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are as follows: RARIMBARGEHLT
Place of incorporation/ Issued and fully Percentage of
registration and paid share capital/ equity attributable to
Name business registered capital the Company Principal activities
FMAL/ ERIRAR
A% TMREELY BA/ERBA EAAEERER AL TEEK
Directly Indirectly
EE G
2017 2016 2017 2016
ZE-tF ZTF ZB-tF ZTF
Chuang Yu Holdings Limited (‘Chuang Yu') Hong Kong HK$1 - - 100% 100%  Investment holding
ElERERAE ([81#4]) B 1T REER
Globe Outlets City Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - - 100% 100%  Investment holding
(“Globe Outlets”) e 1B REER
BT R T IAERER R A
([R5
Globe Outlets City Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 100% 100% - - Investment holding
RERAHERBRTNERAR (BVI"YHong Kong S REZR
RERLES
((REELER])/B%
Hunan Richly Field Outlets Real Estate Limited*  The People’s Republic of HK$596,400,000 - - 100% 100%  Property development
(*Hunan Richly Field") #* (note) China (the “PRC")/Mainland 596,400,000/ 7T NEBR

y

}L
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
RIS IREMIGE

For the year ended 31 March 2017

BE_T—tHF=A=T—HILFE

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Annual Report 2017

1. REIREBER &)

B ARER (4)

Place of incorporation/ Issued and fully Percentage of
registration and paid share capital/ equity attributable to
Name business registered capital the Company Principal activities
2R/ ERTRHRZ
8 ERREELY BA/ERRE FRRRERERDL TEEY
Directly Indirectly
BE BE
2017 2016 2017 2016
“E-tF ZTF ZB-tF ZTF
Jiangxi Richly Town Construction Projects The PRC/Mainland China HK$10,000,000 100% 100% - - Construction and maintenance
Co., Limited* (“Jiangxi Richly Town”) ** HE/RER BELEE
IRRASEETIRERAR
(DIE#mE) *
Mile Gain Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$1 100% 100% - - Investment holding
BREERAR RBRIHS /5 e REER
Million Harmony Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - - 100% 100%  Inactive
BiRERERAR Bk 1% LEXE
Milion Harmony Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$1 100% 100% - - Investment holding
BRERAR EERAHE/BE e REER
Pilot Will Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - - 100% 100%  Inactive
REERBERAT Bk 1% LEXE
Pilot Will Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$1 100% 100% - - Investment holding
BEERAR RBRIHS /5 e REER
Profuse Gain Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - - 100% 100%  Inactive
ERERBERAR EE BT LEEH
Profuse Gain Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$1 100% 100% - - Investment holding
ERERAA EERAHE/BE e REER
Quality Depot Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$t - - 100% 100%  Inactive
REERAA RBRAHS/FE e LEXE
Richly Field (Beiing) Investment Consutting The PRC/Mainland China HK$15,000,000 100% 100% - - Property management and
Co., Ltd." (‘Richly Field Beijing")"* R/ RE N 15,000,0007% 7T investment holding
WHERH (AR REBHERAA NEERRREER
(MEm=ER R ) #
Richly Field Hainan Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100% - - Inactive
HEEEERERAR Bk BT TEEH
TRBERREERERATS The PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 - - 100% 100%  Property management
PE/RER AR 1,000,000 NEER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
RIS IREMIGE

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE-ZT—+tF=A=+—HILFE

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. ARAREEER (&)

(continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued) MEARER (&)

Place of incorporation/ Issued and fully Percentage of

registration and paid share capital/ equity attributable to
Name business registered capital the Company Principal activities

EMRL/ BRTRARZ
a8 ERREELE BA/ERBA FRREERERDL TEEY

Directly Indirectly
B B
2017 2016 2017 2016
“E-tF T F ZB-tF 2T F
Changsha Yutian Outlets Business Administration ~ The PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 - - 100% 100%  Property management and trading
Co. Limited** HE/RE N AR #100,000,0007C of fashion wear and accessorles

RORBRGRICEERERAT NEERREBREREY
EPRBRRKNEERERAA The PRG/Mainland China RMB500,000 - - 100% 100%  Property management

FE/REA AR 500,007 NEER
BREEREEEEERAR" The PRC/Mainiand China RMB20,000,000 - - 100% 100%  Property management

RE/REA AR #20,000,0007 NEER
Richly Field Kabuskiki Kaisha™ Japan JPY3,000,000 - - 100% 100%  Inactive
wAKA g BA 3,000,000R & TEXE
King Future Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - - 100% 100%  Investment holding
HRERBRAR Bk 1% RARRKR
King Future Limited BVI Us$10 100% 100% - - Investment holding
HEBERAA RERLES 1057 REER
Qinhuangdao Outlets Real Estate Co., Ltd.*#* The PRC US$10,320,000 - - 100% 100%  Property development
REBENRINEXARAT HE 10,320,000% 7T NEBRE
Hunan Longsheng Decoration Engineering The PRC RMB10,000,000 - - 100% 100%  Inactive

Company Limited** HE A& 10,000,000 BmE

MEERRERATRERAA
HEHERRESERAA The PRC RMB500,000 - - 100% 100%  Inactive

e AR 500,007 TEXE
# Registered as limited liability companies under PRC law # RIEFEEEFMABR AR

## Registered as wholly-owned foreign enterprises under PRC law
b Registered as a Sino-foreign joint venture under PRC law

For identification purposes only

Note: At 31 March 2017 and 2016, the Company’s entire equity interest in
Hunan Richly Field is secured for a bank loan of the Group (note 29(b)).

W RETEDAREMRIEEELE
e REPBEIEREM ARG BRERE

* (EXe il

CTREEEFR R -RFZA= T

B ARARAEHREZE2HRER
SAEEZRITERERM (KM

29(b)) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
RIS IREMIGE

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE-Z—tF=A=+—HILFE

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated financial statements comprise the Company and
its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”).

[tems included in the financial statements of each entity in the
Group are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the “functional currency”).
These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
(“HK$"), rounded to the nearest thousand except for per share
data. Hong Kong dollar is the Company’s functional and the
Group’s presentation currency.

As at 31 March 2017, the Group had net current liabilities and
a capital deficiency of HK$588,398,000 and HK$130,585,000
respectively and recorded a consolidated loss for the year ended
31 March 2017 of HK$343,575,000.

The directors of the Company have taken steps to improve the
Group’s liquidity and solvency position. The directors of the
Company are of the opinion that the Group will have sufficient funds
to meet its financial obligations when they fall due in the foreseeable
future taking into account the followings:

(i) the continuous financial support from related parties;

(i) the expected refinancing of interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings when they fall due;

@iy the extension of the repayment terms of amounts due
to related parties as at 31 March 2017 in aggregate of
HK$235,272,000 beyond 31 March 2018;

(iv) the availability of loan facilities of RMB950,000,000
(equivalent to HK$1,070,080,000) expiring after 31 March
2018 granted by a non-banking financial institution in the
PRC in April 2017 of which RMB500,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$563,200,000) had been drawn down up to the date of
these consolidated financial statements; and

21 RBEEE

HAMBBREBEARARENEA
Al(mBEAEIAEE])-

AEEBETEEEBMHEREAMIH
HEREREBKEMEIERR
RBEZEB([HWEEB])FE-IK
BRBEIN KWERBRERTIABT
(BTl 2% YEmBERARZRE
MTRL-BT/ARRZNERANE
BMZz2HEE-

R-_ZE—+tHF=ZA=+—H &A&H
WA EBEFERERNEGA DA A
588,398,000/ 7T 2 130,585,000/%8
TARBE-_ZE—+F=ZA=+—8H
I FE 8GR A EIE348,575,000/%
5T 0

ARAEEFCHRMESBEERERSE
BznBES MEGKI - Bt RT
JIRE ARBEERRAKERE
RAEBS NEMNRKARKREEZ
BIf5 BT

() FREDZFHEMBER:
(i) FEEARGSRIT R E A ERE
FHRE:

(i) RZE—EF=ZA=+—HEHN
B 5 sIBA H£235,272,000%
TZEEBHBREEZE T —N\F
=RA=+—8:

sl

(iv) IS HAE—MPEIFFRITES R
BR_Z—tHEFNAREZR =
E-N\E=A=1t—RA2%3HH
ZEREE AR®I50,000,000
7T (# & M1,070,080,000/%
L) HEENEREMBEREA
BB R ELA R#500,000,0007T
(¥ % ®563,200,000/%8 7T ) :
P54
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
RIS IREMIGE

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE-ZT—+tF=A=+—HILFE

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued) 21 REEE (5)

(v  the forecasted operating cash outflows and budgeted
construction costs for the year ending 31 March 2018.

In addition, on 28 June 2017, a related party entered into a
supplementary agreement with the Group and had granted a
discretionary right to the Group to determine the timing and
methods of repayment, such as by way of loan capitalisation or
settlement by cash or other assets, in relation to the amount due
to it of HK$235,272,000 (which is currently classified as non-
current liability as at 31 March 2017). On the same date, the
related party agreed to provide continuous financing facilities of
RMB400,000,000 (equivalent to HK$450,560,000) expiring in
2020. Accordingly, the directors of the Company had prepared the
consolidated financial statements of the Group on a going concern
basis.

The validity of the going concern assumption on which the
consolidated financial statements are prepared is dependent on the
successful and favourable outcomes of the steps being taken by
the directors of the Company as described above.

Should the going concern assumption be inappropriate,
adjustments may have to be made to reflect the situation that
assets may need to be realised at the amounts other than which
they are currently recorded in the consolidated statement of
financial position. In addition, the Group may have to provide for
further liabilities that might arise, and to reclassify non-current
assets and non-current liabilities as current assets and current
liabilities. The operating cycle of the Group’s property development
business is the time between the acquisition of assets for
processing and their realisation in cash or cash equivalents. Due to
the nature of such business, the normal operating cycle is longer
than 12 months. The Group’s current assets include properties
under development which will be sold, consumed or realised as
part of the normal operating cycle for the property development
business even when they are not expected to be realised within 12
months after the end of the reporting period.

v) BEEZZE-—N\F=ZA=+—81F
FEZEANGEHE SR D RTER
FREERAN o

N R ZE—F A+ N\B
MErpEAEBEI Y Ema I
MAEERBBISEETENBE
B R IE235,272,000%8 T (R H A
ER_ZT—+tHF=ZA=Z+—8Bz2
EnBAaBE)cERKE R X
MUEZREARELTRIUNR SR E
MwWEEKN -BR BEHREIR
HER-_EBE-_ZSFINH2HFEREE
B AR¥400,000,000T (#HE R
450,560,000 ) c At » R AR E
EEORBELEEERYAEE 7R
A BH|E -

ERGEAVBRRCEBHEEE K&
REBRZABUERFARAEER
B EifE ez R KRB MERME -

HERBELLERRASTEE  BIFT 6
FEFORAE RREEARETER
HPRLHRESAVBERRE TR Z
SREBRZBER UL AEE AR
FERARE-—TELZABFELR
B REFOBIERDEERIFRD
BEARDEERADEAB - AKHE
MEBRREXFZZERARAREKEEE
EMTHEZER SRS XRNEEER
ZEOER BARZEBHEE HIE
FeEBRBERE T @A -AEEZ
RBEERRAENMEERETL
FEERHMHALE HEIER
BRTPYE EBEHNFEHRRE
TZEARTEHEER-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
RIS IREMIGE

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE-ZT—+tF=A=+—HILFE

2.2 APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”)

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new and
revised HKFRSs, which include HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKAS(s)”), amendments and Interpretations (“Int(s)”),
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants

(the “HKICPA).

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2012-2014 Cycle

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure Initiative

Amendments to HKAS 16 Clarification of Acceptable Methods
and HKAS 38 of Depreciation and Amortisation

Amendments to HKAS 16 Agriculture: Bearer Plants
and HKAS 41

Amendments to HKAS 27 Equity Method in Separate Financial
Statements
Amendments to HKFRS 10, Investment Entities: Applying the
HKFRS 12 and HKAS 28 Consolidation Exception

Amendments to HKFRS 11 Accounting for Acquisitions of
Interests in Joint Operations

The application of the new and revised HKFRSs in the current year
has had no material impact on the Group’s financial performance
and positions for the current and prior years and/or on the
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.

22 BRAMAIREBIETEMHK

BEER (BERMBREE
A1)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
R eI IREMIGE

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE-ZT—+tF=A=+—HILFE

2.2 APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSSs”) (continued)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet
effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 9 (2014) Financial Instruments?

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers?

HKFRS 16 Leases*

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2014-2016 Cycle®

Amendments to HKAS 7 Disclosure Initiative’

Amendments to HKAS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets
for Unrealised Losses’

Amendments to HKAS 40 Transfers of Investment Property?

Amendments to HKFRS 4 Applying HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments with HKFRS 4
Insurance Contracts?

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Amendments to HKFRS 2 Classification and Measurement
of Share-based Payment
Transactions?

HK(IFRIC) — Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and
Advance Consideration?
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
R OIS IREMIGE

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE-ZT—tF=A=+—HILFE

2.2 APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSSs”) (continued)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet
effective (continued)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018.

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017 or 1
January 2018, as appropriate.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019.

5 Effective date not yet been determined.

The directors of the Company anticipate that, except as describe
below, the application of new and revised HKFRSs will have no
material impact on the results and the financial position of the
Group.

HKFRS 9 (2014) Financial Instruments

HKFRS 9 issued in 2009 introduces new requirements for the
classification and measurement of financial assets. HKFRS 9
was amended in 2010 and includes the requirements for the
classification and measurement of financial liabilities and for
derecognition. In 2013, HKFRS 9 was further amended to bring
into effect a substantial overhaul of hedge accounting that will
allow entities to better reflect their risk management activities
in the financial statements. A finalised version of HKFRS 9 was
issued in 2014 to incorporate all the requirements of HKFRS 9
that were issued in previous years with limited amendments to
the classification and measurement by introducing a “fair value
through other comprehensive income” (“FVTOCI”) measurement
category for certain financial assets. The finalised version of HKFRS
9 also introduces an “expected credit loss” model for impairment
assessments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
R eI IREMIGE

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE-ZT—+tF=A=+—HILFE

2.2 APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG 22 ERAMATIRKEBIEEUK

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS REEN([BEBUBEREE

(“HKFRSSs”) (continued) All) &)

HKFRS 9 (2014) Financial Instruments (continued) EEMBREEAFESR (=2
—OE)E/MITE (®)

Key requirements of HKFRS 9 (2014) are described as follows: EXEVBERELENFIR (2 —NW
FI)Z2EEREFROT:

o All recognised financial assets that are within the scope °
of HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement to be subsequently measured at amortised
cost or fair value. Specifically, debt investments that are
held within a business model whose objective is to collect
the contractual cash flows, and that have contractual cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal outstanding are generally measured at amortised
cost at the end of subsequent reporting periods. Debt
instruments that are held within a business model whose
objective is achieved both by collecting contractual cash
flows and selling financial assets, and that have contractual
terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding, are measured at
FVTOCI. All other debt investments and equity investments
are measured at their fair values at the end of subsequent
reporting periods. In addition, under HKFRS 9 (2014), entities
may make an irrevocable election to present subsequent
changes in the fair value of an equity investment (that is not
held for trading) in other comprehensive income, with only
dividend income generally recognised in profit or loss.

EBEERERNEIR AT
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EREREEELRYBREIHNX
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APRE UREHNREREM
BRXNAERHREEREZ
MBZBEBRE  —RNERE
EMRZBHRAGFE-RBEH
RRABYEREHNRERERLE
TREEZFEHEARTE MU
RERMEESNKRISNEER
HELAZHASREMLERINAE
ERHAEERNE ZHENER
TE -HUEBRAFEFAEMGE
Elsz T AGE - -FIEEME
BHREMBRAREANRERES
HRBERFERE I RIE
BEMBEREENFIOR(=F
— ) EREA AT HE M
EENHEMEZEESEZIRAE
B(UFFHEEE)RAFEZH
BrEH M -—REXNBZAER
PR BUA e

¥

y

h



| 9 -_

100 Richly Field China Development Limited ~ Annual Report 2017

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
RIS IREMIGE

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE-ZT—+tF=A=+—HILFE

2.2 APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSSs”) (continued)

HKFRS 9 (2014) Financial Instruments (continued)

° With regard to the measurement of financial liabilities
designated as at fair value through profit or loss, HKFRS 9
(2014) requires that the amount of change in the fair value
of the financial liability that is attributable to changes in the
credit risk of that liability is presented in other comprehensive
income, unless the recognition of the effects of changes
in the liability’s credit risk in other comprehensive income
would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or
loss. Changes in fair value of financial liabilities attributable
to changes in the financial liabilities’ credit risk are not
subsequently reclassified to profit or loss. Under HKAS
39, the entire amount of the change in the fair value of the
financial liability designated as fair value through profit or loss
was presented in profit or loss.

o In the aspect of impairment assessments, the impairment
requirements relating to the accounting for an entity’s
expected credit losses on its financial assets and
commitments to extend credit were added. Those
requirements eliminate the threshold that was in HKAS 39
for the recognition of credit losses. Under the impairment
approach in HKFRS 9 (2014), it is no longer necessary for
a credit event to have occurred before credit losses are
recognised. Instead, expected credit losses and changes in
those expected credit losses should always be accounted
for. The amount of expected credit losses is updated at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition and, consequently, more timely information is
provided about expected credit losses.

22 BRAMAIREBIETEMHK

£

ERA([BEEMBREE

All) )

B BHEEREIR (=F

—OF)EMIAE (5)

REEREAFEFAABRRZ
TMEBEZHENS BAYH
BEERFESR (ZT—MF)R
E BRI B A 2 YR a T RR

BEERREHZFE EL
SEMBEm @t ER T
Rz BBz EERRSEE NS
ERMABAFESBENEH IR
HitzmKm2s  AEeEmaE
ZIEERBRREMERSRAE
AFEEHERITIEEFTIA
ERGE -REFESTERFI9
BoEEREATEFARRZ
TRMEBEZE2AATERDERE
BRERPE -

BEREE MATHEBEER
HHoMEENREHREMREER
ErrRHEEBER 2 RE
RE -ZERTBERTEBGR
ERFEOTHEREEFRD
P *ETFE/%%?%#E%@EE'J
9‘5)}% —7 E‘E)Zﬂ”ﬁﬁ/i
Fﬁ%ﬁ%%%%ﬂuaﬁih
EEft-kRe ERE-ERMRE
1:1?%%%&%-&*6%1:%)%
TEZ'%@J)\EE REHREBBRE
BHEEBE S EETEN
AR B YR ERIAREE AR
2 WRILEHE @R ZTE
HEEBHEEN-



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
R eI IREMIGE

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE-ZT—+tF=A=+—HILFE

2.2 APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSS”) (continued)

HKFRS 9 (2014) Financial Instruments (continued)

° HKFRS 9 (2014) introduces a new model which is more
closely aligns hedge accounting with risk management
activities undertaken by companies when hedging their
financial and non-financial risk exposures. As a principle-
based approach, HKFRS 9 (2014) looks at whether a risk
component can be identified and measured and does not
distinguish between financial items and non-financial items.
The new model also enables an entity to use information
produced internally for risk management purposes as a
basis for hedge accounting. Under HKAS 39, it is necessary
to exhibit eligibility and compliance with the requirements
in HKAS 39 using metrics that are designed solely for
accounting purposes. The new model also includes eligibility
criteria but these are based on an economic assessment
of the strength of the hedging relationship. This can be
determined using risk management data. This should reduce
the costs of implementation compared with those for HKAS
39 hedge accounting because it reduces the amount of
analysis that is required to be undertaken only for accounting
purposes

HKFRS 9 (2014) will become effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2018 with early application permitted.
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For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE-ZT—+tF=A=+—HILFE

2.2 APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSSs”) (continued)

HKFRS 9 (2014) Financial Instruments (continued)

The directors of the Company anticipate that the adoption of
HKFRS 9 (2014) in the future may have an impact on the Group’s
results and financial position, including the classification categories
and the measurement of financial assets, and disclosures. For
instance, the Group will be required to replace the incurred loss
impairment model in HKAS 39 with an expected loss impairment
model that will apply to various exposures to credit risk. HKFRS
9 will also change the way the Group classifies and measures its
financial assets, and will require the Group to consider the business
model and contractual cash flow characteristics of financial assets
to determine classification and subsequent measurement. For
financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss,
the change in fair value that is attributable to changes in credit risk
could be presented in other comprehensive income. However, it
is not practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of the effect of
HKFRS 9 (2014) until a detailed review has been completed.
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2.2 APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSS”) (continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers

The core principle of HKFRS 15 is that an entity should recognise
revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to
customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which
the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or
services. Thus, HKFRS 15 introduces a model that applies to
contracts with customers, featuring a contract-based five-step
analysis of transactions to determine whether, how much and when
revenue is recognised. The five steps are as follows:

i) |dentify the contract with the customer;
if) Identify the performance obligations in the contract;
i) Determine the transaction price;

iv)  Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations;
and

V) Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a
performance obligation.

HKFRS 15 also introduces extensive qualitative and quantitative
disclosure requirements which aim to enable users of the financial
statements to understand the nature, amount, timing and
uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from contracts with
customers.

HKFRS 15 will supersede the current revenue recognition guidance
including HKAS 18 Revenue, HKAS 11 Construction Contracts and
the related Interpretations when it becomes effective.
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2.2 APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSSs”) (continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (continued)

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of
HKFRS 15 in the future may have result in the identification of
separate performance obligations which could affect the timing
of the recognition of revenue. Certain costs incurred in fulfiling a
contract which are currently expensed may need to be recognised
as an asset under HKFRS 15. More disclosures relating to revenue
are also required. However, it is not practicable to provide a
reasonable estimate of the effect of HKFRS 15 until a detail review
is completed.

HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 provides a comprehensive model for the identification of
lease arrangements and their treatment in the financial statements
of both lessors and lessees.

In respect of the lessee accounting, the standard introduces a
single lessee accounting model, requiring lessees to recognise
assets and liabilities for all leases with the lease term of more than
12 months, unless the underlying asset has a low value.

At the commencement date of the lease, the lessee is required
to recognise a right-of-use asset at cost, which consists of
the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability,
plus any lease payments made to the lessor at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received, the initial
estimate of restoration costs and any initial direct costs incurred by
the lessee. A lease liability is initially recognised at the present value
of the lease payments that are not paid at that date.
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2.2 APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSS”) (continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)

Subsequently, the right-of-use asset is measured at cost less any
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses,
and adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease liability. Lease
liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount
to reflect interest on the lease liability, reducing the carrying amount
to reflect the lease payment made, and remeasuring the carrying
amount to reflect any reassessment or lease modifications or to
reflect revised in-substance fixed lease payments. Depreciation
and impairment expenses, if any, on the right-of-use asset will be
charged to profit or loss following the requirements of HKAS 16
Property, Plant and Equipment, while interest accrual on lease
liability will be charged to profit or loss.

In respect of the lessor accounting, HKFRS 16 substantially
carries forward the lessor accounting requirements in HKAS 17.
Accordingly, a lessor continues to classify its leases as operating
leases or finance leases, and to account for those two types of
leases differently.

HKFRS 16 will supersede the current lease standards including
HKAS 17 Leases and the related Interpretations when it becomes
effective.
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2.2 APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSSs”) (continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)

HKFRS 16 will be effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2019 with early application permitted provided that
the entity has applied HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers at or before the date of initial application of HKFRS 16.
As at 31 March 2017, the Group has non-cancellable operating
lease commitments of HK$2,717,000 as disclosed in note 36. A
preliminary assessment indicates that these arrangements will meet
the definition of a lease under HKFRS 16, and hence the Group
will recognise a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability
in respect of all these lease unless they qualify for low value or
short-term leases upon the application of HKFRS 16. In addition,
the application of new requirements may result changes in the
measurement, presentation and disclosure as indicated above.
However, it is not practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of
the effect until the Group performs a detailed review.

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2014-2016
Cycle

The Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle include a
number of amendments to various HKFRSs, which are summarised
below.

The amendment to HKFRS 1 deletes the short-term exemptions
covering transition provisions of HKFRS 7, HKAS 19, and HKFRS
10. These transition provisions were available to entities for passed
reporting periods and are therefore no longer applicable. The
amendments apply to annual periods on or after 1 January 2018.
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2.2 APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSSs”) (continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2014-2016
Cycle (continued)

The amendment to HKFRS 12 clarifies that the disclosure
requirement of HKFRS 12 is applicable to interest in entities
classified as held for sale except for summarised financial
information. Previously, it was unclear whether all other HKFRS 12
requirements were applicable for these interests. The amendments
apply retrospectively for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2017.

HKAS 28 allows venture capital organisations, mutual funds, unit
trusts and similar entities to elect measuring their investments
in associates or joint ventures at fair value through profit or loss.
HKAS 28 clarifies that this election should be made separately
for each associate or joint venture at initial recognition. The
amendments apply retrospectively for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2018.

The directors of the Company consider that the application of the
amendments included in the Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2014-2016 Cycle has had no material impact in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.
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2.2

2.3

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSSs”) (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 7 Disclosure Initiative

The amendments require entities to provide disclosures that enable
users of financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both changes arising from cash
flows and non-cash changes. The amendments do not prescribe a
specific method to fulfill the new disclosure requirements. However,
the amendments indicate that one way is to provide a reconciliation
between the opening and closing balances for liabilities arising from
financing activities.

Amendments to HKAS 7 will become effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2017 with early application
permitted.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of
Amendments to HKAS 7 will result in additional disclosures on the
Group’s financing activities, especially reconciliation between the
opening and closing balances in the consolidated statement of
financial position for liabilities arising from financing activities will be
provided on application.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis, except as otherwise set out in the accounting
policies below. Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of
the consideration given in exchange for goods and services.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.3 FESHHEEHME ()

POLICIES (continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants in the principal (or most advantageous) market at the
measurement date under current market conditions (i.e. an exit
price) regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. Details of fair value
measurement are explained in the accounting policies set out
below.

A summary of the significant accounting policies adopted by the
Group is set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
(i.e. its subsidiaries). If a subsidiary prepares its financial statements
using accounting policies other than those adopted in the
consolidated financial statements for like transactions and events
in similar circumstances, appropriate adjustments are made to
that subsidiary’s financial statements in preparing the consolidated
financial statements to ensure conformity with the Group’s
accounting policies.

Control is achieved where the Group has: (i) the power over
the investee; (i) exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and (i) the ability to use its power
over the investee to affect the amount of the Group’s returns.
When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights of an
investee, power over the investee may be obtained through: (i) a
contractual arrangement with other vote holders; (i) rights arising
from other contractual arrangements; (i) the Group’s voting rights
and potential voting rights; or (iv) a combination of the above, based
on all relevant facts and circumstances.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 23 FESHHEEHME ()

POLICIES (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

The Company reassess whether it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of
these elements of control stated above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains
control of the subsidiary and cease when the Group loses control of
the subsidiary.

Income and expenses of subsidiaries are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss from the date the Group
gains control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
of subsidiaries are attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income
of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets
and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to
transactions between entities of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost
as established at the date of acquisition of the business less
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or groups of cash-
generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of
the combination.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.3 FESHHEEHME ()

POLICIES (continued)

Goodwill (continued)

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment annually or more frequently when there is
indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an
acquisition in a reporting period, the cash-generating unit to which
goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment before the
end of that reporting period. If the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit is less than its carrying amount, the impairment
loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit on a
pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the
unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly in profit
or loss. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed
in subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable
amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the amount
of profit or loss on disposal.

Investment in an associate

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 23 FESHBRME ()

POLICIES (continued)
Investment in an associate (continued)

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated
in these consolidated financial statements using the equity method
of accounting. The financial statements of an associate used for
equity accounting purposes are prepared using uniform accounting
policies as those of the Group for like transactions and events in
similar circumstances. Under the equity method, an investment in
an associate is initially recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the
Group's share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income
of the associate. When the Group’s share of losses of an associate
exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate (which includes any
long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net
investment in the associate), the Group discontinues recognising its
share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations
or made payments on behalf of the associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity
method from the date on which the investee becomes an
associate. On acquisition of the investment in an associate, any
excess of the cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the
net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee
is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying
amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the
net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost
of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in
profit or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.3 FESHHEERHME ()

POLICIES (continued)
Investment in an associate (continued)

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to determine whether it
is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect to the
Group’s investment in an associate. When necessary, the entire
carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is tested
for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets
as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of
value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying
amount. Any impairment loss recognised forms part of the carrying
amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss
is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the
recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.

The Group discontinues the use of the equity method from the
date when the investment ceases to be an associate, or when
the investment (or a portion thereof) is classified as held for sale.
When the Group retains an interest in the former associate and
the retained interest is a financial asset, the Group measures
the retained interest at fair value at that date and the fair value is
regarded as its fair value on initial recognition in accordance with
HKAS 39. The difference between the carrying amount of the
associate at the date the equity method was discontinued, and the
fair value of any retained interest and any proceeds from disposing
of a part interest in the associate is included in the determination
of the gain or loss on disposal of the associate. In addition, the
Group accounts for all amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that associate on the same
basis as would be required if that associate had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously
recognised in other comprehensive income by that associate would
be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets
or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to
profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) when the equity
method is discontinued.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 23 FESHBRME (&)

POLICIES (continued)
Investment in an associate (continued)

The Group continues to use the equity method when an investment
in an associate becomes an investment in a joint venture. There is
no remeasurement to fair value upon such changes in ownership
interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate
but the Group continues to use the equity method, the Group
reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss that
had previously been recognised in other comprehensive income
relating to that reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss
would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related
assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group (such
as a sale or contribution of assets), profits and losses resulting from
the transactions with the associate are recognised in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests in
the associate that are not related to the Group.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property, plant
and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and
location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance,
is normally charged to the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income in the period in which it is incurred.
In situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the
expenditure for a major inspection is capitalized in the carrying
amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts
of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced at
intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.
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For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE-ZT—+tF=A=+—HILFE

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the
cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual
value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used
for this purpose are as follows:

Buildings 2.5%
Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the lease terms
and 20% to 25%

Office equipment 20% to 33'/3%
Furniture and fixtures 15% to 20%
Motor vehicles 20% to 25%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each
financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any
gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in the statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income in the year the
asset is derecognised is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.3 T ESHHEEME ()

POLICIES (continued)
Leasehold land

The Group assesses the classification of leasehold land as a finance
or an operating lease based on the assessment as to whether
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of
leasehold land has been transferred to the Group.

Interest in leasehold land that is accounted for as an operating
lease is presented as “prepaid land lease payments” in the
consolidated statements of financial position and is amortised over
the lease term on a straight-line basis.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings held
to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation, rather
than for use in the production or supply of goods or services or
for administrative purposes, or for sale in the ordinary course
of business. Such properties are measured initially at cost.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are stated
at cost less accumulated depreciation and provision for any
impairment in value. Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line
basis over the expected useful life. The principal expected useful life
for this purpose are as follows:

Buildings 40 years
Improvements 5 years

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment
property are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income in the year of the retirement
or disposal.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.3 FESHHEERHME ()

POLICIES (continued)
Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to
the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor
Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

The Group as lessee
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Properties under development

Properties under development are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value and comprise construction costs, borrowing
costs, professional fees, payments for land use rights and other
costs directly attributable to such properties incurred during the
development period.

Sales deposits and instalments received in respect of the presale
of properties under development prior to completion of the
development are included in current liabilities.

Properties under development are classified as current assets
as the construction period of the relevant property development
project is expected to complete within the normal operating
cycle. On completion, the properties are transferred to completed
properties held for sales.

Completed properties held for sales

Completed properties held for sales are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. Cost is determined by an apportionment of
the total land and buildings costs attributable to unsold properties.
Net realisable value is estimated by the directors based on the
prevailing market prices, on an individual property basis.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 23 FESHHEEHME ()

POLICIES (continued)
Completed properties held for sales (continued)

Sales deposits and instalments received in respect of the presale of
completed properties held for sales are included in current liabilities.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out basis. Net realisable
value is based on estimated selling prices less any estimated costs
to be incurred to completion and disposal.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories
is recognised as an expense in the period in which the related
revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-down of inventories
to net realisable value and all losses of inventories are recognised
as an expense in the period the write-down or loss occurs.
The amount of any reversal of any write-down of inventories is
recognised as a reduction in the amount of inventories recognised
as an expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.

Impairment of tangible assets other than
goodwill (see the accounting policy in respect of
goodwill above)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets with finite useful lives
to determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine
the extent of the impairment loss (if any). When it is not possible
to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent
basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also
allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are
allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a
reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.3 FESHHEEHME ()

POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of tangible assets other than
goodwill (see the accounting policy in respect of
goodwill above) (continued)

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets
not yet available for use are tested for impairment at least annually,
and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and
value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of
future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 23 FESHBRME ()

POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified into loans, receivables
and available-for-sale financial assets. The classification depends
on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined
at the time of initial recognition. All regular way purchases or sales
of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including
all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums
or discounts) through the expected life of the debt instrument, or,
where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt
instruments.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed
or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.
Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables (including
trade receivables, deposits and other receivables, and cash and
cash equivalents) are measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less any identified impairment loss (see
accounting policy on impairment loss on financial assets below).
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.3 FESHHEERHME ()

POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Available-for-sales investment

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either
designated as available-for-sale or are not classified as loans
and receivables. The Group designated the non-interests bearing
debenture as available-for-sale financial assets on initial recognition
of those items. Dividends on available-for-sale equity instruments
are recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive the
dividends is established.

Available-for-sale equity investments that do not have a quoted
market price in an active market and whose fair value cannot
be reliably measured and derivatives that are linked to and must
be settled by delivery of such unquoted equity investments are
measured at cost less any identified impairment losses at the end
of each reporting period (see the accounting policy in respect of
impairment loss on financial assets below).

Impairment loss on financial assets

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at the
end of each reporting period. Financial assets are considered to be
impaired when there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or
more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial
asset, the estimated future cash flows of the financial assets have
been affected.

For an available-for-sale equity investment, a significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value of that investment below its cost
is considered to be objective evidence of impairment.
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2.3

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment loss on financial assets (continued)

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment could
include:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or

o breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in interest
or principal payments; or

o it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy
or financial re-organisation; or

o disappearance of an active market for that financial asset
because of financial difficulties.

For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade receivables
and deposits and other receivables, assets that are assessed not to
be impaired individually are, in addition, assessed for impairment on
a collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of
receivables could include the Group’s past experience of collecting
payments, an increase in the number of delayed payments in
the portfolio, observable changes in national or local economic
conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the
impairment loss recognised is the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash
flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest
rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the impairment
loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows
discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial
asset. Such impairment loss will not be reversed in subsequent
periods.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.3 FESHHEEHME ()

POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment loss on financial assets (continued)

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the
impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the exception of
trade receivables and other receivables, where the carrying amount
is reduced through the use of an allowance account. Changes
in the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised
in profit or loss. When a trade or retention receivable or other
receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written off against the
allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously
written off are credited to profit or loss.

When an available-for-sale financial asset is considered to be
impaired, cumulative gains or losses previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss in the period
in which the impairment takes place.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent
period, the amount of impairment loss decreases and the decrease
can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
loss was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss
is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying
amount of the asset at the date the impairment is reversed does
not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the
impairment not been recognised.

Impairment losses on available-for-sale equity investments will
not be reversed through profit or loss. Any increase in fair value
subsequent to an impairment loss is recognised directly in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in investment revaluation
reserve.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified
as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

The Group’s financial liabilities are classified into other financial
liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

imO R IR &M EE

Illm D

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE-ZT—+tF=A=+—HILFE

2.3

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(continued)

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities including trade payables, other payables
and accruals, interest-bearing bank and other borrowings,
amounts due to related parties and convertible notes payable
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method.

Convertible notes

Convertible notes issued by the Group that contain both the
liability and conversion option components are classified separately
into respective items on initial recognition in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument. Conversion option that
will be settled by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another
financial asset for a fixed number of the Company’s own equity
instruments is classified as an equity instrument.

On initial recognition, the fair value of the liability component is
determined using the prevailing market interest of similar non-
convertible debts. The difference between the gross proceeds of
the issue of the convertible loan notes and the fair value assigned
to the liability component, representing the conversion option for
the holder to convert the loan notes into equity, is included in equity
(convertible bonds equity reserve).

In subsequent periods, the liability component of the convertible
notes is carried at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. The equity component, representing the option to convert
the liability component into ordinary shares of the Company, will
remain in convertible bonds equity reserve until the embedded
option is exercised, in which case the balance stated in convertible
bonds equity reserve will be transferred to share premium. Where
the option remains unexercised at the expiry date, the balance
stated in convertible bonds equity reserve will be released to the
retained earnings. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
upon conversion or expiration of the option.
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For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE-ZT—tF=A=+—HILFE

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.3 FESHHEERHME ()

POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(continued)

Convertible notes (continued)

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible notes
are allocated to the liability and equity components in proportion to
the allocation of the gross proceeds. Transaction costs relating to
the equity component are charged directly to equity. Transaction
costs relating to the liability component are included in the carrying
amount of the liability portion and amortised over the period of the
convertible bonds using the effective interest method.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through
the expected life of the financial liability, or where appropriate, a
shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by the Group are recognised at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Derecognition

A financial asset is derecognised only when the contractual rights
to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers
the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and receivable and the cumulative gain or
loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in investments revaluation reserve is recognised in
profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE-ZT—+tF=A=+—HILFE

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 23 FESHBRME ()

POLICIES (continued)
Derecognition (continued)

A financial liability is derecognised when, and only when, the
Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or expire. The
difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised
in profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash,
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have
a short maturity of generally within three months when acquired,
less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial position,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks,
including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash, which
are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation
(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that
the Group will be required to settle that obligation, and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

Provisions are measured at the best estimate of the consideration
required to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting
period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding
the obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash flows
estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the
present value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time value
of money is material). When some or all of the economic benefits
required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from
a third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually
certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the
receivable can be measured reliably.
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For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE-ZT—tF=A=+—HILFE

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.3 FESHHEERHME ()

POLICIES (continued)
Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit (loss) differs from “profit (loss) before tax” as reported
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss because of income
or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets
are generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which those deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised
if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates except where the Group is able to control the reversal
of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax
assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated
with such investments and interests are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits
against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences
and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.
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For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE-ZT—+tF=A=+—HILFE

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 23 FESHBRME ()

POLICIES (continued)
Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled
or the asset realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or
part of the asset to be recovered.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss. Where
current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a
business combination, tax effect is included in the accounting for
the business combination.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic
basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses
the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.
Specifically, government grants whose primary condition is that the
Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current
assets are recognised as deferred income in the consolidated
statement of financial position and transferred to profit or loss on
a systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the related
assets.
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For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE-ZT—tF=A=+—HILFE

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Government grants (continued)

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when the revenue can be
measured reliably, on the following bases:

U)

(i)

(i)

from the sale of goods, when the significant risks and rewards
of ownership have been transferred to the buyer, provided
that the Group maintains neither managerial involvement to
the degree usually associated with ownership, nor effective
control over the goods sold;

from the sale of properties, when the risks and rewards of
the ownership of properties are transferred to the purchasers,
which is when the construction of the relevant properties
has been completed and the properties have been delivered
to the purchasers pursuant to the sales agreement, and the
collectability of related receivables is reasonably assured;

rental income from properties, in the period in which the
properties are let and on the straight-line basis over the lease
terms;

management fee income, on an accrual basis and recognised
when the services are rendered; and

interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts
the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of
the financial instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate,
to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

B tEER WATEARREARAT 129

23 FEGHBEME (8)

BB E (40)

FREELERIXHBRNMERRA
AEEREEYBER (XLEBAR
MHERA)MATRR BT S
TH 1 B R FT WER B H R 0 48 2R A HE

<7
o

e 25 FERR

ff M 355 3 7S S I 85 A6 VP ) 2 3
fER A st 8 FERTHEET I
R

(i) BEmZHEMS EMA#RZ
TERRIEHREZEET KE
ROEAREHZFEL Z2ER
EESEMEEAB CEENE
IR 2 )

(i) BMEEMEMS RYEMAE
ZAERR M REREEE T
R TEHAEMELEEE R
KRABBEDECREHEDHER
RFTER mED A& EHERE
W ER A R B MK R R B R R

(i) MEZHSWAEREY XM
HEAEERHE AR

(iv) EBREBRATDRENELERRH
RGERER: &

(v) BABWRAME  EBERMNEK
EIREEEE YRARERT
Az EHFHRBEHHE (HE
A b R R RIR & WA ERE RS
RESREEREFE N R®

27
e



| 9 -I _

130 Richly Field China Development Limited ~ Annual Report 2017

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
R OIS IREMIGE

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE-ZT—+tF=A=+—HILFE

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 23 FESHBRME ()

POLICIES (continued)
Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the form
of share-based payments, whereby employees render services as
consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured
by reference to the fair value at the date at which they are granted.
The fair value is determined by an external valuer using a binomial
model, further details of which are given in note 34 to the financial
statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee
benefit expenses, together with a corresponding increase in equity,
over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions
are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled
transactions at the end of each reporting period until the vesting
date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired
and the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments
that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for
a period represents the movement in the cumulative expense
recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into
account when determining the grant date fair value of awards, but
the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of
the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that
will ultimately vest. Market performance conditions are reflected
within the grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached
to an award, but without an associated service requirement, are
considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions
are reflected in the fair value of an award and lead to an immediate
expensing of an award unless there are also service and/or
performance conditions.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.3 FESHHEERHME ()

POLICIES (continued)
Share-based payments (continued)

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or
non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been
modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an
expense is recognised for any modification that increases the total
fair value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to
the employee as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it
had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This includes
any award where non-vesting conditions within the control of either
the Group or the employee are not met. However, if a new award
is substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated as a
replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and
new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the original
award, as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional
share dilution in the computation of earnings per share.

Short-term employee benefits

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in
respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave in the
period the related service is rendered at the undiscounted amount
of the benefits expected to be paid in exchange for that service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee benefits are
measured at the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to
be paid in exchange for the related service.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 23 FESHBRME ()

POLICIES (continued)
Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those
employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees’
basic salaries and are charged to the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of
the Group in an independently administered fund. The Group’s
employer contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in
Mainland China are required to participate in central pension
schemes operated by the local municipal governments. These
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of their
payroll costs to the central pension schemes. The contributions are
charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the central pension schemes.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended
use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such
time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or
sale. Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets
is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.3 FESHHEERHME ()

POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars,
which is the Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the
Group determines its own functional currency and items included
in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the
entities in the Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at
the end of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement
or translation of monetary items are recognized in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at
fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the date when the fair value was measured. The gain
or loss arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured
at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or
loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference
on the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries and
associates are currencies other than the Hong Kong dollar. As at
the end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these
entities are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange
rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period and, their
statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average
exchange rates for the year. The resulting exchange differences
are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in the exchange translation reserve. On disposal of a foreign
operation, the component of other comprehensive income relating
to that particular foreign operation is recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 23 FESHBRME ()

POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currencies (continued)

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and
any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of
the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the
cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows.
Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise
throughout the year are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
weighted average exchange rates for the year.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 2.3, the directors of the Company are required to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses reported and
disclosures made in the consolidated financial statements. The
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-
going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies

The following is the critical judgment, apart from those involving
estimations, that the directors of the Company have made in the
process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that
has the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in
consolidated financial statements.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies (continued)

Going concern consideration

The assessment of the going concern assumptions involves making
judgements by the management, at a particular point of time, about
the future outcome of events or conditions which are inherently
uncertain. The directors of the Company consider that the Group
has ability to continue as a going concern and the major events or
conditions, which may give rise to business risks, that individually
or collectively may cast significant doubt about the going concern
assumptions are set out in note 2.1.

Classification between investment properties and owner
occupied properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an
investment property, and has developed criteria in making that
judgement. Investment property is a property held to earn rentals
or for capital appreciation or both. Therefore, the Group considers
whether a property generates cash flows largely independently of
the other assets held by the Group.

Some properties comprise a portion that is held to earn rentals or
for capital appreciation and another portion that is held for use in
the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative
purposes. If these portions could be sold separately or leased
out separately under a finance lease, the Group accounts for the
portions separately. If the portions could not be sold separately,
the property is an investment property only if an insignificant
portion is held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services or for administrative purposes. Judgement is made on an
individual property basis to determine whether ancillary services
are so significant that a property does not qualify as an investment
property.

3.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies (continued)

Contingent liabilities of the delay in project construction
works

Certain projects’ construction work delayed compared with the
original time schedule agreed with local government due to various
reasons. The Group’s management determines the contingent
liability in relation to the penalty arisen from the delay in completion
of construction. The determination requires significant judgment. In
making this judgement, the management evaluated the possibility
of penalty happened. The management reassesses the contingent
liability at the end of each reporting period and no contingent liability
was considered as at 31 March 2017. Details of which are set out
in note 31.

Estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an
annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value-in-use of the
cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating
the value-in-use requires the Group to make an estimate of the
expected future cash flows from the cash-generating units and
also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value of those cash flows. The carrying amount of goodwill
at 31 March 2017 was HK$112,710,000 (2016: HK$120,085,000).
Details of which are set out in note 19.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Net realisable value of properties under development and
completed properties held for sales

Properties under development and completed properties held for
sale are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The
estimated net realisable value is the estimated selling price less
selling expenses and the estimated cost of completion.

The Group’s management reviews the properties under
development and completed properties held for sales periodically
and carries out an impairment review on a project-by-project basis
at each financial year end. The budget cost and development
progress of the project is reviewed by the Group on a regular basis
and adjusted as appropriate. Should the actual cost differs from
the budget cost, such difference will impact the accuracy of cost of
properties held for sales. As at 31 March 2017, the carrying amount
of properties under development and completed properties held for
sales is approximately HK$431,547,000 (2016: HK$404,729,000),
net of accumulated write-downs of approximately HK$26,808,000
(2016: Nil).

3.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Impairment of investment properties and prepaid land
lease payments

The Group adopts the cost model for subsequent measurement
of investment properties and prepaid land lease payments.
Management performs review for impairment of investment
properties and prepaid land lease payments whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts
of investment properties and prepaid land lease payments may
not be recoverable. In such case, the recoverable amounts of
investment properties and prepaid land lease payments have been
determined based on the value-in-use method. For the purpose
of assessing impairment, management had grouped investment
properties and prepaid land lease payments at the lowest levels for
which there are separately identifiable cash-generating units. The
value-in-use calculations require the use of significant estimates
and assumptions on the projections of cash flows from the
continuous use of investment properties. As at 31 March 2017,
the carrying amount of investment properties and respective
prepaid land lease payments is approximately HK$1,647,614,000
(2016: HK$1,809,502,000), net of provision of impairment loss of
approximately HK$134,634,000 (2016: HK$134,634,000).
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Current tax and deferred tax assets

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong and
Mainland China. The Group carefully evaluates tax implications
of transactions, files tax reports and makes tax provision in
accordance with the prevailing tax regulations and prescribed
timeframe. However, the implementation of tax varies amongst
different tax jurisdictions in various cities of the PRC and the
Group had not yet finalised certain calculations with local tax
authorities. Judgement is required in determining the Group’s
provision for income taxes. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact on the income tax and deferred tax
provision in the periods in which such determination is made. The
carrying amount of income tax payable, carried as a liability in the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2017,
was HK$121,270,000 (2016: HK$133,326,000).

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the losses can be utilised. Significant management
judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred tax
assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and
level of future taxable profits together with future tax planning
strategies. There was no deferred tax recognised with respect
to tax losses at 31 March 2017 (2016: Nil). The amount of
unrecognised tax losses at 31 March 2017 was HK$544,914,000
(2016: HK$327,281,000). Details of which are set out in note 11.

3.
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4.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

Over 90% of the Group'’s revenue, expenses, assets and liabilities
are generated from the Group’s property development projects
in Changsha, Hunan Province (the “Changsha Project”) and
Qinhuangdao of Hebei Province (the “Qinhuangdao Project”) in
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”). The chief executive
officer (the chief operating decision maker) makes decisions about
resources allocation and assesses performance of the Group
based on the operating results from and financial position of these
business activities. No single reportable operating segment was
presented for sales of fashion wears and accessories for both years
as the chief executive officer is of the opinion that such segment is
not informative due to its immaterial to the Group’s profit or loss,
total assets and liabilities. Accordingly, the chief executive officer is
of the opinion that the Changsha Project and Qinhuangdao Project
in the PRC is a single reportable operating segment of the Group.

An analysis of the Group’s revenues from external customers for
each group of similar products and services is disclosed in note 5.

The Group’s revenue from external customers is derived solely from
its operations in the PRC, and all non-current assets (other than
financial assets) of the Group are located in the PRC.

During the year, the Group had no transactions with external
customer which individually contributed over 10% to the Group’s
total revenue (2016: Nil).
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5. REVENUE 5. W=
Revenue represents gross proceeds from the sale of properties, W T EEEMSRIERSE Kk
net of valued-added tax and other sales related taxes; the net EEMEHEMEESHEERE: HEE
invoiced value of goods sold, after trade discounts; gross rental MBS EHNEERFHE: FAEK
income received and receivable from investment properties and FEBKEME 7 HEBRARERE
management fee income during the year. WA B EE -

An analysis of the Group’s revenue is as follows: AEBWE 2 DONTAT :
2017 2016
—E—+t5F —T—RF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FEx FHET
Sales of properties VI HE 25,566 73,138
Sales of fashion wears and accessories Ry 2 K2 B B 8 895 3,750
Gross rental income e W A LB 25,564 16,346
Management fee income EREWA 9,466 2,633
61,491 95,867

6. OTHER INCOME AND GAIN 6. Hiw AR K=

2017 2016
—E—+tF ZE—RF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FEx T
Interest income on bank deposits |ITHFRF B WA 95 107
Other interest income EF B HA - 111
Net exchange gain b 5 45 5 36 147
Others EHfth 85 1,293
216 1,658

.}LV
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7. FINANCE COSTS 7. MMEEH

An analysis of the Group’s finance cost is as follows: AEB sREEBASTET
2017 2016
—E—+F —E—RF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Interest on bank and other loans RITREMEFKFLE 262,058 233,225
Interest on convertible notes payable FERT AT IR AR F) S 8,153 2,710

Less: Amount capitalised in the cost of B EREEREEKASH

qualifying assets ERz &% (117,890) (193,369)
152,321 42,566

The capitalisation rates used to determine the amount of borrowing HE_ZT—+t&F=-A=+—BULHF

costs eligible for capitalisation for the year ended 31 March 2017 E - AREEUELNEERAEEE

was 10.06% (2016: 11.95%). Z2EAXREEAE10.06% (=T — K~
F:11.95%) °
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8. LOSS BEFORE TAX

The Group’s loss before tax is arrived at after charging (crediting):

8. BRBIAIEIR

AEBEBRVABED M (FFA)T

E=
2017 2016
—E—+tEF —E—RF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FERT T
(@)  Staff costs: (@) BIRkA:
Salaries, wages and other benefits e TERHEAMET 20,340 19,281
Contributions to defined contribution AT HRFURIKRET B 5K
retirement plans 2,696 2,286
23,036 21,567
(b)  Other items: () HAbIEE :
Cost of inventories recognised BRAMI 2 FEKRAY
as expenses’ 27,967 95,817
Gain on disposal of property, HEWE - BER
plant and equipment B WS 1) -
Depreciation of property, W BE R EITE
plant and equipment* 3,200 4,241
Depreciation of investment properties* WEYEE 29,530 29,488
Impairment loss on other receivables* H {th B U SR8 2 R B S 1E 4,343 -
(Reversal of) provision BES () #E
for compensation*® (1,348) 3,225
Provision for completed properties BEHE 2% T Y% EE
held for sales* 26,808 -
Reversal of provision for inventories* GERERD (1,639) (2,530)
Amortisation of prepaid land lease TEAT 30 & 3o # i
payments* 28,979 31,363
Auditors’ remuneration 1% ELRD Bl & 980 1,090
Minimum lease payments under BT REF I LERE
operating leases in respect of ETZRERER
land and buildings 1,909 1,084
# This amount is included in “Cost of sales” in the consolidated statement # Ze B AGEBR REME ISR

of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

This amount is included in “Administrative expenses” in the consolidated

statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

RZHEKRA]I A

ZeREt AR BEREMEEKRER
®2Z TR A e
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9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 9. EERTHHARZEHNE
EMOLUMENTS
Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments for the year, disclosed BIEEEMAERSAR AR ([H#Z
pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the Frl)@&EH EmARAN (T EMRA]) R
“Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited FEBE N BEMG E383(1) I M RA A (H
(the “Stock Exchange”) and Section 383(1) of the Hong Kong EEENmER) KIF2HBEEZE
Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of ERITHAHFRMESOT

Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, are as follows:

Employer’s
Salaries, contributions
allowances to retirement

and defined

benefits in contribution Total

Fees kind plans  remuneration
ﬁ‘ E {/\ TA

e 2ER BREHEZ
Be BRI EEHR Memm

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET
Year ended 31 March 2017 HEZ_Z—+F
“R=1+-HLEE
Chief executive and THBHEATES:
executive directors:
Mr. Xin Songtao EINEEE 1,071 84 28 1,183
Mr. Ma Jun (Re-designated on BlREE(RZT—RF
9 September 2016) NANBRE) 670 237 10 917
Executive director: HTEE:
Mr. Li Yi Feng (Re-designated on ENE%AE ( A\ZE—RE
9 September 2016) AANBHAE) 318 - - 318
2,059 321 38 2,418
Non-executive directors: FMTESE:
Mr. Ma Jun (Re-designated on BEEE
9 September 2016) (R-ZT-—A%E
NANREE) 74 - 4 78
Mr. Li Yi Feng (Re-designated on ?U’J’\ﬁ%?ﬁ_’{
9 September 2016) (R-T—RF
NA jm H#EE) % - - 94
Mr. Chen Wei Bkt 168 - - 168
336 - 4 340
Independent non-executive directors: B FFHITES:
Ms. Hsu Wai Man Helen REFRL 199 - - 199
Mr. Chau Shing Yim David BEK KL 199 - - 199
Mr. Xu Jinghong HFEELE 199 - - 199
597 - - 597

2,992 321 42 3,355
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9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 9. EERTHHARZHE &)
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

Employer’s
Salaries, contributions
allowances to retirement
and defined
benefits in contribution Total
Fees kind plans remuneration
FEMT

Fe Rk BIRGTEIZ
e EmAlE BB et

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL THL THL THL
Year ended 31 March 2016 HE-Z—1F
ZRA=+-RL%FE
Chief executive and THEHZNTES:
executive directors:
Mr. Xin Songtao (Re-designated on ERESE (RZE—RE
15 January 2016) —BtEAHAT) 239 - 7 246
Mr. Ma Jun (Re-designated on BREE(RZZ—RF
15 January 2016) —BTRBHAT) 848 504 14 1,366
Executive directors: HITES:
Mr. Li Vi Feng B} -5 720 120 - 840
Mr. Xin Songtao (Re-designated on EREE (RZE—RE
15 January 2016) —BtEAHAT) 760 93 22 875
2,567 7 43 3,327
Non-executive directors: FRTES:
Mr. Ma Jun (Re-designated Serk (RZT—RE
on 15 January 2016) —BtEAHT) 24 - 2 26
Mr. Chen Wei BELE 168 - - 168
192 - 2 194
Independent non-executive directors: BUFHTES:
Ms. Hsu Wai Man Helen REHRT 199 - - 199
Mr. Chau Shing Yim David A K E 199 - - 199
Mr. Xu Jinghong FEBEE 199 - - 199
597 - - 597

3,356 7 45 4,118
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10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included two
directors and the chief executive (2016: two directors and the
chief executive), details of whose remuneration are set out in note
9. Details of the remuneration for the year of the remaining three
(2016: two) highest paid employees who are neither a director nor
chief executive of the Company are as follows:

10. B BREHMES

FALEEaTMHEET BEMA
EER—RATHAEH (ZF—XRF:
MEBEER —RTRAHR) H#=2
HBEHNMEI - FAR HBR=5% (=
T-RNFE MBI)REARARBEEN
FTBRBHEZESHNEER ZFHMF

BT
2017 2016
—E—+F —ZE—RF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHET
Salaries and other emoluments Fe kAW E 2,322 1,360
Contributions to defined contribution FERFERIRGT SR
retirement plans 46 18
2,368 1,378

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest paid
employees whose remuneration fell within the following band is as

FEE T REZESTRIFTHA
BezmEmuMEE Z ABMT:

follows:
2017 2016
—E—tHF —E—RF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FET FHET
Nil to HK$1,000,000 = 21,000,000/ 7T 2 2
Over HK$1,000,000 1,000,000 7T A + 1 -

No emoluments were paid by the Group to any directors of the
Company or five highest paid employees of the Group as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation
for loss of office for the years ended 31 March 2017 and 2016.

BE _T—tFR-_FT—-RF=A
Zt+t-BLEFE - AFEYERAR
AEMESFHAKELREHFHHE
BxfME EAMAIRIMARE
Bh 2 B SFRBERZEEE -
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1. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 11. rBFHMAX
Pursuant to the rules and regulations of Bermuda, the Group is not BREBREERNEER AEEHBA
subject to any income tax in Bermuda. BMNAERNBERERSGH-
Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on EIT (the “EIT BREPEAREIMBECEMG R E
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of (TEEMBBE]) REEMBEE
the subsidiaries registered in the PRC is 25% (2016: 25%). EEGEH RPRFMzHB AR Z
BMER26% (ZE—RF:25%) °
No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made for the AEEARFEREEAELBEELETME
year ended 31 March 2017 as the Group did not generate any AR (ZE—RF &) ALK
assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during the year (2016: Nil). REBEE—_FT—tF=—A=1+—HIEF
E2BBRNEUTIREE-
The income tax for the year can be reconciled to the loss before AFEZHAEHEGEERREME
tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other Al ammk cBRNAIBEYENAT
comprehensive income as follows:
2017 2016
—E—tF —E—RF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FExT FHETT
Loss before tax BT RTEE (343,575) (340,209)
Tax at the applicable tax rates RERAMEFE 2 HIE (81,870) (64,028)
Tax effect of share of results attributable to Bt & A Al B2 4E 2 IS &
associates 2,876 155
Tax effect of non-taxable income HEFRRBAZ REE (33) (2,759)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses PAIHBRASZ 2 MG 28 24,619 36,205
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERBIEEE BB E 54,408 30,427

Income tax expense for the year

REFZFAERAX

The Group has tax losses arising in Mainland China of
RMB483,766,000 (equivalent to HK$544,914,000) (2016:
RMB292,213,000 (equivalent to HK$327,281,000)) that will expire
in one to five years for offsetting against future taxable profits.
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these
losses as they have arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-
making for some time and it is not considered probable that taxable
profits will be available against which the tax losses can be utilised.

REBBE PR T ARMESTEFIE
ANR¥483,766,0007 (4% R
544,914,000 L) (ZE—XNF:
AR #®292,213,000 (MBH R
327,281,0007L) ) " KR —ERHF
A JE DA P VR4 8 R SR FE SR B s A o

HRZEEEHCREHE —RE™M
ZHBRARES  WRAETKARE

JERRFLH A Al IR S B A B 1 -
RERZEBEEERELEREEE -

7
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HE-_ZT—+F=-A=+—HIFE

12. LOSS PER SHARE

(@) Basic loss per share
The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the

-

12. BREE
() BREAERE
IR ARS8 Th iR T B

following data. H-
2017 2016
—E—+t5F ZE-RF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Loss attributable to owners of ARNEHEA ANE(RER
the Company (343,575) (340,209)
2017 2016
—E—+tF —E—RF
Weighted average number of T e 8 (ER)
ordinary shares (basic) 12,752,098,522  11,140,159,018

Diluted loss per share

For the years ended 31 March 2017 and 2016, diluted loss
per share does not include the effect of the convertible notes
since the assumed conversion had an anti-dilutive effect on
the basic loss per share.

For the year ended 31 March 2016, the computation of
diluted loss per share did not assume the exercise of the
Company’s outstanding share options as the exercise price
of these options were higher than the average market price of
shares.

13. DIVIDENDS

The directors of the Company do not recommend the payment of
any dividends in respect of the year ended 31 March 2017 (2016:
nil).

b) BREBEHE
BE_TtHFR-F—RF=
AZT—BALEFE BRERRS
BARREBEHERELRERA
BEREBME WERBEEER
TTEEARRREBECEE-

BE_T-AF=ZA=t—HL
FE GHESREEERYER
RITEARA®WARITEZER
B RARZEBREZITER
SRENFHHE-

iz B

ARREETERREBEEZE T —CF
A=+ —BLEFEREEMEKE
—E—REFE)-

13.
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HE-_ZT—+F=-A=+—HIFE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

F

14. WE -BEREE

»

Leasehold Office  Furniture and Motor
Buildings  improvements equipment fixtures vehicles Total
B HENEEE WARE GARETHE RE @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
FEx TR TR TiEx FEx FEx
31 March 2017 —E-tf¥ZH=+-8
At 1 April 2016 RZE-~§MA—-R:
Cost [ 37,877 889 6,644 1,285 6,918 53,613
Accumulated depreciation 2HAE (3,797) (826) (4,624) (693) (5,883) (15,823)
Net carrying amount EmFE 34,080 63 2,020 592 1,035 37,790
At 1 April 2016, net of RZE-~¥mA-R"
accumulated depreciation Nk 2HAE 34,080 63 2,020 592 1,035 37,790
Addltions RE - - 23 1 - 2%
Disposal k= - - - ©) - ©)
Depreciation provided during the year FRNERE (1,836) (62) (689) (235) (378) (3,200)
Exchange realignment 5 E (2,035) (1) (88) (38) (52) (2,214)
At 31 March 2017, net of W-E—+E=ZA=+-H"
accumulated depreciation B EFTE 30,209 = 1,266 314 605 32,394
At 31 March 2017: RoB—+%5ZA=+-R:
Cost KA 35,550 834 6,281 1,195 6,515 50,375
Accumulated depreciation ZitHE (5,341) (834) (5,015) (881) (5,910) (17,981)
Net carrying amount EmFE 30,209 = 1,266 314 605 32,394
31 March 2016 —E-x¥zf=t-8
At 1 April 2015: RZE-HEMA-A:
Cost [ 39,845 935 6,769 1,135 7,258 55942
Accumulated depreciation ZithE (1992) (739) (3842) 416) (5,280) (12,268)
Net carrying amount FEFE 37,853 197 2927 719 1,978 43,674
At 1 April 2015, net of RZE-HENA-B-
accumulated depreciation NREGTE 37,853 197 2,921 719 1,078 43674
Additions RE - - 361 209 - 570
Depreciation provided during the year FRNERE (1952) (127) (1,19) (14) (692) (4,.241)
Exchange realignment 5 E (1,821) ] 72 62) (251) 2,213)
At 31 March 2016, net of WZE-"E=Zf=+-R"
accumulated depreciation MREGTE 34,080 63 2,020 592 1,03 37,790
At 31 March 2016: R-B-REZA=1+-R:
Cost KA 37,877 889 6,644 1,285 6,918 53613
Accumulated depreciation 2HNE (3,797) (826) 4,624) (693) (5,883) (15,823)
Net carrying amount EmFE 34,080 63 2,020 592 1,035 37,790
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

15. REWZE

Under
Completed construction Total
253214 i3 ast
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TER TER TER
31 March 2017 “E-tf=A=+-A
At 1 April 2016: RZE— R EMA—H:
Cost AR 730,750 68,756 799,506
Accumulated depreciation and impairment ZEMERAE (181,399) - (181,399)
Net carrying amount REFE 549,351 68,756 618,107
At 1 April 2016, net of accumulated depreciation RN =F— < FMA—H-
and impairment Mk 25 E RORE 549,351 68,756 618,107
Additions RE - 6,685 6,685
Depreciation provided during the year FRINERE (29,530) = (29,530)
Exchange realignment I E (33,737) (4,222) (37,959)
At 31 March 2017 RZE—+tF=f=+—H 486,084 71,219 557,303
At 31 March 2017: RZE—+§=A=+—H:
Cost AR 685,873 71,219 757,092
Accumulated depreciation and impairment ZEHTERAME (199,789) - (199,789)
Net carrying amount REFE 486,084 71,219 557,303
31 March 2016 —E-XE=ZA=t+-A
At 1 April 2015: RZE-RFEMA—H:
Cost AR 703,656 66,261 769,917
Accumulated depreciation and impairment ZEAMERAE (20,112) - (20,112)
Net carrying amount REFEE 683,544 66,261 749,805
At 1 April 2015, net of accumulated depreciation W=F—HFMA—A -
and imparment NRZHATERRE 683,544 66,261 749,805
Additions NE 27,094 2,623 29,717
Impairment loss HEERE (100,634) - (100,634)
Depreciation provided during the year FRMERE (29,488) - (29,488)
Exchange realignment ERTiE ks (31,165) (128) (31,293)
At 31 March 2016 RZE-~E=ZA=+—H 549,351 68,756 618,107
At 31 March 2016: R-B-RE=ZR=1+—H:
Cost A 730,750 68,756 799,506
Accumulated depreciation and impairment ZEMERAE (181,399) - (181,399)
Net carrying amount RERE 549,351 68,756 618,107
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 15. REW=E (#)

All of the Group’s investment properties are situated in Mainland
China.

At 31 March 2017, the above investment properties were valued
at RMB583,036,000 (equivalent to HK$656,732,000) (2016:
RMB517,930,000 (equivalent to HK$618,107,000)) by Avista
Valuation Advisory Limited, independent firm of professionally
qualified valuer. The investment properties are leased to third
parties under operating leases, further summary details of which are
included in note 36(a).

At 31 March 2017, the Group’s investment properties with a net
carrying amount of HK$495,857,000 (2016: HK$109,688,000)
were pledged to secure certain bank and other loans of the Group
(note 29).

Impairment

During the year ended 31 March 2016, the board of directors of
the Company aware that the increase in rental income of the Group
was not as anticipated in 2016, the Group therefore performed
an impairment review of the recoverable amount related to the
outlets located in Changsha City, Hunan Province, the PRC. For the
purposes of impairment testing, investment properties located in
Changsha had been allocated to one cash-generating unit.

The recoverable amount of the relevant cash-generating unit
was determined on the basis of value-in-use calculations based
on a pre-tax discount rate of approximately 7.5% and cash flow
projections prepared from financial forecasts approved by the
management for the next five years. The cash flows beyond the
5-year period were extrapolated using a growth rate of 3%.

In performing the impairment testing, the directors of the
Company had also made reference to a valuation performed by an
independent professional valuer, Avista Valuation Advisory Limited
(“Avista”).

AEEZREMEFEBLURFTENA
i

RZE—EF=ZA=+—8 L%
EmEzHEREARKES583,086,000
7T (& ”M656,732,0008 ) (=
T—XRNF: AR¥517,930,0007T
(& M618,107,0008 L) ) * Jh M
BUEESERMGEMMEMRTEE
MBERAFET - REMERBLE
HEREFE=-H EHE—FFBHE
P M 5¥36(a) °

R-_E—+E=ZA=+—H XA&EH
3R M % {8 5495,857,0008 ¢ (=&
—/N%:109,688,000/8 L) 2 & &
MECIEARNEBERS THRITRE
tE 2 ER (HFE29) °

S

BE_ZT-RNF=ZA=+—-HIF
B ARREESGEEXZLAEE_F
—ARNEZHE WAL MK EDTE
H-Eg AEERUZRTEAEE
Rz B AHE 2 7T Y Bl & B 1F
MERS RBEENANS LRNE
DZREMEEIRE-—BERSEL
Bhre

HEAREELEML 2T KBS
REEREBEZAETE(EROR
7.5%Z R BRI IR R B E 4 E
ZARRAFHBHEUMBHRHZAER
ERA)MEBEE-BHAFHZRAS
MEERAI N EREHEHE -

WETREANRS AARES D
£ Y ST B 3¢ 1 18 4 0 22 4 0
BRAR ([XERTED) FIER 2
i e
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 15. BEWE (&)

Impairment (continued) AR (%)

Based on the assumptions applied, the recoverable amount of BREFMEBZBER BE=_Z—~
the cash-generating unit based on value-in-use calculations was FZA=T—HLFE BHaEHSE
approximately RMB857,587,000 (equivalent to HK$1,029,207,000) Bz BB EFRAEBRTE
for the year ended 31 March 2016. Accordingly, impairment loss 4“5 ANR#857,587,0007T (HAE R
of HK$100,634,000 and HK$34,000,000 (note 16) had been 1,029,207,0008 70) - A it - R &
recognised in investment properties and prepaid land lease EYMERBEMN T HWHAERERZH
payments respectively. BEEED 7R A£100,634,0008 T &

34,000,000 7t (FIFE16) °

During the year ended 31 March 2017, based on an valuation HE_ZT—+t&E=A=+—BIt#HF
performed by Avista with a consistent approach, no further B BENEMTGEER —RAHEE
impairment loss was considered necessary by the directors of the B2 ARREESRALEED
Company. HE—RERIE-
16. PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS 16. AL HEERK
2017 2016
—E—+tF —E—RF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FHET
Carrying amount at beginning of year REY 2 REE 1,191,395 1,320,339
Amortised during the year A PR 5 (28,979) (31,363)
Impairment loss recognised during the year A& ARER 2 BB E B - (34,000)
Exchange realignment PE 3 A% (72,105) (63,581)
Carrying amount at 31 March R=ZA=+—HBZEAE 1,090,311 1,191,395
Current portion included in prepayments, T AFBRFZE &€ R E b FEUR
deposits and other receivables (note 24) SRIEZ BDEAER 9 (MI5E24) (28,061) (29,905)
Non-current portion JEEVHAES 1,062,250 1,161,490
At 31 March 2017, the Group’s leasehold land with a net carrying RZE—tEF=ZA=+—8B &%
amount of HK$828,533,000 (2016: HK$973,515,000) was pledged 8% M ¥ {8 A£828,533,0008 T (=&
to secure certain bank and other loans of the Group (note 29). — N%:973,515,0008 )2 HE

THEESAEEERSE TRITRE
ERZER (K FE29) -
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HE-F—LF=A=T-BLFE

17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

17. REEE QT 2R

»

2017 2016

—E—tF —E—RF

Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000

B &E FERT FHET

Share of net liabilities LB EFE (38,331) (14,354)

Amounts due from associates g NI E= @) 64,346 64,346

31,015 49,992

Provision for impairment DRIk (b) (31,015) (24,378)

- 25,614

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had interests in the REBR REBRUTTE X
following immaterial associates: ERa AR

Place of Proportion of nominal value of
incorporation/ paid-up capital by the Group
establishment and Class of and portion of voting power Principal
Name Form of entity operation equity held held indirectly activities
AEEREHE
TMARL RIR PR BRATH B b Bl R
A8 1329 BEws 85l BERAZREELA ETEXR
2017 2016
“E-t§ ZE-RF
Champ Wisdom Limited Limited liability company BvVI Registered 50% 50% Investment
capital holding
BRERAA BREFAT RBRAHEE BRUTIEN REER
Champ Wisdom Holdings Limited Limited liability company Hong Kong Registered 50% 50% Investment
capital holding
BRERARATF BREMAH B BN REZR
BRA-—HEEHEERAR Limited liability company ~ The PRC Registered 50% 50% Property
capital management
BRR—BEBEHEERAA BEREMELA HE AR A MEER
Chuang Yao Limited Limited liability company BvVI Registered 42% 42%  Investment
capital holding
NG| EREMLA RBRAHEE BRUTIEN REER
Chuang Yao Holdings Limited Limited liability company Hong Kong Registered 42% 42% Investment
capital holding
EIEZRBR AR BREFAH B Bl REZR

_4
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17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 17. REEE QAR 2 & (@)
Place of Proportion of nominal value of
incorporation/ paid-up capital by the Group
establishment and Class of and portion of voting power Principal

Name Form of entity operation equity held held indirectly activities
AEEFfESR
MR/ KILR FisEs BRAHE Bl R
#8 1 3% fd- 4 g5l BESEZRERLSA TEXH
2017 2016

“E-tF ZBR-RF

Globe Qutlet Town (Jilin) Limited Limited liability company The PRC Registered 42% 42% Sales of
capital properties
EMRRRAERLEMNNERDE BREELA HE RRGIEN WEHE
Cosmos View Holdings Limited Limited liability company BvVI Registered 50% 50% Investment
capital holding
REEREBAT BREEAH EERRES ERlileN REER
Richly Field Nanchang Holdings Ltd Limited liability company Hong Kong Registered 50% 50% Investment
capital holding
HHBEERARAR BEREEAT £ RN BAER
Jiangxi Globe Outlets City Co Ltd Limited liability company The PRC Registered 50% 50% Property
capital development
IRREFRTBETINSAERAR BREFAT HE RRGIEN MmERE
Aggregate information of associates that are not individually BRI TERBEAT 288 ER:
material:
2017 2016
—_=— + EF —F—R $
HK$’000 HK$’000
THEx FHET
Aggregate carrying amount of individually RABMBWMEANERTEX
immaterial associates in the consolidated &N E 2R AREE
financial statements - 25,614
Aggregate amounts of the Group’s share REBEGZERERTZ
of those associates’ BRTEE
Loss from continuing operations RERBELEES BB (17,430) (941)
Other comprehensive expense HE2mAx (1,547) (3,438)

Total comprehensive expense FEALBE (18,977) (4,379)




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Bl i ¥R = Ml 5

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE-ZT—+tF=A=+—HILFE

17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Notes:

@

Amounts due from associates are unsecured, interest-free and have no
fixed terms of repayment. In the opinion of the directors, these balances
are considered as quasi-equity investments in the associates.

Globe Outlet Town (Jilin) Limited (“Globe Outlet”) is principally engaged
in a property development project in Changchun, Jiin Province, the
PRC. At 31 March 2017 and 2016, the Group had an amount due
from Jiin Outlets of HK$35,996,000. Globe Outlet had been making
losses and recorded net liabilities at 31 March 2017 and 2016. In view
of the continuous poor financial performance of Globe Outlet, the Group
has provided a further impairment loss of HK$6,637,000 (2016: nil)
for the year ended 31 March 2017. At 31 March 2017, an aggregate
impairment loss on investment in Globe Outlet of HK$9,362,000 (2016:
HK$2,725,000) was recognised.

Jiangxi Outlets Brand Discount City Company Limited (“Jiangxi Outlets”)
is principally engaged in a property development project in Nanchang,
Jiangxi Province, the PRC (the “Jiangxi Outlets Brand Discount City
Project”). At 31 March 2017 and 2016, the Group had an amount due
from Jiangxi Outlets of HK$11,514,000 and an aggregate impairment
loss on investment in Jiangxi Outlets Brand Discount City Project of
HK$4,817,000 was recognised in prior years.

Huailai Dayi Wineries Company Limited (‘Huailai Dayi”) is principally
engaged in a property development project in Huailai, Hebei Province,
the PRC (the “Huallai Dayi Project”). At 31 March 2017 and 2016, the
Group had an amount due from Huailai Dayi of HK$16,836,000 and an
aggregate impairment loss on investment in the Huailai Dayi Project of
HK$16,836,000 was recognised in prior years.

i »

“E-tEFE HMEYEBEARLA 155

17. REEE N B 2R (8)

i :

(@)

JEYHE AR 2 FURREER 2B R
BEEETERY -EERR RFHEHW
BRNEERAR 2 BEURERE -

H RS R A R ITHIN AR A
([HMEEFRE]) ESRPEEMHE
EEMHEYEHRREE R —+
ER-TB-RNEFE=ZA=+—HB K£EE
A e PR B4 HE T 3008 35,996,000
Lo EMBEET—ERTEIE TR
R+ FER T -RFZA=+—H
BEAEFE EREMRERTFHE
FBERBRTE AEEREE=Z2—+t
FZAZ+—RALEFEHE—SFAE
BB 5T 12 56,637,000/ 7T ( ZZ—7X
Fom) R_T—+F=-A=+—8"
ERRIEEREMRREHRE 2 BER
B 44%89,362,0008 7T (=& — /N F:
2,725,000/8 7T ) °

THBEERTZERTNEER QR
(DIARERGDEZRFPBEIAE
MEMUWEYELERREE (DNIARE
RETBBTMWELG]) - R ZE—+
FER-_ZE—RFZA=+—8 £X&£E
A YU 78 B AT IE11,514,000/8
T WERBEFERERRERNTIAR
BT R EITIRIA B 2R EEIBAEE
4,817,0005 7T °

FERA-BEEABRERQR ([EX
A—DEZRPBETILEEREEY
¥unEEA ([ERK—HEE]) K=
T—+FR-E-RNFZR=+—8"
ANEE A FE YU R KX —3X7816,836,000
B WERBEFEERRENER
AN—I8 B 2R EE 18 4 %516,836,0007%

JC o
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17.

18.

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

The Group’s shareholdings in the associates all comprise equity
shares held by the Company.

The Group has discontinued the recognition of its share of losses of
an associate, Champ Wisdom Limited, because the share of losses
of the associate exceeded the Group’s interest in the associate.
The amounts of the Group’s unrecognised share of losses of this
associate for the current year and cumulatively were HK$25,000
(2016: HK$64,000) and HK$6,486,000 (2016: HK$6,461,000),
respectively.

AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENT

156 Richly Field China Development Limited

17. REEE N B2 R (&)

REEBRBE QR ZBEHRARF
FAZm iy

AREFEDR EERENRBZ QA TE
ERRABIZEER RABEMRZES
NAIZBIEDBBASEEZBE R
AZEm - AFEARNER S KERE
HZEE AR ZBERREFES 5
£25,000/8 7L (—F — 754 164,000
7T ) 56,486,000/ T (=& — X
% :6,461,000/87T) °

18. IHHERE

2017 2016
= A
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Unlisted equity investment, ELETRAEIRE - R AIRRE
at cost less impairment 2,724 2,724

Unlisted equity investments comprise equity interests in entities
which are engaged in development of trampoline park business in
the PRC. There is no open market for these investments and the
directors of the Company consider that the marketability of the
Group’s shareholdings in these investments is low. In light of the
non-controlling shareholdings held by the Group, the probabilities
of the range of possible fair values of these investments cannot be
reliably assessed. These investments are therefore stated at cost
less impairment.

FEMERERECBRETELEFEFER
BRAEXRBcERBZBRAER &
FREAERFAMS ARAESFR
REARERZEREZREZEREE
NEBE -ERAKEFE 2 FFERR
B ZEREZARRFEREZA
EREEZAEAE FHi - ZFKRE
R AR BB S B o
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F

‘| 4

19. GOODWILL 19. &
2017 2016
—E—tF —E-RF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T
Cost: PN
At beginning of the year RF ) 120,085 125,786
Effect of foreign currency INETE N ZRR B
exchange differences (7,375) (5,701)
At end of the year MER 112,710 120,085
Accumulated impairment losses: RETBERE:
At beginning of the year REH] - -
Impairment loss BEEE - -
At end of the year RER = -
Net carrying amount IR FE 112,710 120,085

Impairment testing of goodwill

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is allocated to
the cash-generating unit of Qinhuangdao Project for impairment

testing:

The recoverable amount of the cash generating unit has been
determined based on value-in-use calculation using cash flow
projections based on financial budgets covering project life of a five-
year period approved by board of directors at a pre-tax discount
rate of 7.5% (2016: 7.5%). Cash flows beyond the five-year period

are extrapolated using the estimated growth rate of 3%.

g EET ZRERNR

BEREBEHBAZAECOEERE
SEBZRSELEM ETRER

A

ReEEBEM 2 RESEREER
RenEEANFEZFEFREBEETE M
ReREBADBRELCESS R 2E
BEFHAFHYEBEE AR EX
75% (T —RFE:75% )kt -BER
FHZRESREFEA R B RERH

Ho
Ea
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BHE—

19.

20.

—tFZAZT-HALEFE

GOODWILL (continued)
Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)

The following describes the key assumptions on which
management has based its cash flow projections to undertake
impairment testing of goodwiill:

Discount rates — The discount rate used are before tax and reflects
specific risk relating to the cash generating unit.

Budgeted selling price and construction costs — The basis used
to determine the budgeted selling prices and construction costs
is based on the latest market information and expected market
trends.

The values assigned to the key assumptions on discount rates and
budgeted gross margins are consistent with external information
sources.

-
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19. B & (®)

HEHEETZRENR (&)
Tt BB EREEETRENR
MEHIRERETERNTKRENDEZER
=5
WTHEE-FHEBZHABEBHRB AL
RIS ELEEM BB ERRE -

BEEERERKA-RARBEERE
’%f"i&% AR BEETI A KI5
EREERTESBE RIRE-

FRERBEENETZETZRIHBE
B2 HM R E B AR — B

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT 20. EEWME
2017 2016
—E—+tF —E—RF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FEx T
Properties under development EEME 934,896 939,848
Properties under development expected EEYETEER
to be completed within normal EREEEATEN:
operating cycle:
Within one year —FR 261,898 691,854
After one year —F1& 672,998 247,994
934,896 939,848

At 31 March 2017, the Group’s properties under development
with an aggregate carrying amount of HK$20,556,000 (2016:
HK$25,435,000) were pledged to secure for certain bank and other
loans of the Group (note 29).

R_E—+HF=ZA=+—H AEH
48R | E 520,556,000 T (=&
— N 125,435,000 L) 2 ERE Y
¥EEAAEEERAETRITREM
Bz g (ksE29) o
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21.

22.

COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALES 21. S{EHENR T WX
2017 2016
—E—tF —E—RF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx T
Completed properties held for sales FEH SRR T 431,547 404,729
During the year ended 31 March 2017, a write-down to net REBEE_ZT—+F=-A=+—HILFE -
realisable value of HK$26,808,000 (2016: Nil) was recognised. At B FE SR MUR 2= 7] 2 3R )5 {526,808,0007%5
31 March 2017, the Group’s completed properties held for sales T(ZE—RF \&) RZTE—tF=A
with an aggregate carrying amount of HK$59,183,000 (2016: =+—H - AEEBIRAE /59,183,000
HK$43,350,000) were pledged to secure for certain bank and other BT (ZZ— 734 148,350,000 T) 2
loans of the Group (note 29). BERENRIMECIERASEER
ATFRITREMER 2 EF (HizE29)
INVENTORIES 22. 78
2017 2016
—E—tF ZE—RF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FEx FH&IT
Finished goods — fashion wears and BURK G — R 2 K i A
accessories - -

The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as an expense
and included in profit or loss is as follows:

RRAELL BRI FESES
mT

2017 2016

—E—tF ZE-RF

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FEx FHET

Carrying amount of inventories sold EEFEZRHEE 1,639 6,670
Reversal of write-down of inventories MR FERD (1,639) (2,530)
- 4,140

The reversal of write down of inventories arose due to an increase in
the estimated net realisable value of certain products as a result of
change in market condition and sales of certain products which had
been written down to net realisable value in prior years.

FERAEE R E FER AT TR
RFEATREDTEMBLHEETR
B MO S T R Y AR -



A R B S S

160 Richly Field China Development Limited ~ Annual Report 2017

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Bl Fs ¥R = M 5

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE-ZT—+tF=A=+—HILFE

23. TRADE RECEIVABLES 23. EWERX
2017 2016
—E—tF —TRF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Rental receivables FEWE & 960 1,005
Rental recognised using the FRESFZEHERZES
straight-line method 22,183 12,410
Total @5t 23,143 13,415
The Group does not hold any collateral over its trade receivables. N6 [ 3 4 Bt EL R UBR SRS B (R AR
DElD o
An aged analysis of the rental receivables as at the end of the RIEHRRZERASIEEZAHZE
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows: BROHTINT
2017 2016
—E—+F —E—RF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FET
Within one year —F R 184 234
More than one year —F LAk 776 771

960 1,005
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HE-TtF=A=T—HLFE

23. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)
Trade receivables that is not impaired

The ageing analysis of trade receivables that are neither individually
nor collectively considered to be impaired are as follows:

“ER-LFFR HATHESEERAR 161

. EWERR (&)

3 58 L 1B 2 FE W R K
5] . S B8 10 = 49 R AR B R 1B 2 1B MR
RIER AT -

2017 2016

—E—tHF —E—RF

HK$’000 HK$000

FEx FHT

Neither past due nor impaired 3 48 180 B KRB 175 179

Past due but not impaired B EE RRE

Less than 1 month past due B ER DR —1{E A - 14

1 to 3 months past due wEH—==1E A - 4
More than 3 months but less than EHBEA=RABIRT @A

12 months past due 9 37

More than 12 months past due aHA+ @A L 776 771

785 826

960 1,005

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a
wide range of customers for whom there was no recent history
of default. Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate
to a number of independent customers that have a good track
record with the Group. Based on past experience, management
believes that no impairment allowance is necessary in respect of
these balances as there has not been a significant change in credit
quality and the balances are still considered fully recoverable. No
impairment on trade receivables had been recognised as at 31
March 2017 (2016: nil).

b 4% 360 2 KR8 2 e MR IR B % 2 4 B
WERNLHE TP ER - BHERR
BEZRKFBERZZBIEFPAR %
ERPRAKE ZBENRCER M-
RIEBELR ERERR ANEEE
EWEEAEE)  BERKIRRR/TEH
Yml - %S e BRI ERE -1
“EF=A=+—R UEREKE
REERRE (ZF—NF ) -

y

_4
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-

24. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 24. A FIE -ZERHEMBEWS
RECEIVABLES b |
2017 2016
—E—tF ZE-RF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FEx FET
Other receivables H At & WK IR 27,342 24,638
Less: impairment recognised during B FRNBERRE
the year (4,343) -
22,999 24,638
Prepayments TR RIE 18,546 93,762
Deposits Bme 2,738 2,276
Prepaid land lease payments (note 16) A A E R (FEE16) 28,061 29,905
72,344 150,581
The movement of impairment of other receivables is as follows: EfhEW IR 2R EEE AT
2017 2016
—E—+tF ZE—RF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FERT FHET
At beginning of the year REH] - -
Impairment recognised during the year FALERRE 4,343 -
At end of the year RER 4,343 -

AEEBHEMEWRRERBREALEG A
4,343,000/ 70 (ZF—RF &) 2 @57
B2 E A RIS - A B I & 5L A%
ERHBFAETMEER - ERREZE
WHEFTEHERTBEREZEBAS
B - NN - BRI B E5184,343,0007%
T(ZE—RF E) -

Included in the Group’s other receivables are individually impaired
other receivables with an aggregate balance of HK$4,343,000
(2016: nil) which the Group does not hold any collateral over these
balances. The individually impaired receivables mainly related to
debtors are in financial difficulties. During the year, an impairment
loss of HK$4,343,000 (2016: nil) was recognised.
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25.

26.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

The interest rates on the cash at bank ranged from 0.01% to
0.385% (2016: 0.01% to 0.385%) per annum.

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank balances of
the Group denominated in Renminbi amounted to RMB21,638,000
(equivalent to HK$24,373,000) (2016: RMB33,951,000 (equivalent
to HK$40,745,000)). The RMB is not freely convertible into other
currencies, however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted
to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to
conduct foreign exchange business.

TRADE PAYABLES

An aged analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

25.

26.

RekReEEHm

RITE S 2 FMENT0.01%20.385%
(ZZ—7RF:0.01%%0.385% ) °

R|EBR AEBUARBINEZIR
& MERITHE B B A R EE21,638,0007T (48
B 124,373,000 L) (ZZE—7RF: A
R #33,951,0007T (18 & 740,745,000
BL) )  ANRETHARLBAEME
R {BARER AR B it 2 SN B R AR R A
- EERNEEERT ~AEERES
BRI EINERETE L RITIEARE R
BMAEHEME .

FE& 14 R 3K

NEZAHR/EE  BAKRFINBER
ZHREBE DTN

2017 2016

—E—+F ZE—RF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FExT FAET

Within one year —FR 23,115 242 418
One to two years —EWF 197,221 1,580
Over two years BN F 18,324 20,178
238,660 264,176

The Group has financial risk management policies to ensure that all
payables are settled within the credit time frame.

AREEE T HIRT B 7% e B IR R A RE AR
PrA RN IR NEERRAEHE -
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27. RECEIPTS IN ADVANCE, OTHER PAYABLES 27. ARFE HMUEMARIERE

AND ACCRUALS TEH
2017 2016
—E—+tF ZE—RF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
P FERT FHET
Receipts in advance FE Y TR E (@) 253,156 185,539
Deposits received from the pre-sale of ~FBEWE 2 2 WiZE
properties (@) 89,079 139,289
Other deposits received Htheizs 13,353 4,603
Other payables H b < FOE 244,055 311,367
Deferred income RIEYA (b) 419,806 447,281
Accruals FEET & A 16,616 8,103
1,036,065 1,096,182
Notes: B 5
(@  As at 31 March 2017, the Group received deposits and receipts in @ WZZE—+tF=-A=+—H £&
advance from the pre-sale of properties in aggregate of HK$342,235,000 Wk BB EWME 2 Ee RIBWFIR
(2016: HK$324,828,000). 4 ££342,235,0008 T (=& — /N F:

324,828,000/ 7T ) °

(o)  Balance represented government subsidies of HK$419,806,000 (b) HEHBUWIRETILEREESREMEK
(2016: HK$447,281,000) received from the Finance Bureau of Changli &b 2 8T %5 8h419,806,0008 7T (= F
County, Qinhuangdao, Hebei Province to finance the development of — N 447,281,000 L) BEES
the Qinhuangdao Project. As the Qinhuangdao Project was still in the HERRBEE HREZE285HE NER

development stage, the amount received remained to be amortised. P ER - WER 2 SRIED G T LA S
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28. AMOUNTS DUE TO RELATED PARTIES 28. FEFBEEH KB
2017 2016
—E—+tF ZE—RF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FExT FHET
JeShing Real Estate Group PREEREEEERAA
Company Limited (“JeShing”) ([&RBX]) @), (), (©) 358,623 486,843
AR -3 YR Sy SN Y/NC] AR 33 YR S P SN Y/NC] (b) 15,087 14,761
HARE—BEEIREEABRAR ARE—EZETIREH
BRATA (b) 216,959 21,243

HMEIREEELB(LE) HMEIREERELZB(LE)

BRAA] (REE) ERQA ([4E]) (d) 751 2,521

EAREARBREEEEBRAA EAREABRBREEEE

BRATA (d) 79 -

HRSRERREMGEEER HARTRERREMS

BRATF REERARRAA ©) 347,494 -

Total HEt 938,993 525,368

Current portion BN ERER 75 (392,134) (299,550)

Non-current portion JEBNERER 7 546,859 225,818

Notes: B 5 -

@  On 22 April 2014, JeShing entered into a loan agreement with the Group, @ RKRIZZT—EHFOAZ-+-H BB
pursuant to which JeShing granted a loan facility of RMB300,000,000 XMAEBMITLERGZE Bt 8
(equivalent to HK$337,920,000) for a term of 3 years. On 30 March B ¥R ERFE ARK300,000,000
2017, such loan facility was renewed with an increase in the loan facility 7t (48 & 7337,920,000/8 7T ) * AHI =
to RMB400,000,000 for a term of 3 years. The balance is unsecured F R -_TE—+FZA=TH BBE
and interest bearing at 5% per annum. Mr. Wang Hua, a substantial FRELCEE BEXBEENEARE
shareholder of the Group, is also the substantial shareholder of JeShing. 400,000,0007T ' AEI=F - &tk BEER

A RIRFFRE%:T S - REEE BN
FTEEENREREXNTIERE-

As at 31 March 2017, HK$235,272,000 (2016: HK$242,209,000) was R-B—+F=A=+—8B A£ED
utiised by the Group. #) 235,272,000 7L (Z T — N F:
242,209,000/ 7T) °
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28. AMOUNTS DUE TO RELATED PARTIES

(continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b)

During the year, an entrusted loan agreement was entered into among
TEEEMM AL AR AR (as the entrusting party), JeShing (as the
entrusting party), MRE —EZETRERBAFRAF (as the entrusting
party), a lending bank (as the entrusted party and the lender) and the
Group (as the borrower). Pursuant to the entrusted loan agreement, a
loan of RMB301,800,000 (equivalent to HK$339,948,000) was provided
to the Group for a period of 12 months. Mr. Wang Hua, a substantial
shareholder of the Group, is also the substantial shareholder of the
entrusting parties except for the lending bank.

The balance is secured by the Group’s leasehold land in Qinhuangdao,
interest bears 6.6% per annum and repayable within 1 year.

Included in the amount due to JeShing of HK$1,320,000 is unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.

Amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. Mr.
Huang Ha, a substantial shareholder, is a key management personnel or
substantial shareholder of the Company.

On 30 November 2016, IR BEBERET SELEBRERA
7] entered into a loan agreement with the Group, pursuant to which
MREEREBRREMSEEERAR AR ganted a loan facility of
RMB300,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$337,920,000) for
a term of 3 years. The balance is secured by certain of the Group’s
leasehold land and interest bearing ranged from 8.5% to 9.5% per
annum. Mr. Wang Hua, a substantial shareholder of the Group, is also the
substantial shareholder of I R @ B EIBEREMSELERERAAF.

28. ETREES FIE (@)

BaE: ()

(0)

FROIHEHTHERIF (EAZ
) 2BREX(FRAZREN) MR
FRETREEARAR (EREFT
) ERRT (ERRERT REX
AN)EARERE (EREFAN)FTLERE
R -REBEZFEERME —EAR
#301,800,0007T (#H & #339,948,000
B CERERETAEE B2
BA-AEEEZRREELENR
Zat (ERRITRIN 2 E2RER -

EHRABASERRESZHEE LM
- FEFIR6.6%T B RAR—FAE

FE & B B FIAH $1,320,000%8 7T
BEEKE 2 ERIREREE-

REREEE RERREREE X
BREEHuang Halt A AR R B EE2E
BABREERRE-

RZB-RE+—A=1+B BREH
BRREMSEEEEGRAREAE
BRI B B BREBEER
REMHEEERERDARBARE
300,000,0007T (48 £ 7 47337,920,000
BT ZER RBA=F - BHrh A EE
ETHE L ERRRIZN F8.5%E
9.5%Z FHEEF B - AEFBETERRE
ERENAAREEBERREMSEE
ERERARNEZRR-
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29. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 290. sFERITREMER
BORROWINGS
2017 2016
—E-tE —E-RF
Contractual Contractual
interest rate HK$'000 interest rate HK$'000
ENFE TET BHF= FAL
Current B
Bank loans - secured BT HHE 5.2%-11.96% 112,640 5.2%-12.0% 1,297,330
Bank loans - unsecured RITER—RER 6% 20,275 6% 21,602
Other loans - secured HipER-BHEA 10%-11% 33,792 - -
Other loans - unsecured A ER—EEA 6.4% 3,154 5.5%-6.4% 3,360
169,861 1,322,292
Non-current FEBNER
Bank loans — secured BT - HHA 11.96% 450,560 - -
Other loans - secured HeEH-FHA 10%-11% 304,128 - -
754,688 -
Analysed into: BUTERI DA
Bank loans repayable: BEEBRITER:
Within one year —FR 132,915 1,318,932
In the second year -k 450,560 -
583,475 1,318,932
Other loans repayable: BEEEMER:
Within one year —%R 36,946 -
In the second year E k3 33,792 -
In the third to fifth years EZEFRF 270,336 3,360
341,074 3,360

Y
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29. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (continued)

Certain bank loans of the Group are secured by certain assets of

20. sTEHRITREMMBER (&)

AEFBETROTEFAAEEE TR

the Group with net carrying amounts as listed below: HFENT EERMT:
2017 2016
—E—+tF —E-REF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FEx FHET
Investment properties HEME 495,857 109,688
Prepaid land lease payments AN THBEER 828,533 973,515
Properties under development EEME 20,556 25,435
Completed properties held for sales FEHERN R T 59,183 43,350
1,404,129 1,151,088

Notes: B 5

@ The Group’s banking facilities amounting to HK$924,549,000 (2016:
HK$360,036,000), of which HK$924,549,000 (2016: HK$157,216,000)
had been utilised as at 31 March 2017.

(b) As at 31 March 2017, the Group’s bank facilities were further secured by:

o the Group’s entire equity interest in Hunan Richly Field;

o a corporate guarantee executed by JeShing;

o a personal guarantee executed by Mr. Wang; and

o A corporate guarantee executed by IR & EBEBEREMHL

EEAR AT, a company which Mr. Wang is a substantial
shareholder.

(@ AEBERITRLES24,549,000% T
(== — 7% :360,036,000/ 7T ) °
HPFER-_ZE—+tHE=ZA=1+—8H
B) F§924,549,0008 7T (=& — /X F:
157,216,000/ 7T ) °

) RZFE—tF=A=+—H Xx&EHZ
RITRLE AT IR — PR

. AREB PR B2 AR
. ERBERITZARER:
. TREBTZEAER: &
. ARERERRETSEEEE

BRAFB (EREREIERR)
[B1T 2 RBHER -
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30. CONVERTIBLE NOTES PAYABLE 30. ERTHRRERE

On 30 October 2015, the Company, Mr. He Dazhao (“Mr He”), a R-_E—RAFEF+A=+8B A a-

former substantial shareholder of the Company (the “Subscriber”) ARNBRHEEZREMABLE A ([7

and Mr. Wang (a substantial shareholder of the Company) (the SE]) (IRBADRELRE (XD

“Guarantor”) entered into the agreement in relation to the issue of AIEERE) ([ERAD)FHET $

the convertible note in the principal amount of HK$130,000,000 & %8 /130, OOO 0008 TR EEBE X

with 7% coupon rate. The whole or part of the convertible note shall 7% T% 2 AT BMREBF LE 25

be redeemed by the Company in stages with a final maturity date % EH o —J ?ﬁ‘ i3 ﬁ% FE B Zli NS

on 30 April 2016 (the “Initial Maturity Date”) (or such other date as 5 B8 (A 'J HAAZZT—RFH

the Company and the Subscriber agree in writing). H —1— =] ( W)]ﬁ 58 8 | ) (AR
HRABAZEBE2BAEBAELMA

,ﬁﬂ ) o

The whole or part of the Convertible Note shall be redeemed by the ZEN B URKREE S HAR QG IR

Company at the time scheduled below: IR EE

Relevant redemption date Amount to be redeemed

EEER A H KEESE

On or before 30 December 2015 HK$30,000,000 (which consists of payment of all accrued interest up to the
relevant redemption date, and the balance for partial redemption of the principal
amount of the convertible note)

R-ZE—RFE+_A=+H3K 30,000,000 T (BIEEEEHEBER B A RFIEMNZ URE D ER

P AR RIBE AR R 850
On or before 31 January 2016 HK$35,000,000 (which consists of payment of all accrued interest up to the

relevant redemption date, and the balance for partial redemption of the principal
amount of the convertible note)

R-E—RFE-A=1+—H3 35,000,000 T (BHEEEZABEE B Z A B HEMK AR D ER

P AR RIBE AR R 850
On or before 29 February 2016 HK$35,000,000 (which consists of payment of all accrued interest up to the

relevant redemption date, and the balance for partial redemption of the principal
amount of the convertible note)

RZE—R"F_A=Z+NH%K 35,000,000 7T (BHEEEZABEE B Z A B A EMK AL D ER

P AR RIBE AR R R 50

On or before the maturity date The remaining principal amount outstanding together with all accrued and unpaid
(i.e. 30 April 2016)

MEIE A AEER T HERTEIER PIA B MRS HE

(I —FT—RFEA=1TRH)%K
Z Al
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30. CONVERTIBLE NOTES PAYABLE (continued) 30. EN AR EE (&)

In the event that the Company defaults in redemption on the
relevant redemption date or events of default occurs, the
Subscriber will have the right to convert the whole or part of the
principal amount of the convertible note into conversion shares up
to a maximum of 1,300,000,000 shares, and any remaining balance
of the convertible note will be redeemed by the Company.

The convertible note in the principal amount of HK$130,000,000
was issued by the Company to the Subscriber on 13 November
2015.

The movement of the carrying amount of the convertible notes for
the year ended 31 March 2016 was set out below:

AR RIRGEN BRIE R A BB B =X
WMERENEH RBEABBERLY
BRBE 2B RS HEER A
£ %1,300,000,0000% f& 15 - B 7] #
BEEZ2FRNBBEEEARARER -

ARARIR-_E—RHE+—A+=HRA
BB AEITASE A130,000,0008
T2 AR = e

HE-_T—R"F=-A=1+T—"H1LFE
ZABMBRERRZREE ZEHET|
T

Liability

component

=N g

HK$’000

FET

As at 1 April 2015 RZZE—RFMA—H -
Issued during the year FRNEETT 130,000
Effective interest charged during the year FAWE Z BEBREFE 2,710
As at 31 March 2016 R-ZZB-XRF=ZA=+-—H 132,710

The fair value of the liability component of the convertible notes
was calculated using cash flows discounted at a rate based on the
effective interest rate of 7%. Upon initial recognition, the fair value of
liability component of the convertible notes is HK$130,000,000 and
attributing to the equity component the residual amount of nil.

During the year ended 31 March 2016, the Company had
breached the terms of the convertible note by failing to pay the first
redemption amount in accordance with the redemption schedule
under the convertible note. No conversion of convertible notes had
been made by Mr. He during the year ended 31 March 2016 and
up to the Initial Maturity Date.

THRBREBEAEIS D 2 A FETFEA
BREEEFME7TRHBE 2R REF
Ho¥pERE JEREEZAEG
2B 2 AF{EAE130,000,000% 5T
MEMEZBI 2HBAHT -

RBE-_Z-A"FZA=1t—HL*F
B ARABCEARERBETRRER
BTZ2BORBRIXNEZEBEER
MERABBEREZGR - REEZ
T-R"EZA=TBLHFEEREE
Y148 B B B - {7 5t A 3 M 8 R A A A

BERRE-
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30. CONVERTIBLE NOTES PAYABLE (continued) ENTBRRES (8

The Group had not redeemed any of the convertible note up to
the Initial Maturity Date. On 13 January 2017, the Group and Mr.
He entered into a deed of amendment to extend the maturity
date to 31 March 2017 (the “Revised Maturity Date”) and limit a
fixed period of time for conversion between 1 April 2017 to 31
December 2017 in the event that any outstanding principal amount
of the convertible note is not redeemed by the Company as at 31
March 2017. As at 31 March 2017, convertible note with principal
amount and accrued interest of HK$110,863,000 remained
outstanding.

The amendment of the terms of the convertible note had been
accounted for as a continuation of the original convertible note. The
movement of the carrying amount of the convertible note for the
year ended 31 March 2017 was set out below:

BEEVRYEBE ANEEYEEBERE
MaBBEEE- R _Z—+tF— A
+T=B AEBERMELEFLIERTHR
BALRIHBHEE-_ZT—LF=A
—t+—H([&KETHEA]) T
R-ZZE—+F=ZA=+—8 E@da
BREBCHAEERNSE R RER
AEERZBERAT BERSEERE
RZE—tEtFOA—HBE-_ZT—tF
+ZA=+t—BZETHER B
T—t+tF=-HA=+T—H reBEKE
5 H B A&110,863,000/% T 2 a] #2 Ik
SEBEHREE-

ABRREGER ZEFTTCIIERA &
REBZEE-BHE_ZT—+F=A
St HALEFEZARRRRZRE
BEzE8EIMT

Liability

component

=R

HK$000

FET

As at 1 April 2016 RZE—RFNA—H 132,710
Repayment during the year FNEN (30,000)
Effective interest charged during the year FAKEZ EBRFE 8,153
As at 31 March 2017 R-ZZ—+F=HA=+—H 110,863
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31. PROVISION

31. B

2017 2016

—E—+tF —E—RF

HK$’000 HK$ 000

FHET FHET

At beginning of the year REA] 8,886 6,193
(Reversal) provision during the year N (BE),BE (1,348) 3,225
Provisions utilised during the year FANDEA 2 EE - (148)
Exchange realignment P& 5 FE & (503) (384)
At end of the year REFR 7,035 8,886

1

From 2011 and 2012, the Group entered into a number of
lease agreements (the “Tenancy Agreements”) with its tenants
in relation to the lease of certain shop premises developed
under the Changsha Project. Pursuant to certain Tenancy
Agreements, the shop premises shall be ready for lease
during the period from August 2011 to May 2012.

During the year ended 31 March 2012, the PRC government
launched a series of adjustment measures and policies
to control the property market. These regulatory control
measures and policies caused the slowdown in the presale
of the properties under development of the Changsha
Project, which in turn added pressure on the Group’s capital
requirement and further resulted in the slowdown in the
construction progress of the Changsha Project. As the results
of the pre-sale of the properties under development of the
Changsha Project were below the expectation of the Group,
during the year ended 31 March 2012, the Group made
certain adjustments to the original design of the Changsha
Project, which included among others, adjustments to
the floor design of a certain residential portion, and the
allocation of the floor area among the residential portion,
the commercial portion and the facilities, to meet the local
demand. These adjustments, which required the approval
from the relevant local government authorities, also affected
the construction progress of the Changsha Project. As the
construction of the Changsha Project was behind the original
schedule, during the year ended 31 March 2012, the Group
was not able to deliver the shop premises to a number of
tenants according to the agreed timetable set out in the
Tenancy Agreements. Pursuant to the Tenancy Agreements,
the tenants could terminate the agreements and/or claim
against the Group for the delay in the delivery of the shop
premises on the basis of loss incurred or the number of days
delayed.

BE-E——FRkZF—ZF K
SEHEMEPHREPEEERETE
BERzETHU2MAET Y2 E
HERZ([HERZE]) - BIE
ETHERH BEBSUARS
T——FENAET—Z_FHA
MR HEEE -

REE-_T——F=A=+—8H
WEFE FEBFEL T — 75
B 5 2 8 i N BUSR DA I B i
MH o b FHRE R R K EK
ROPEECEEMECTBENRE
BREBESTIIEREH I #E
—SEYRDPEENIREEN
E-RARERVPEEEREYEZTE
ERBEERRAEETER RE=
2 _FZF=Z+—HIHF
E AEEHERPEEZRE
RETEHE THE EhiE-
FAEETEEBO>NFLERE
NEFERD BEHDD REHE
JEEAEENEE  NOE6E
HWEK - BEEAERTEZHAEEN
BT E 2 RDPIAE
MIREE BHREDPEEIRE
ERRRIIFBHEEXR REE=F
——F=ZA=Z+—HILFEE &K
SEEEIZEEREME W
EREERMZABEP RN -
REBEERZ HPAURTERR
AL M AR IE e &SR AT E
EZERSERHEMAEE
RBEHER-
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31. PROVISION (continued)

(1)

(continued)

The Group has been in discussions with the tenants regarding
the delay in the delivery of the shop premises. Some of
the tenants have terminated the Tenancy Agreements
with the Group with the initial deposits being refunded by
the Group. For those tenants who are wiling to continue
their leases, the Group has been in discussions with them
regarding the revised terms of agreements by offering them
certain discounts on the leasing fees or a rent-free period
as compensation for the delay. As at the date of these
financial statements, the Group has not received any claims
for compensation from its tenants against the Group, and
no estimation can be made on the amount of this potential
compensation. With respect to the terms of the Tenancy
Agreements, a reversal of provision of RMB1,159,000
(equivalent to HK$1,348,000) (2016: Nil) was made due to
certain tenants forfeited their claims upon renewal of tenancy
agreements.

During 2013 and 2014, the Group has signed pre-sale
agreements regarding the sale of residential properties with
buyers. However, the residential properties were failed to
deliver according to the pre-sale agreements. As at the date
of these financial statements, the Group has not received
any claims for compensation for the delay. With respect of
the terms of the pre-sales agreement, no further provision
(2016: RMB2,619,000 (equivalent to HK$3,225,000)) was
recognised during the year ended 31 March 2017.

4
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31. BE @

(1)

(%)
AEEEREERINEMEAR
BN - BoALPERIEER
EECsHEERR MASENR
BURES AEEDHBEE
BEEAEHFBEFPRET HE
ZEFETEN  RE—EHAS
s e MEIERER Z B (E -
RZEMBERERBE AEBT
EWIEHEFPREBABEERASE
ERREPR BEIUHZBEER
BeBEELET -REEHE
BRmME ARETHFREE
HEREHRLOERR BHMD
B AR 1,159,000 (HHZ
®1,348,0008 L) (ZF — X
Fom) o

RZEBE—=ZFR_ZF—NF-
AEBECREETEMERE
FEIAERHE -AM EED
EXABRBEBRI N - NZE
BHRR B AEEWEFIT
BWEAMEERR -REEH
HEZERmME REBEE-_ZT—+
FZAZF+-—BHILEE TE
E—OSHERBE(ZE—XF:
AR®2 619,000 (18 E R
3,225,000 7T) ) °
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32. DEFERRED TAX 32. IEIEF I
The movements in deferred tax liability during the year are as FR - BEEHREBEZ2ZEHUOT
follows:
Deferred tax liability EEHEBEARE

Fair value adjustment
arising on acquisition

WBELEZATFERAE

2017 2016

—E—+tF ZE-RF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHRE T

At beginning of the year NG 8,546 8,991
Exchange realignment P& 3 & (525) (445)
At end of the year NG N 8,021 8,546

33. SHARE CAPITAL 33. R
2017 2016
Ll of -3 ZT-RE

No. of shares Amount No. of shares Amount

REHE tH BRINEE i

HK$’000 HK$'000

TR Tl

Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each f& E{E0.05/% 7T
2 &k
At 1 April and 31 March ROA—AR

=HA=+—H  20,000,000,000 1,000,000  20,000,000,000 1,000,000
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33.

SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

33. BA& (@)

2017 2016
—E—tF —E-RF
No. of shares Amount No. of shares Amount
BA#E kx| BSnEE! k-
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER THT
Issued and fully paid: CERIRABR:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each FREE0.058 T
LiEk
At beginning of the year REA] 11,886,619,070 594,331  8,914,964,303 445,748
Issue of new shares BT
(notes (a) and (b)) (Pt EE) R (o) 1,300,000,000 65,000 2,971,654,767 148,583
At end of the year RER 13,186,619,070 659,331 11,886,619,070 594,331
Note: P 5E -
(@  During the year ended 31 March 2016, the Company allotted and issued @ REE-ZE—XR"FZA=+—HLHF

2,971,654,767 offer shares of HK$0.05 each under the open offer fully
underwritten by the underwriter on the basis of one offer share for every
three existing shares held on the record date (‘Open Offer”) at HK$0.083
per offer share, raising HK$246,647,000 in total before transaction costs

of HK$5,047,000.

Details of the results of Open Offer were set out in the Company’s
announcements dated 21 July 2015 and 10 August 2015, respectively.

(b) During the year ended 31 March 2017, the Company issued (b)
1,300,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each at HK$0.1 per share,
raising HK$130,000,000 with no transaction costs.

All the shares issued rank pari passu with the existing shares in all respects.

B ARBRBENRCHEBHEREAE
“HREBROEE —REERDZE
EHBEEE2EEHEZ A ARAEE ([A
MEE]) RE/R%EERMD.083HE
JC 2 {B A& AL % [ ¥ 172,971,654,76 7%
EREECSE T ZEER N £&
& #£246,647,0007% 7T (H1BR X 5 A AN
5,047,000/ JT AT ) °

PHBELERZFH BN AQTH
HE-_ZT—RAFtA=-t+—HERZZE
—hRFENA+BHZAE-

RBEE-ZT—tF=A=+—RHILHF
E - ARRBAFROAB T Z ERELT
1,300,000,000/% & i% H {80.05/8 7T 2
i@k - %%130,000,0008 7T (&2 5
XA o

BEEBTRONES T EEREGERNZER

LT -

y

_4
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34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME 34. BRETE

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”)
for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations. Eligible participants of the Scheme include any
directors, including independent non-executive directors, and other
employees of the Company, any subsidiary or any invested entity
which the Group holds any equity interest. The Scheme became
effective on 2 November 2009 and, unless otherwise cancelled or
amended, will remain in force for 10 years from that date.

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently
permitted to be granted under the Scheme is an amount equivalent,
upon their exercise, to 10% of the shares of the Company in
issue at any time. The maximum number of shares issuable under
share options to each eligible participant in the Scheme within any
12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares of the Company in
issue at any time. Any further grant of share options in excess of
this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.
All options are settled by physical delivery of shares.

Share options granted to a director or chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or to any of their associates, are
subject to approval in advance by the independent non-executive
directors. In addition, any share options granted to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive director of the
Company, or to any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the
shares of the Company in issue at any time or with an aggregate
value (based on the price of the Company’s shares at the date of
grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period, are
subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a general mesting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 20
business days from the date of offer, upon payment of a nominal
consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise period
of the share options granted is determinable by the directors, and
commences after a vesting period of one to three years and ends
on a date which is not later than the expiry date of the Scheme.

ARm &R BRERE ([ZE))
ABAEBEEREBEMERZAEE
R2BEREHBLREE - L& 2
RERZBEEGEARA  EANE
NGBS Sy SRR O g PO R
REBRZEMNEF (BREBILIEN
TEE)RHEMRE -ZEBE-F
TZNF+-—AZBRER BRIEUH
77 LBUB RETER] - B RIE R
HEZEESHETF-

RiEZE BRERFREMERT
EEREZEZHEBENEETRE
ERRRAREMSHEZE ETRND

10% » 1218 A BE AR T %t
HrBuURERSEEZBERE LA
THROIKRZEMNEB - UARBRIE
MEBZEETRMNI%RBR - LiE—
FEOBARLERBZBREALRR
RE LEBRRIE -FFEBRESN

E mﬁ?ﬂ#ﬂifﬁ%n:@t °

BRYIAQAAESRITHAERIEER
Rk SR BHEABREAS LR
BEULIERITES A M R
FRI2EARMEBEFARAEERRE
RBUFATEEZTRESEMBEA
2 fA] B R A R 18 AR R R) R AT B R
ZEEBITERMZ01% KA BERE
Z2HEBE(REAARRMDNRT LB S
Z BT E ) #B#5,000,000/8 T > &
BEXERERS EBSRERE-

RN AR BB AR AR 3 8 4220
B 3 B DA S R R S S
5 T e R 2 < R L AR 2 4T £
BHREEAT E-E=FREH
BERC RSB 2 BMA KL
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34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 34. BRERTE ()

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the directors,
but may not be less than the highest of (i) the Stock Exchange
closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of offer of the
share options; (i) the average Stock Exchange closing price of the
Company’s shares for the five trading days immediately preceding
the date of offer; and (i) the nominal value of a share.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to
vote at shareholders’ meetings.

The following share options were outstanding under the Scheme

BREZOEERESTEE EAA
EROARB RO NE L BRERSR
EHEBXMABZKHE: (VAR
BABRMNERRLBREEZE B
hERZEEBZAAERFAET
B RiEhmEZ&ESE -

B AR 2 95 7 A48 0 T O AR 8. R
RAE LRS-

RBEE_ZT-—RF=A=+t—HI1

during the year ended 31 March 2016: FE - ZFTEI A AR 8B AR 40

T~
2017 2016
“E-t% ZT-RE

Weighted Weighted
average Number average Number
exercise price of options exercise price of options
mEFH BhRE TS BRE
T8 4] 1B EgE
per share '000 per share ‘000
=1 T’ Fik Fik
At beginning of the year PRER) - - 0.428 7,550
Lapsed during the year KEFRK - - 0.428 (7,550)
At end of the year REXR - - - -
Exercisable at end of the year RERTTE - - - -
No share options were exercised during the year ended 31 March REBEEZETE—-—R"F=ZA=+—HILHF

2016. B -HEBREREITE-

HE-FT+t5R-F-AE=A
+— B 1L 4 [ A 5 A A

No share option was granted during the years ended 31 March
2017 and 2016.

%

e

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had no share Rl NN E 3 A g e B
option outstanding under the Scheme (2016: nil). BZETR(ZE—RF &) -
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35.

36.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to
ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating and healthy capital
ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholders’
value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to
it in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or adjust
the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment
to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made in the
objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during the
years ended 31 March 2017 and 2016.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is debts
divided by equity attributable to owners of the Company. Debts
include interest-bearing bank and other borrowings and convertible
notes payable. Gearing ratios are not presented as the Group had
capital deficiency as at 31 March 2017.

OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS
(@ As lessor

The Group leases its investment properties under operating
lease arrangements, with leases negotiated for terms ranging
from six months to fifteen years. These properties are
expected to generate rental yields of 5.2% (2016: 3.0%) on
an ongoing basis.

Certain of the Group'’s existing operating lease arrangements
are with terms of contingent lease payments and are
calculated based on a percentage of relevant performance of
the tenants, ranging from 5% to 10%, pursuant to the rental
agreements.

35.

36.

EXERE
AEBARER L TERBARRSE
HERTRERRAA L RBRE U
XEAEBREREERTEME-

AEBEZREEARZEHUE R
HEAGRBAUFLAR - AKE AR
ERRRZIKSKBERBEITHRD
NHBSAHEEAEE RBE-T
—tER_E-RF=ZA=+—HL
FEAN UTEBHEAEEZAERE K
REEFIELES-

AEBEMNBEERBAL X (NER
BUARRHEBEARGERR) ERE
K- BBBEFERITREMEE
RENARERE AR ARER =
E-—tHF=-ZAZ+"BHABEXRE
soAMmMAZNEERBEL R

KEHELTH

@@ EARALHEA
AEBREBELEHELHELHEE
"EYE KEHELHFHENK
ZHEBENTFNEAZETREF %
EYMEEBHEEEES.2% (=
E—RNF:3.0%)z2HekzE-

AEEETHAESEHERHER
BARARBERE TREMAE
MEEHEFPFZHEBEEA S L
(N F5%E10% )& -



-

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Bl i ¥R = Ml 5

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE-ZT—+tF=A=+—HILFE

36. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS (continued)

(@)

As lessor (continued)

At 31 March 2017, the Group had total future minimum lease
receivables under non-cancellable operating leases with its

tenants falling due as follows:

i b
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(a)

36. KEHELZH (&)

ERHBEA (B
RZE—+F=A=+—H K
SEERBEETARHEKECEHEE
HTARKERERERSE 25
IR AR T -

2017 2016
—E—+F —E—REF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Within one year —F R 11,183 10,720
In the second to fifth years, inclusive FEFRFT (BRIEHERMT) 36,855 37,793
After five years AFi& 42,196 56,812
90,234 105,325

As lessee (b) #EAEEA

As at 31 March 2017, the Group leases certain of its
office properties and staff quarters under operating lease
arrangements. The leases for the office properties and staff
quarters are negotiated for terms of one to three years (2016:

one to three years).

As at 31 March 2017, the Group had total future minimum
lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases falling

due as follows:

R-—BE—+E=A=+—0 &
EEBEELSRERRRARE
THAEHERBIRS - WA
TYERE TR BEEEHE
Ry HMBA—E=F (ZF—5
F—F=4)o

R-_FE—+E=A=+—H &
SETAHBEEERER T 2K
RKixEBEEREZEE A B0
T

2017 2016

—E—+tF ZE—RF

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FERT T

Within one year —fFR 1,846 1,773
In the second to fifth years inclusive F_EFERF

(BERMEBRFEENRN) 871 2,759

2,717 4,532

.}LV
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37. COMMITMENTS 37. &iE

The Group had the following commitments in respect of property RFEBRR AEEFUTEHEEE

which is under development at the end of the reporting period: I E A
2017 2016
—E—+tHF ZE-RF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT FET
Contracted, but not provided for BET4BEREE 7,796 482,925

38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 38. EFXRZ

(@) In addition to the transactions disclosed elsewhere in () BMAGAEVBHREREMBOBE
the consolidated financial statements, the Group had the RGN AEBRFARABUAT
following material transactions with related parties during the ERBEIRS -

years.
2017 2016
—E—+tHF ZE—RF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
BT FExT T
Related parties: RETT -
Interest expense to JeShing NTeREXZ
FMEFAX (@) 53,326 34,519
Interest expense to T ILEREE MR
TERE MM BB R AR BRATZHERX 1,232 350
Interest expense to NTHRE—BE
MRE—RETIREEFRAA TiEEEERAA
ZHMBRX 2,943 503
Interest expense to FJ R <& 5% B R NHFERERBEERE
REMSEEEEBRAF MK EERER
NAZ M EFX (b) 9,574 -
Interest expense to Green Element ¥ Green Element
Holdings Limited Holdings Limited,Z
FMERZ (b) = 142
Rental income from £4[8 and its PEEJEDSEENc PN
affiliates ZHAEsHA (©) 1,709 1,285
These transactions were conducted on terms and conditions ZERSHGEREFMERE ZBR
mutually agreed between the parties. NG ELT -
Notes: MfsE
@  Included in the balances of imputed interest are HK$40,892,000 (@  FFAEER S 4 240,892,000

B (ZF—/XF 17,392,000
HBIT) °

(2016: HK$17,392,000).
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38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

39.

(a) (continued)

i b
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3B.BEIRS (&)

@ &
Notes: (continued) BisE: (88)
(b)  Mr. Wang Hua, a substantial shareholder of the Group, is also the ) AEEXERETELLENLH
substantial shareholder of the related companies. BRRIZEERE-
©  As at 31 March 2017, the Group had future minimum lease © WKRZZ—+tF=ZA=+—H0'%K
receivables from %£[& in respect of premises under non- SER—FAR—FRERFA
cancellable operating leases falling due within 1 year of BBz DA AGHGEHEE TY
HK$1,709,000 (2016: HK$1,542,000) and after 1 year but within 5 ¥EWLBARRKERERE
years of HK$1,424,000 (2016: HK$2,827,000). Mr. Wang Hua, a 2B A1,709,0008 7T ( —ZT— X
substantial shareholder of the Group is also the key management £ 11,542,000/ 7T ) &.1,424,000
personnel of 448 and its affiliates. BT (ZF — 75 F 1 2,827,00078
T0) c AEBEE BRI FEL AT
ARLEEREBBARIZEEEE
AEB-
(o) Compensation of key management b) XEEFEEEAEZHE
personnel of the Group
2017 2016
—E—+F ZE—RF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FHET
Short term employee benefits RHEERA 3,313 4,073
Post employment benefits BB 12 1R A 42 45
B¥355 4,118
(C) The remuneration of key management personnel is (c) x2EBRAEZME I mAEE

determined by the Group with reference to the performance

of individual and market trends.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

I2EMARBRIBELTE

WL
iE e

30. REHE S 2EMTA

Categories of financial instruments TR I AER
2017 2016
—E—+F —E—RF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THT T T
Financial assets SREE
Loans and receivables BN EWGRIE 74,440 82,345
Available-for-sale investment AN ERE 2,724 2,724
Financial liabilities cREE
Amortised cost B SH R AR 2,473,736 2,556,351

.}LV
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 40. cRIEREEREMIAZR

VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade receivables,
deposits and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents,
trade payables, other payables and accruals, amounts due to
related parties, interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, and
convertible notes payable. Details of the financial instruments are
disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with these
financial instruments include market risk (currency risk, interest rate
risk and other price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies
on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The management
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

(@) Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation
to fixed-rate bank and other borrowings (note 29). The Group
aims at keeping borrowings at variable rates. The Group’s
exposure to changes in market interest rates relates primarily
to the Group’s cash and bank balances and bank loans with
floating interest rates. The Group does not have any interest
rate hedging policy, and will consider hedging significant
interest rate risk should the need arise.

()  Sensitivity analysis
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to
a reasonably possible change in interest rates, with
all other variables held constant, of the Group’s
loss before tax (through the impact on floating rate

P&
AEBTESHMIABERKER
e hHEMEBERE REEREF
B BARR Bt RN KERE
AFEMEMNRET KA G ERTT
REMER AERENABRRER-
TRMIAZHBREMERE - H%
TeRMIAEHEZEARBREMZEAR
(ERRER MEERKEMERR
) FERBREABDETER RE
HZERRZHMREIMT -EHEE
BREEZERR UEREEEX
i IR BUE & E 5 o

(@) FIZEE b2
AEEGRETHEREFETREAM
BEREEAFENERE (T
29) c A BB EIRFENN R4
FER - ANEEFEYE 2 ™5
RERELFEFZHEAARERIEE K
IRITHEB MR ZEFERITER
B o AN EE IR X ¥ 8
BE - WHEREFERZEEH P
EAZHERE -

() BBREDHK
TERBRANEAEANER
B (MBEREMERERST
BOUARKBEBRMAEBERZ
HRE (BBFBMEMER

borrowings). LB o
Increase/(decrease)
in loss before tax
CXEI) =]
i, CR2)
HK$ 000
FHET
2017 —E—+tF
Increase of 100 basis points 91100 & 5 24 676
Decrease of 100 basis points B A 1001E £ 24 (676)
2016 —ET-RF
Increase of 100 basis points 2 I01001E & 24 1,606
Decrease of 100 basis points B A 1001E £ 24 (1,6086)
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Foreign currency risk

The Group’s businesses mainly are carried out in the
Mainland China and all transactions and all major revenue
and cost items are denominated in RMB and the Group has
no material transactional currency exposure. The RMB is not
a freely convertible currency. The PRC Government imposes
controls on the convertibility of RMB into foreign currencies
and in certain cases the remittance of currency out of
Mainland China.

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy. However, management monitors the foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant
foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

Credit risk

(i) Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will
default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial
loss to the Group. The Group has adopted a policy
of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties as
a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss from
defaults.

(i)  The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade
and other receivables. In order to minimise the credit
risk, the management has a credit policy in place and
the exposures to these credit risks are monitored on
an ongoing basis. Credit evaluations of its debtors’
financial position and condition are performed on each
and every major debtor periodically. These evaluations
focus on the debtor’s past history of making payments
when due and current ability to pay, and take into
account information specific to the debtor as well as
pertaining to the economic environment in which the
debtor operates. No credit terms are granted to the
debtors of the Group’s property development business.
Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral from its
debtors.

4
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(c) Credit risk (continued)

(i)  The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the (iii)

counterparties are banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

for their own cash management, including the short term
investment of cash surpluses and the raising of loans to
cover expected cash demands, subject to the parent
company’s board approval. The Group’s policy is to regularly
monitor current and expected liquidity requirements and its
compliance with lending covenants to ensure that it maintains
sufficient amount of cash and adequate committed lines of
funding from major financial institutions to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and longer term.

Management of the Group aims to maintain sufficient
cash and bank balances and available funding through an
adequate amount of committed credit facilities to meet the
Group’s commitments for properties development projects
and other business operations.

The following tables set out the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the Group’s
financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted
cash flows (including interest payments computed using
contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates current at the
end of the reporting period) and the earliest date the Group
can be required to pay.

EFEER TR EEN
MZRIT BWRBERZIE
ERBRER-

(d) Liquidity risk d) RBESRERE
Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible AEBARENKEEERETEHR

TEEEE BRASASKZE
HRELREEEFENEHRS
FBROEAFERARESTSHE
TAEE - AKREZBRREY
EERKEMEHRPESTRE
BTEREH BREREHR
TRRETEEREBIGEHL
AEBER UWENEEHEE
HrReEeFRe

AEEEEBEERFEN IR
e RBTHESK LBEBREED
AEZEEREATAHBAE
T NBEAKEYEEREAR
EEREMEEEE-

TRIEAEE ZBREER TR
EMRZHBRTANHR E£ER
BHNARMBARERE (BREES
WA= RMEF R ARRE
HRERMEFEZFE M)
EAKBEETXNZERAH-
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

F

»

40. cRiEMREEREMIAEZA
N ENE))

(d) Liquidity risk (continued) d) RBESEMR (&)
Total
On demand or undiscounted
less than 1 year 110 2 years 3 to 5 years cash flows ~ Carrying amount
RERS RERRE
-F2R -EME ZELf REAR REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T Tt T T
2017 ZE-tf
Trade payables EFER 238,660 - - 238,660 238,660
Receipts in advance, other payables i‘ﬁqﬁl B EtEAFER
and acoruals e ER 260,671 - - 260,671 260,671
Amounts due to related parties ENEERFE 455,935 276,636 352,952 1,085,523 938,993
Convertible notes payable ENTERER 110,863 - - 110,863 110,863
Interest-bearing bank and qumiEﬂ&m &%
other borrowings 262,848 560,256 297,525 1,120,629 924,549
1,328,977 836,892 650,477 2,816,346 2,473,736
2016 i Syi:3
Trade payables ESS 264,176 - - 264,176 264,176
Receipts in advance, other payables ?ELBZ FE EEMTER
and acoruals EiEA 311,805 - - 311,805 311,805
Amounts due to related parties ERBERZE 301,488 13,436 279,656 504,580 525,368
Convertible notes payable ENTRREE 132,710 - - 132,710 132,710
Interest-bearing bank and FTRRTREMER
other borrowings 1,468,844 381 3,74 1,472,966 1,322,292
2,479,028 13,817 283,397 2,776,237 2,556,351

Y
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41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION M. RATRBRRARFEEB R
AND MOVEMENT OF RESERVES OF THE
COMPANY
Information about the statement of financial position of the KRR RMERR T BRAEXER
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: mr
2017 2016
—E—+tHF ZE—RF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FABT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment W WENR&E 200 258
Interests in subsidiaries NG NG P 2 86,032 179,260
Interests in associates i RN P - 3 - 28,640
Available-for-sale investment Al ERE 2,724 2,724
88,956 210,882
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Prepayments, deposits and A FIE & R E b B UGRIE
other receivables 2,333 2,271
Cash and cash equivalents RekReFER 643 160
2,976 2,431
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBAE
Other payables and accruals EMEAFIERETER 20,865 19,019
Amounts due to subsidiaries FERTHMIE A RIFIE 36,725 8,304
Amount due to a related party JERT B E 5 FUE 1,320 1,320
Receipts in advance FEURFRIE - 28,000
Convertible notes payable FE AT R B4R 110,863 132,710
169,773 189,353
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES REEETFE (166,797) (186,922)
Net (liabilities) assets (BB EETHE (77,841) 23,960
EQUITY e
Issued capital BT A 659,331 594,331
Accumulated losses 2ETEE (737,172) (570,371)

(Capital deficiency) total equity (BB ERAH (77,841) 23,960
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41.

RATMBRARRERB R

AND MOVEMENT OF RESERVES OF THE (&)
COMPANY (continued)
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: KARIFEEZHEZRNT :
Capital Share
Share  Contributed  redemption option Reorganisation Other  Accumulated
premium surplus reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total
RA%EE SRR EREERE BRERE EARE AR 2itER @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
TEL T THL T FiEn T FiEn TEL
At 1 April 2015 RZE-REMA-R 414,063 69,476 109 1,387 287,004 11,988 (1,196,160) (412,143
Loss and total comprehensive rEEEBRIEBREE
loss for the year - - - - - - (246,113) (246,113)
Transfer of share option reserve uponthe ~ REBIRIEE A SR ERERE
expiry of share options - - - (1,387) - - 1,387 -
Issue of shares upon open offer RAREERETRG 98,064 - - - - - - 98,064
Transaction costs atiribute to issue of RARBERTRODEENRFNE
shares on open offer (6,047) - - - - - - (6,047)
Deemed distribution to shareholders BEARTRE - - - - - (5,132) - (5132)
At 31 March 2016 and 1 April 2016 RZZ-"E=A=+-HRk
- EEA-B 507,070 69,476 109 - 287,004 6,856 (1,440,886) (670,371)
Loss and total comprehensive TFEFERZAFELE
loss for the year - - - - - - (231,801) (231,801)
Issue of shares Bk 65,000 - - - - - - 65,000
At 31 March 2017 RZE—t£=f=t-H 572,070 69,476 109 - 287,004 6,856 (1,672,687) (737,172)
EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 42. MEWMEREIE

The Group’s significant events regarding the steps taken by the
directors of the Company to improve the Group’s liquidity and
solvency position after the reporting period were disclosed in note
2.1, “Basis of preparation”.

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative figures on the consolidated statement of
cash flows have been restated to conform with the current year’s
presentation for foreign currency cash flows. In addition, the
comparative figures on note 27 was revised to conform with the
current year’s presentation.

43.

AEBRFEHEEBARARAESRK
BEEREUREAEEZRBES
MEBRRZERETBERENNZE
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Five-Year Financial Summary

hFFlFREE

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-controling A TN ARBE TR 2K EZMERR 2K
interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from SEBA R MM BEE 2 X£EREE &
the published audited financial statements is set out below. BEHFEERERTZ -

RESULTS ¥iE

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=t-HLEE
2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
“E2-tF TR ZT-nf ZET-NF =%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET THT TR

Turnover BT 61,491 95,867 54,096 157,667 27,943
Loss attrioutable to: ITALEEEE:
— Owners of the Company ~KRAREBA (343,575)  (340,209)  (207,565) (199,648) (96,901)
— Non-controlling interests — IR ES - - - - (5,157)

(343575)  (340209)  (207,565) (199,648 (102,058

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEERBE

At 31 March

R=A=+-H
2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
“E—tf TR ZE-hf —T-mF —ZT-=Ff
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FTET THEL THET THT

Total assets BEE 3,254,871 3516,399 3,654,464 2,428,107 1,883,347
Total liabilities FEE=N (3,385,456) 3,491,486  (3,526,264) (2,147,496)  (1,413,420)

(130,585) 24,913 128,200 280,611 469,927

Equity attrioutable to: AN AL
~ Owners of the Company —ARAEBA (130,585) 24,913 128,200 280,611 469,927
- Non-controlling interests — IR - . _ _ _

(130,585) 24,913 128,200 280,611 469,927
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